



This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from Explore Bristol Research, http://research-information.bristol.ac.uk

Author: Poulias, Konstantinos Title: On Diophantine problems involving fractional powers of integers

General rights

Access to the thesis is subject to the Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International Public License. A copy of this may be found at https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/legalcode This license sets out your rights and the restrictions that apply to your access to the thesis so it is important you read this before proceeding.

Take down policy

Some pages of this thesis may have been removed for copyright restrictions prior to having it been deposited in Explore Bristol Research. However, if you have discovered material within the thesis that you consider to be unlawful e.g. breaches of copyright (either yours or that of a third party) or any other law, including but not limited to those relating to patent, trademark, confidentiality, data protection, obscenity, defamation, libel, then please contact collections-metadata@bristol.ac.uk and include the following information in your message:

· Your contact details

Bibliographic details for the item, including a URL

• An outline nature of the complaint

Your claim will be investigated and, where appropriate, the item in question will be removed from public view as soon as possible.

ON DIOPHANTINE PROBLEMS INVOLVING FRACTIONAL POWERS OF INTEGERS



Konstantinos Poulias

A dissertation submitted to the University of Bristol in accordance with the requirements for award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Science

School of Mathematics, NOVEMBER 2020

Abstract

In this thesis we are concerned with Diophantine problems of fractional degree. First we consider diagonal Diophantine inequalities of the shape

$$\left|\lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^{\theta}\right| < \tau,$$

where $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, λ_i are non-zero real numbers not all of the same sign and τ is a positive real number. For such inequalities we obtain an asymptotic formula for the number of positive integer solutions $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_s)$ inside a box of side length P. Moreover, we consider the problem of representing a large positive real number by a positive definite generalised polynomial of degree θ . Our approach follows the Davenport–Heilbronn–Freeman method. A key element in our proof is an essentially optimal mean value estimate for an exponential sum involving fractional powers of integers.

We then turn our attention to systems of simultaneous equations and inequalities. Let λ_i, μ_j be non-zero real numbers not all of the same sign and let a_i, b_k be non-zero integers not all of the same sign. We investigate a mixed Diophantine system of the shape

$$\begin{cases} \left|\lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_{\ell} x_{\ell}^{\theta} + \mu_1 y_1^{\theta} + \dots + \mu_m y_m^{\theta}\right| < \tau \\ a_1 x_1^{d} + \dots a_{\ell} x_{\ell}^{d} + b_1 z_1^{d} + \dots + b_n z_n^{d} = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $d \geq 2$ is an integer, $\theta > d + 1$ is real and non-integral and τ is a positive real number. For such systems we obtain an asymptotic formula for the number of positive integer solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) = (x_1, \ldots, z_n)$ inside a bounded box. Our approach makes use of a two-dimensional version of the classical Hardy–Littlewood circle method and the Davenport–Heilbronn–Freeman method. The proof involves a combination of essentially optimal mean value estimates for the auxiliary exponential sums, together with estimates stemming from the classical Weyl and Weyl–van der Corput inequalities.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Prof. Trevor D. Wooley for taking me on as a student and for the guidance and support during my Ph.D. studies. Moreover, I would like to thank Dr. Kevin Hughes for accepting to serve as a second advisor and for useful discussions and encouragement.

Thanks to Athina Thoma for all the support at the beginning of this journey and for the help when I first moved to Bristol.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother and my brothers for all the support and encouragement over the years.

While working on this thesis the author was supported by a studentship sponsored by a European Research Council Advanced Grant under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme via grant agreement No. 695223.

Author's Declaration

I declare that the work in this dissertation was carried out in accordance with the requirements of the University's Regulations and Code of Practice for Research Degree Programmes and that it has not been submitted for any other academic award. Except where indicated by specific reference in the text, the work is the candidate's own work. Work done in collaboration with, or with the assistance of, others, is indicated as such. Any views expressed in the dissertation are those of the author.

SIGNED: DATE:.....

Contents

1	Intr	troduction								
	1.1	General introduction to the thesis	1							
	1.2	Diagonal Diophantine inequalities	2							
	1.3	Asymptotic lower bounds and asymptotic formulas	5							
	1.4	Diophantine inequalities of fractional degree	8							
	1.5	Systems of Diophantine inequalities	10							
	1.6	A mixed system of an inequality and an equation \ldots	14							
	1.7	Vinogradov's mean value theorem	16							
	1.8	The Davenport–Heilbronn–Freeman method	18							
2	Dioj	phantine inequalities of fractional degree	24							
	2.1	Introduction	24							
	2.2	Set up and overview of the method	30							
	2.3	3 An auxiliary mean value estimate								
	2.4	Minor arcs analysis								
	2.5	Trivial arcs analysis								
	2.6	Major arc analysis and the asymptotic formula								
	2.7	The inhomogeneous case	51							
	2.8	The definite case	53							
	2.9	2.9 A discrete L^2 -restriction estimate								
3	A m	ixed Diophantine system	60							
	3.1	Introduction	60							
	3.2	Set up	64							
		3.2.1 An analytic representation for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$	64							
		3.2.2 A mixed version of the circle method	66							
		3.2.3 An application of Hölder's inequality	68							

Bil	oliog	raphy			122
В	The	e mean '	value estimate for the complete exponential sum		110
A	"Or	thogon	ality " for inequalities		105
	3.7	The as	ymptotic formula	• •	101
		3.6.2	Singular series analysis		100
		3.6.1	Singular integral analysis		92
	3.6	Major	arcs analysis		92
	3.5	Trivial	arcs		91
		3.4.2	Minor arcs: Part 2		86
		3.4.1	Minor arcs: Part 1		79
	3.4	Minor	arcs analysis		79
	3.3	Auxilia	ary mean value estimates		70

List of Tables

1.1	Values of $\mathfrak{F}(k)$ for $3 \le k \le 11$	7
1.2	Values of $\mathfrak{F}(k)$ for $12 \leq k \leq 20$	7
1.3	Values of $\widehat{G}^{\star}(k_1,k_2)$ for $k_1 \in \{3,4,5\}$ and $k_2 \in \{2,3,4\}$	14
1.4	Values of $\widehat{G}^{\star}(k_1,k_2)$ for $k_1\in\{6,7\}$ and $k_2\in\{3,4,5,6\}$	14

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 General introduction to the thesis

As the title suggests, this thesis is concerned with the study of Diophantine problems involving fractional powers of integers. Ignoring for now the adjective *fractional*, let us first explain the term *Diophantine problems*. That is, problems concerning the investigation of existence of integer solutions to equations with integer coefficients. The name comes from the ancient Greek mathematician Diophantus of Alexandria who is the author of *Arithmetica*, the oldest surviving book on the topic of algebraic equations.

Suppose that *s* is a natural number. A specific type of Diophantine equations that has attract a lot of attention is equations of the diagonal shape

$$c_1 x_1^k + \dots + c_s x_s^k = 0, (1.1.1)$$

where c_i are non-zero integers and $k \ge 2$ is a natural number. If one were to replace the integers c_i by some non-zero real numbers λ_i then it makes sense to ask whether the inequality

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^k + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^k| < \epsilon, \tag{1.1.2}$$

possesses a non-trivial solution $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_s) \in \mathbb{Z}^s$ for arbitrarily small values of $\epsilon > 0$. The term non-trivial refers to solutions \mathbf{x} with at least one component $x_i \neq 0$. Note that due to homogeneity the existence of a solution implies that the inequality actually possesses infinitely many integer solutions. The main theme of the present thesis is the study of inequalities of the shape (1.1.2), where now we consider a non-integral exponent θ , namely we study inequalities of the shape

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^{\theta}| < \epsilon, \tag{1.1.3}$$

where $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral. As in the case of equations, one may consider studying systems of inequalities. Here we investigate a mixed system consisting of an equation and an inequality. More specifically, we investigate the simultaneous solubility of equations of the shape (1.1.1) and inequalities of the shape (1.1.3).

Before we close this first section we introduce some pieces of notation that we use in the rest

of this work. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we write e(x) to denote $e^{2\pi ix}$ with $i = \sqrt{-1}$ being the imaginary unit. For a complex number z we write \overline{z} to denote its complex conjugate. For a function $f : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ and for two real numbers m, M, whenever we write

$$\sum_{m < x \le M} f(x)$$

the summation is to be understood over the integers that belong to the interval (m, M].

We make use of the standard symbols of Vinogradov and Landau. Namely, when for two functions f, g there exists a positive real constant C such that $|f(x)| \leq C|g(x)|$ for all sufficiently large x we write f(x) = O(g(x)) or $f(x) \ll g(x)$. We write $f \asymp g$ to denote the relation $g \ll f \ll g$. Furthermore, we write f(x) = o(g(x)) if $f(x)/g(x) \to 0$ as $x \to \infty$ and we write $f \sim g$ if $f(x)/g(x) \to 1$ as $x \to \infty$. For a real number x we shall write $\lceil x \rceil = \min\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : n \geq x\}$ and $\lfloor x \rfloor = \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : n \leq x\}$ to denote the ceiling and the floor function respectively. For two integers a, b we write (a, b) to denote their greatest common divisor. An expression of the shape $m < \mathbf{x} \leq M$ where m < M and $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ is an n-tuple, is to be understood as $m < x_1, \ldots, x_n \leq M$. Similarly, for n tuples $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}$, an inequality of the shape $\mathbf{y} < \mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{z}$ is to be understood as $y_i < x_i \leq z_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$. Finally, and for the sake of clarity, let us declare at this stage that the term *form* refers to a homogeneous polynomial. Moreover, we say that a form is *non-degenerate* if all of its coefficients are non-zero. Recall as well that the term *non-trivial solution* refers to a solution $\mathbf{x} \neq \mathbf{0}$.

1.2 Diagonal Diophantine inequalities

One of the first major results in the study of additive type Diophantine inequalities is due to Davenport and Heilbronn [30]. In this paper it is proven that any real indefinite diagonal quadratic form in 5 variables that is not proportional to a form with integral coefficients, can take arbitrarily small values. Let us make this more concrete.

Theorem 1.2.1 (Davenport and Heilbronn – [30]). Suppose that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_5$ are non-zero real numbers, not all of the same sign, and such that one at least of the ratios λ_i/λ_j is irrational. We write

$$Q(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 x_1^2 + \dots + \lambda_5 x_5^2.$$

Then there exist arbitrarily large integers P such that the inequality

$$|Q(\mathbf{x})| < 1$$

has more than γP^3 solutions with $1 \le x_1, \ldots, x_5 \le P$. Here $\gamma = \gamma(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_5)$ is a positive real constant.

Note here that one may obtain a corresponding result for the inequality $|Q(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$ for any given $\epsilon > 0$ by simple applying the theorem to the quadratic form $\epsilon^{-1}Q(\mathbf{x})$. In order to prove Theorem 1.2.1, Davenport and Heilbronn developed a variant of the classical Hardy–Littlewood circle method. This method, which is now called the Davenport–Heilbronn method, has been since then a fundamental tool in studying the solubility of inequalities.

Let us now say a word behind the motivation in the investigation of Davenport and Heilbronn. In 1884 Meyer [47] proved that any non-degenerate indefinite quadratic form of the shape

$$q(\mathbf{x}) = a_1 x_1^2 + a_2 x_2^2 + a_3 x_3^2 + a_4 x_4^2 + a_5 x_5^2 \in \mathbb{Z}[\mathbf{x}]$$

possesses a non-trivial rational (and hence by clearing the denominators an integral) zero **x**. Note that this is sharp. Consider the quadratic form

$$q(\mathbf{x}) = x_1^2 + x_2^2 - 3(x_3^2 + x_4^2).$$

Using Fermat's method of infinite descent and reducing (mod 3) one can readily see that the equation $q(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ does not admit a non-trivial integer solution. Motivated by Meyer's result, Oppenheim [52] in 1929 conjectured that any real non-degenerate indefinite quadratic form Q in $s \ge 5$ variables which is not proportional to a rational form can take arbitrarily small values. In 1953, in a series of papers [53], [54], [55], Oppenheim made the stronger conjecture that for a quadratic form as above in $s \ge 3$ variables, the set $Q(\mathbb{Z}^s)$ is dense in \mathbb{R} . Oppenheim's conjecture, now a theorem after Margulis's work [46], is usually formulated as follows.

Theorem 1.2.2 (Oppenheim Conjecture–Margulis's Theorem [46]). Let Q be a non-degenerate real indefinite quadratic form in $s \ge 3$ variables, that is not proportional to a form with rational coefficients. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ such that $0 < |Q(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$.

The case of real indefinite diagonal quadratic forms was investigated by Davenport and Heilbronn in [30]. In 1956 Davenport [27] proved that any indefinite real quadratic form can take arbitrarily small values, provided that it can be expressed as a sum of squares of real linear forms that have sufficiently many positive and negative signs. This result was subsequently improved by Davenport [28] in 1958, and by Birch and Davenport [7]. Further improvements were obtained by Davenport and Ridout [33] and Ridout [66]. To give an idea of the spirit of these results, let us describe Ridout's conclusion. Suppose that Q is a real indefinite quadratic form in s variables. Suppose further that after a diagonalization Q can be expressed a sum of squares of real linear forms with r positive signs and s - r negative signs. If $\min(r, s - r) \leq 4$ and $s \geq 21$, then for any $\epsilon > 0$ the inequality $|Q(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$ has a non-trivial integer solution.

Oppenheim's conjecture was finally settled in the affirmative in 1989 by Margulis [46]. Margulis's approach in proving Oppenheim's conjecture makes use of different tools and methods than the previous mentioned works.

As a closing remark on our short discussion about Oppenheim's conjecture, let us say that Margulis's result is the best possible. There exists real indefinite quadratic forms in 2 variables that have no non-trivial integer solutions. Set

$$Q(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 - \alpha^2 x_2^2,$$

where $\alpha = 1 + \sqrt{2}$. Note that the quadratic form we consider is diagonal. Using Liouville's theorem ¹ we can show that there exists a constant C > 0 so that for any pair $(p,q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}$

¹see [44, Theorem 191, \$11.7]; Suppose that α is an irrational that is a root of a polynomial $f \in \mathbb{Z}[x]$ of degree d > 0. Then there exists a real constant C > 0 such that for all pairs $(p, q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}$ one has $|\alpha - p/q| > C/q^d$.

one has

$$\left|\alpha - \frac{p}{q}\right| > \frac{C}{q^2}$$

By changing signs if necessary we may assume that $\frac{x_1}{x_2} > 0$. So by the above inequality one has

$$\frac{C}{x_2^2}\alpha < \left|\alpha - \frac{x_1}{x_2}\right| \cdot \left|\alpha + \frac{x_1}{x_2}\right|,$$

which in turn yields that the inequality $|Q(x_1, x_2)| < \epsilon$ does not admit a non-trivial integer solution for $\epsilon \leq C\alpha$.

We return now to the setting of diagonal inequalities. As we already discussed, Davenport and Heilbronn [30] proved that if λ_i are non-zero real numbers not all of the same sign, and such that at least one of the ratios λ_i/λ_j is irrational, then the inequality

$$\left|\lambda_1 x_1^2 + \dots + \lambda_5 x_5^2\right| < \epsilon$$

possesses a non-trivial solution in positive integers for any $\epsilon > 0$. Moreover, in [30] it is pointed out that using Hua's inequality one may similarly prove (under the same assumptions on λ_i) that if $k \ge 2$ is a fixed integer, then the inequality

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^k + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^k| < \epsilon \tag{1.2.1}$$

possesses a non-trivial solution in positive integers for any $\epsilon > 0$, provided that $s \ge 2^k + 1$. For the details of the proof, the interested reader may look at [78, Chapter 11]. In \$1.8 we shall give a sketch of this argument.

Following the work of Davenport and Heilbronn, various results were obtained concerning diagonal inequalities. In 1955 Davenport and Roth [34] used Vinogradov's estimate for Weyl sums to show that for $k \ge 12$ the inequality (1.2.1) is non-trivially soluble in positive integers provided that $s \ge Ck \log k$, where C is an absolute positive constant. Moreover, in the same paper, it is proven that if M is an arbitrary real number, then for any $\epsilon > 0$ the inequality

$$\left|\lambda_1 x_1^3 + \dots + \lambda_8 x_8^3 + M\right| < \epsilon$$

has infinitely many solutions in positive integers. In fact, Brüdern [14] showed that if there is at least one irrational ratio λ_i/λ_j , then the inequality

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^3 + \dots + \lambda_8 x_8^3| < (\max |x_i|)^{\epsilon - 1/4}$$

has infinitely many integer solutions. Baker, Brüdern and Wooley [3] showed that any diagonal cubic inequality in s = 7 variables that is not proportional to an integral form has infinitely many integer solutions. More precisely, in [3] it is proven if there is at least one irrational ratio λ_i/λ_j , then for any $M \in \mathbb{R}$ the inequality

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^3 + \dots + \lambda_7 x_7^3 - M| < (\max |x_i|)^{-10^{-4}}$$

has infinitely many solutions in integers. Under the extra condition that there is a ratio λ_i/λ_j which is irrational and algebraic, Brüdern [17] replaced the exponent -10^{-4} by -360^{-1} . More-

over, for cubic inequalities Brüdern in [16] investigated the size of the solutions in terms of the coefficients of the form. The main result of [16] says that if $\lambda_i \geq 1$ are real numbers, then for any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^8$ such that the inequalities

$$\left|\lambda_1 x_1^3 + \dots + \lambda_8 x_8^3\right| < 1$$

and

$$0 < \sum_{i=1}^{8} \lambda_i |x_i|^3 \ll (\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_8)^{15/8 + \epsilon}$$

hold simultaneously. This improved previous work of Pitman and Ridout [63] on bounding solutions of cubic equations and inequalities.

Though in the present thesis we do not deal with mixed power inequalities, let us mention here that some results for such a case have been obtained by Brüdern in [13] and [15]. Suppose that $s, k_1, \ldots, k_s \ge 2$ are fixed natural numbers. The main theme of these papers is to show that for specific values of s, k_i and for integral x_i , the values taken by non-degenerate real forms of the shape

$$H(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 x_1^{k_1} + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^{k_s}$$

are dense in \mathbb{R} .

We shall close this section we a few comments on general cubic inequalities. For cubic not necessarily diagonal inequalities we have the work of Pitman [61]. Suppose that $C(\mathbf{x})$ is real cubic form in s variables. Pitman proved in [61] that for any $\epsilon > 0$ the inequality $|C(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$ possesses a non-trivial integer solution provided that $s \ge (1314)^{256} - 1$. This was the first finite lower bound for the number of variables needed to ensure the existence of a non-trivial integral zero for a real cubic form. Pitman's result was significantly improved by Freeman in [37] who showed that any real cubic form is non-trivially soluble in integers, provided that the number of variables s satisfies $s \ge 359, 551, 882$. For general real forms of odd degree, it was proven by Schmidt [67] that given enough variables it is always possible to prove the existence of a non-trivial integer solution. However, Schmidt gives no explicit value for the number of variables needed to ensure solubility. We shall come back to Schmidt's result in \$1.5.

1.3 Asymptotic lower bounds and asymptotic formulas

Suppose that $s, k \ge 2$ are fixed integers. Suppose further that λ_i are fixed non-zero real numbers, such that at least one of the ratios λ_i/λ_j is irrational, and such that, if k is even, then not all have the same sign. We put

$$F(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 x_1^k + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^k.$$

Let P be a large positive real number and let $\tau>0$ be a fixed real number. We denote by N(P) the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|F(\mathbf{x})| < \tau, \tag{1.3.1}$$

with $|\mathbf{x}| \leq P$, where $|\mathbf{x}| = \max_i |x_i|$. There are about P^s possible choices for a tuple \mathbf{x} with $|\mathbf{x}| \leq P$. Moreover, and roughly speaking, an arbitrary tuple \mathbf{x} is a solution of the inequality (1.3.1) with probability P^{-k} . So, heuristically one expects that the number of solutions counted by N(P) is roughly of the order of magnitude P^{s-k} . As we mentioned in the opening of §1.2, when k = 2 and s = 5 Davenport and Heilbronn in [30] showed that there exist arbitrarily large non-trivial integer solutions \mathbf{x} to the inequality (1.3.1). Theorem 1.2.1 guarantees the existence of a sequence of integers $(P_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $P_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$, such that $N(P_n) \gg \gamma P_n^{s-2}$ for some positive real number γ depending at most on λ_i and τ . This asymptotic lower bound is proven to be valid for arbitrarily large values of P and not for all large values of P. In the proof P is restricted to take values from the convergent continued fractions approximation of some irrational ratio λ_i/λ_j .

It becomes apparent from the above discussion that a central problem now is to establish an asymptotic lower bound for the counting function N(P), that is of the correct order of magnitude for all sufficiently large P. This problem was open up until 2000. At this point Freeman [36] finally succeed to remove the previous restriction on the values of P. In [36] was established for the first time an asymptotic lower bound of the shape $N(P) \gg P^{s-k}$ $(P \to \infty)$. We state Freeman's result below.

Theorem 1.3.1 (Freeman – [36]). Suppose that $k \ge 3$ is a fixed integer. Let

$$s_0(k) = \min\left\{2^k + 1, k(\log k + \log \log k + 3) + \frac{\tilde{C}k \log \log k}{\log k}\right\},\$$

where $\widetilde{C} > 0$ is a suitable absolute real constant. Suppose that $s \ge s_0(k)$ is an integer. Then as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$N(P) \gg P^{s-k},$$

where the implicit constant depends at most on k, s, τ and the coefficients λ_i .

A key role in the proof of Theorem 1.3.1 is played by the work of Bentkus and Götze [4] on value distribution of positive definite quadratic forms. Drawing inspiration from some of the methods of [4], Freeman developed further the Davenport–Heilbronn method in order to deliver a lower bound for the counting function N(P) for all sufficiently large values of P. The apparatus introduced in [36] is now known as Freeman's variant of the Davenport–Heilbronn method. We illustrate the main ideas of this method in \$1.8. An asymptotic formula for the counting function was obtained by Freeman in [39]. Building on [36] and introducing appropriate kernel functions, Freeman proved that given $s \geq 2^k + 1$ variables one has as $P \to \infty$ that

$$N(P) = C(s,k;\boldsymbol{\lambda})\tau P^{s-k} + o\left(P^{s-k}\right), \qquad (1.3.2)$$

where $C(s, k; \lambda)$ is a positive real number, which depends at most on k, s and λ_i .

For the inhomogeneous case, Freeman [40] extended the results of [36] in order to deal with additive inequalities of the shape

$$|h(x_1) + \dots + h(x_s) - M| < \epsilon,$$

where h_i are real polynomials in one variable, of degree at most k. Using a diminishing ranges

argument, Freeman proved that the above inequality has infinitely many integer solutions for any given real numbers ϵ , M with $\epsilon > 0$, provided that $s \ge s_0(k)$ where $s_0(k) \sim 4k \log k$. Note that compared to the homogeneous case, here for large k one needs four times more variables. This is due to the presence of the real number M which prevents one from making use of the technology for exponential sums over smooth numbers as in [36].

Back to the homogeneous case now, Freeman's results from [36] and [39] were improved shortly afterwards by Wooley [86]. We write F(k) to denote the least integer s_0 so that whenever $s \ge s_0$ the asymptotic lower bound

$$N(P) \gg C(s,k; \lambda) \tau P^{s-k}$$

holds for all large *P*. As before, $C(s, k; \lambda)$ is a positive real number, which depends at most on k, s and λ_i . In [86] Wooley refined Freeman's approach by using an amplification procedure. In [86, Theorem 2] it is proven that when k is large one has

$$F(k) \le k(\log k + \log \log k + 2 + o(1))$$

while for small values of k one has $F(k) \leq \mathfrak{F}(k)$, where the integer $\mathfrak{F}(k)$ is recorded in the following tables. As far as the author is aware, this is the current state of art in the existing bibliography for the number F(k).

Table 1.1: Values of $\mathfrak{F}(k)$ for $3 \le k \le 11$

k	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
$\mathfrak{F}(k)$	7	12	18	25	33	42	50	59	67

Table 1.2: Values of $\mathfrak{F}(k)$ for $12 \le k \le 20$

1	10	10	1.4	15	1.0	1.77	10	10	20
κ	12	13	14	15	10	11	18	19	20
$\mathfrak{F}(k)$	76	84	92	100	109	117	125	134	142

Let us notice that a possible direction for future research here would be to improve on the values of $\mathfrak{F}(k)$, recorded on the above tables. It seems possible to obtain some improvement by using methods of [93].

In the same work [86, Corollary] Wooley showed that the asymptotic formula (1.3.2) is valid whenever

$$s \ge 2^k \ (k \ge 3), \qquad s \ge \frac{7}{8} 2^k \ (k \ge 6), \qquad s \ge k^2 (\log k + \log \log k + O(1))$$
 when k is large.

Here one can get an improvement by using the latest developments in Vinogradov's mean value theorem due to Wooley [95]. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we put

$$f_k(\alpha) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^k).$$

In [95, Corollary 14.7] it is proven that

$$\int_0^1 \left| f_k(\alpha) \right|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-d},$$

provided that $s \ge s_0$, where

$$s_0 = k^2 - k + 2\lfloor \sqrt{2k+2} \rfloor - \theta(k),$$

with $\theta(k)$ defined via

$$\theta(k) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{when } 2k+2 \ge \lfloor \sqrt{2k+2} \rfloor^2 + \lfloor \sqrt{2k+2} \rfloor, \\ \\ 2, & \text{when } 2k+2 < \lfloor \sqrt{2k+2} \rfloor^2 + \lfloor \sqrt{2k+2} \rfloor. \end{cases}$$

Combining the above estimate with the methods of [21], one may establish (1.3.2) using $s_0 + 1$ variables. This improves the previous results of Wooley for $s \ge 5$.

1.4 Diophantine inequalities of fractional degree

We may now come to describe the first result of this thesis. Instead of a diagonal form of degree $k \ge 2$ we consider a diagonal generalised polynomial of *fractional degree*. More specifically, suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and suppose that s is a positive integer. Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s$ be fixed non-zero real numbers not all of the same sign. Consider the generalised polynomial

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^{\theta}. \tag{1.4.1}$$

Note that in contrast to the previous case, we do not need to assume the existence of an irrational ratio λ_i/λ_j .

Going back to the literature, it seems that the first to consider studying additive problems with non-integral exponents is Segal in the early 1930's. In [69], [70] and [71] (see also [72]), Segal studied Waring's problem with non-integral exponents. Suppose that ν is a positive real number. Segal considered the inequality

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta} - \nu| < \epsilon,$$

with $\theta > 2$ real and non-integral and $0 < \epsilon < \nu^{-c(\theta)/\theta}$, where $0 < c(\theta) < 1$ is a fixed number depending only on θ . For large values of ν Segal showed the existence of a solution $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{N}^s$, provided that we are given $s \ge s_0(\theta)$ variables, where $s_0(\theta) \approx \theta(\lfloor \theta \rfloor + 1)2^{\lfloor \theta \rfloor + 1} + 1$.

Let $\tau > 0$ be a fixed real number. Recall from (1.4.1) the definition of the generalised polynomial $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})$. We write $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| < \tau, \tag{1.4.2}$$

with $1 \leq x_1, \ldots, x_s \leq P$. In Chapter 2 we establish an asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P)$ as $P \to \infty$. Our result reads as follows.

Theorem 1.4.1. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and suppose further that $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$ is a natural number. Then as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P) = 2\tau \Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) P^{s-\theta} + o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right),$$

where

$$\Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \left(\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} C(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) > 0$$

with

$$C(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left(-\sigma_s (\sigma_1 \beta_1 + \dots + \sigma_{s-1} \beta_{s-1}) \right)^{1/\theta - 1} (\beta_1 \cdots \beta_{s-1})^{1/\theta - 1} \mathbf{d}\boldsymbol{\beta},$$

where $d\beta$ here stands for $d\beta_1 \cdots d\beta_{s-1}$, and $\sigma_i = \lambda_i / |\lambda_i|$, and \mathcal{U} denotes the set of points of the box $[0, |\lambda_1|] \times \cdots \times [0, |\lambda_{s-1}|]$, satisfying the condition that

$$-\sigma_s(\sigma_1\beta_1 + \dots + \sigma_{s-1}\beta_{s-1}) \in [0, |\lambda_s|].$$

In particular, the inequality (1.4.2) possesses a non-trivial positive integer solution.

With minor adjustments the method we employ in proving Theorem 1.4.1 allows us to treat also positive definite generalised polynomials of the shape (1.4.1). A well known and extensively studied problem in additive number theory is Waring's problem. Suppose that $k \ge 2$ is a fixed integer. In its most standard form, the problem asks for the least natural number s = s(k)such that every sufficiently large natural N is represented in the shape

$$N = x_1^k + \dots + x_s^k,$$

where x_i are non-negative integers. A real analogue of this problem was studied by Chow in [23] and [24]. Using the Davenport–Heilbronn–Freeman method, Chow studied the number of solutions $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{N}^s$ as $\tau \to \infty$ of the inequality

$$\left| (x_1 - \theta_1)^k + \dots + (x_s - \theta_s)^k - \tau \right| < \eta$$

where $\theta_i \in (0,1)$ with $\theta_1 \notin \mathbb{Q}$ and $\eta \in (0,1]$ being fixed. In Chapter 2 we obtain a similar in spirit result.

Suppose that $\lambda_i > 0$ $(1 \le i \le s)$. For a positive real number ν sufficiently large in terms of s, k and τ , we ask how many positive integer solutions are possessed by the inequality

$$|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) - \nu| < \tau, \tag{1.4.3}$$

with \mathcal{F} as in (1.4.1). We write $\rho_s(\tau, \nu) = \rho_s(\tau, \nu; \lambda)$ to denote the number of positive integer solutions of (1.4.3). One anticipates $\rho_s(\tau, \nu)$ to be large when τ is fixed and ν is large in terms of s, k, λ_i and τ . In Chapter 2 we prove the following result.

Theorem 1.4.2. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and that $\tau \in (0, 1]$ is a fixed real number. Suppose further that $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$ is a natural number. Then as $\nu \to \infty$ one has

$$\rho_s(\tau,\nu) = 2(\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s)^{-1/\theta} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} \tau \nu^{s/\theta-1} + o\left(\nu^{s/\theta-1}\right).$$

Though the asymptotic formulae of Theorem 1.4.1 and Theorem 1.4.2 look similar, there is an essential difference between them. In the indefinite case of Theorem 1.4.1 we consider boxes of arbitrarily large side length P and so the main term grows like $P^{s-\theta}$. On the other hand, in the definite case covered by Theorem 1.4.2, the main term in the asymptotic formula is growing like $\nu^{s/\theta-1}$ and hence it is limited by the size of the real number ν we wish to represent. This is explained by the fact that there is a natural height restriction imposed on a solution **x** of the inequality (1.4.3).

1.5 Systems of Diophantine inequalities

In this section we shall be concerned with systems of inequalities and mixed systems consisting of both equations and inequalities. For this reason let us begin our discussion with systems of integral forms. For diagonal integral forms we have the work of Davenport and Lewis [32]. In this paper the authors study the zeros of simultaneous forms of the shape

$$G_i(\mathbf{x}) = a_{i1}x_1^k + \dots + a_{is}x_s^k \qquad (1 \le i \le R),$$

where a_{ij} are fixed integers and $k \ge 2$ is a fixed integer. In [32] it was proven that simultaneously the forms $G_i(\mathbf{x})$ $(1 \le i \le R)$ possess a non-trivial integer zero provided that the number of variables s satisfies $s \ge \lfloor 9R^2k \log(3Rk) \rfloor$ when k is odd and $s \ge \lfloor 48R^2k^3 \log(3Rk^2) \rfloor$ when kis even. This paper has been influential for many subsequent works dealing with simultaneous zeros of forms and inequalities.

One of the most remarkable results concerning systems of general integral forms is due to Birch [6]. Suppose that F_1, \ldots, F_R are any integral forms of degree k in s variables. Then the system of equations $F_i(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ $(1 \le i \le R)$ possesses a non-trivial integer solution provided that we have enough variables. Here enough variables means that s exceeds a quantity that grows at least quadratically with R. This was recently improved by Myerson in [49] and [50], to a linear dependence on R in the case of quadratic and cubic forms.

Suppose now that instead of integral forms we consider real forms. More relevant to us is the case of simultaneous diagonal inequalities. However, before we discuss this case and present some of the existing results in the literature, we choose to say a word for systems of general (not necessarily diagonal) real forms of unlike degree. This is certainly much harder compared to the diagonal situation of like degrees. A major result here dating to 1980 is due to Schmidt [67], who investigated the solubility of simultaneous general real forms of unlike odd degrees. Below we quote one version of Schmidt's result. Let us remark that the following version is not the strongest conclusion that was established in [67]. However, it is good enough for us to illustrate the spirit of the results obtained in [67].

Theorem 1.5.1 (Schmidt – [67]). Let $h \ge 1$ be a given integer and let E be a given positive real number. Suppose that d_1, \ldots, d_h are given odd integers and suppose further that $F_i(\mathbf{x})$ is a real form of degree d_i , for $1 \le i \le h$. Then there exists a positive real number $\tau = \tau(d_1, \ldots, d_h, E)$ such that for any natural number $s \ge \tau$ and any real number $N \ge 1$, there exists $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^s \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ which satisfies

$$\max_{1 \le i \le s} |x_i| \le N$$

and

$$|F_i(\mathbf{x})| \ll N^{-E}|F_i| \qquad (1 \le i \le h),$$

where $|F_i|$ stands for maximum of the absolute values of the coefficients of the form F_i . The implicit constant depends only on d_1, \ldots, d_h and E.

Roughly speaking, Schmidt's result tells us that any system of real forms of odd degree has a non-trivial integer solution provided that we are given enough variables. However, no explicit value was given for the number $\tau = \tau(d_1, \ldots, d_h, E)$. For diagonal real forms of like odd degree we have the following result due to Nadesalingam and Pitman.

Theorem 1.5.2 (Nadesalingam and Pitman – [51]). Suppose that $R \ge 2$ and $d \ge 13$ are integers with d being odd. Suppose further that F_1, \ldots, F_R are diagonal real forms in $s \ge \lceil R^2 k^2 \log(3Rk) \rceil$ variables. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$ the system of inequalities

$$|F_i(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon \qquad (1 \le i \le R)$$

has a non-trivial integer solution.

The result of Nadesalingam and Pitman contains implicitly the case where the forms are multiplies of rational forms. In such a case and for sufficiently small ϵ , some of the inequalities are reduced to equations with integer coefficients. The authors combine the classical circle method of Hardy and Littlewood with the Davenport–Heilbronn method. A key step in their approach is the use of an inductive argument on the number of integral forms hidden in the system.

Suppose now that we are given any R real forms $F_i(\mathbf{x})$ $(1 \le i \le R)$ in s variables of degree d, where d is an odd integer. We write $\tau(d, R)$ to denote the least positive natural number s_0 such that for $s \ge s_0$ and any $\epsilon > 0$ the system of simultaneous inequalities $|F_i(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$ $(1 \le i \le R)$ possesses a non-trivial integer solution. The first finite upper bound for the number $\tau(3, R)$ was given by Freeman in the early 2000's. In [42] Freeman proved that $\tau(3, h) \le (10h)^{\gamma}$ where $\gamma = (10h)^5$. Freeman's approach goes through the pursuit of bounded non-trivial integer solutions to cubic inequalities. The proof makes use of diagonalization techniques and builds on [51].

We turn now our attention to systems consisting of even degree forms. We begin with the simplest case, namely a pair of two quadratic forms. We write

$$Q_i(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_{i1} x_1^2 + \dots + \lambda_{is} x_s^2 \qquad (i = 1, 2),$$

where λ_{ij} are fixed real numbers. In 1974 Cook [26] considered the system of simultaneous quadratic inequalities

$$|Q_i(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon \qquad (i = 1, 2)$$

in s = 9 variables. In order to exclude the case where the forms Q_1 and Q_2 are multiplies of rational forms, Cook associated to the forms Q_1 and Q_2 the following ternary linear forms. For $1 \le i < j < k \le 9$ we write

$$L_{ijk}(u, v, w) = \det \begin{pmatrix} u & v & w \\ \lambda_{1i} & \lambda_{1j} & \lambda_{1k} \\ \lambda_{2i} & \lambda_{2j} & \lambda_{2k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

With this piece of notation we may now state the result of Cook.

Theorem 1.5.3 (Cook – [26]). Suppose that Q_1 and Q_2 have real algebraic coefficients in nine variables. Suppose further that

- (i) Every member of the pencil $\{\alpha Q_1 + \beta Q_2\}$ with $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ is an indefinite form with at least five non-zero coefficients ;
- (ii) Not all the ternary linear forms $L_{ijk}(u, v, w)$ have coefficients which are linearly dependent over the rationals.

Then for every $\epsilon > 0$ there exist integers x_1, \ldots, x_9 not all zero, such that

$$|Q_1(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$$
 and $|Q_2(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$.

In [18] Brüdern and Cook considered a pair of real diagonal cubic forms in s = 15 variables. Suppose that F_1 and F_2 are two such forms. Assuming that the coefficients of F_1 and F_2 are algebraic and the condition (ii) of Theorem 1.5.3 is satisfied, they showed that for any $\epsilon > 0$ the system of inequalities $|F_i(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$ (i = 1, 2) has infinitely many integer solutions. This improved a result of Pitman [61]. Moreover, in [19] Brüdern and Cook considered the solubility of R simultaneous real diagonal forms of odd degree $k \ge 2$. Say F_1, \ldots, F_R are such forms. Imposing a condition similar to the condition (ii) of Theorem 1.5.3, they proved that the system of inequalities $|F_i(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon$ $(1 \le i \le R)$ has a non-trivial integer solution provided that the number of variables is of order Rn_0 with $n_0 = O(k \log k)$. As a matter of fact, Brüdern and Cook proved an asymptotic lower bound of the correct magnitude for the number of solutions inside a box of side length P. However, this asymptotic lower bound is proven to be valid for a sequence of arbitrarily large positive real numbers P and not for all large P. This is due to the limitation of the Davenport–Heilbronn method as it was introduced in [30].

Returning to the case of quadratic forms, the next result comes from Freeman. Using his variant variant of the Davenport–Heilbronn method, Freeman considered in [36] a system of R diagonal real quadratic forms. Below we state that result for the case R = 2.

Theorem 1.5.4 (Freeman – [38]). Let Q_1, Q_2 be real diagonal quadratic forms in $s \ge 10$ variables. Suppose that every member of the pencil $\{\alpha Q_1 + \beta Q_2\}$ with $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ has at least five non-zero coefficients, one irrational coefficient, at least one negative coefficient and at least one positive coefficient. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^s \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ such that

$$|Q_1(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon \qquad \text{and} \qquad |Q_2(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon. \tag{1.5.1}$$

Moreover, if P is a sufficiently large positive real number and N(P) denotes the number of integer solutions of the system (1.5.1) with $1 \le \mathbf{x} \le P$, then as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$N(P) \gg P^{s-2},$$

where the implicit constant depends on ϵ and the coefficients of the forms Q_1 and Q_2 .

One may compare the result of Freeman with that of Cook. The latter requires fewer variables to ensure solubility. However, this comes with stronger assumptions on the coefficients of the

forms. The assumption that the forms Q_1, Q_2 have algebraic coefficients and the condition (ii) in Theorem 1.5.3, are now being replaced by the condition that for any $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ the form $\alpha Q_1 + \beta Q_2$ has at least one irrational coefficient. In [38, \$2] it is demonstrated that Cook's condition is in fact strictly stronger than the above irrationality condition. For the case of R > 2 simultaneous real diagonal quadratic forms, Freeman [38, Theorem 3] obtained a similar result in $s \geq 5R$ variables. For this conclusion Freeman made the following assumptions : the existence of a non-singular real solution, a rank condition on the coefficients of the forms and an irrationality condition of the shape

for every choice $(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_R) \in \mathbb{R}^R \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$, the form $\beta_1 Q_1 + \dots + \beta_R Q_R$ has at least one irrational coefficient. (1.5.2)

The next step in Freeman's investigations is to remove the irrationality condition (1.5.2). Note that this condition ensures that no form in the pencil is an integral form. Hence, subject to such a condition, one considers only true inequalities and excludes systems consisting of equations and inequalities. Suppose that $R \ge 2$ is a fixed integer. We put

$$F_i(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_{i1} x_1^k + \dots + \lambda_{is} x_s^k \qquad (1 \le i \le R),$$

where λ_{ij} are fixed real numbers and $k \geq 2$ is a fixed integer. We may reduce the system consisting of the forms F_i into a new system of forms (which by abuse of notation we denote again by F_i), for which the following condition is satisfied. Suppose that for some $0 \leq r \leq R$ the forms F_1, \ldots, F_r are integral and suppose further that if $(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_R) \in \mathbb{R}^R$ is such that the form $\beta_1 F_1 + \cdots + \beta_R F_R$ is rational then $\beta_{r+1} = \cdots = \beta_R$. Furthermore, in the case where k is even suppose that the system of equations $F_1(\mathbf{x}) = \cdots = F_R(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ possesses a nonsingular real solution. Subject to a suitable rank condition and if the singular series associated to the integral forms F_1, \ldots, F_r is positive, it was proven by Freeman [41] that the system of inequalities

$$|F_i(\mathbf{x})| < \epsilon \qquad (1 \le i \le R), \tag{1.5.3}$$

has a non-trivial integer solution for any $\epsilon > 0$, provided that the number of variables s satisfies $s \ge Rn_0$, where n_0 is of order of magnitude $k \log k + o(k \log k)$. At the cost of extra variables, Freeman demonstrates that the assumption for the singular series to be positive may be dropped. The proof combines techniques by Nadesalingam and Pitman [51], together with methods of Bentkus and Götze [4], as in [36]. If we write N(P) to denote the number of solutions of the system (1.5.3) with $|\mathbf{x}| \le P$, Freeman shows that

$$N(P) \gg P^{s-Rk} \qquad (P \to \infty),$$

where the implicit constant depends on s, k, R, ϵ and the coefficients of the forms F_i .

We now come to discuss the case of systems of inequalities of unlike degrees. The first to consider the simultaneous solubility of real forms of unlike degree was Parsell in [56]. In that paper, motivated by Wooley's work on simultaneous additive equations [83], [85], and using Wooley's methods on exponential sums over smooth numbers [84], Parsell developed a two dimensional version of the Davenport–Heilbronn method to study the solubility of a system of pair of diagonal cubic and quadratic form. Shortly afterwards, and taking advantage of Free-

man's work [36], Parsell in [57] obtained an asymptotic lower bound for the number of solutions of a pair of cubic and quadratic form lying inside a box of sufficiently large side length. In the third paper on that series [59], Parsell considered a more general system consisting of Rdiagonal forms of unlike degree. Fix an integer $R \ge 2$. Let $k_1 \ge \cdots \ge k_R \ge 2$ be fixed integers and let λ_{ij} be fixed non-zero real numbers. Suppose that $\tau > 0$ is a fixed real number. The subject of [59] is the solubility in integers of the simultaneous inequalities

$$\left|\lambda_{1i}x_1^{k_i} + \dots + \lambda_{is}x_s^{k_i}\right| < \tau \qquad (1 \le i \le s).$$

$$(1.5.4)$$

No irrationality assumption is being made here. Hence, there might be a case that some of the forms are actually proportional to an integral form. Parsell calls this the integral subsystem and makes the assumption that it possesses a *p*-adic solution for every prime *p*. Moreover, Parsell makes the assumption that the system

$$\lambda_{1i} x_1^{k_i} + \dots + \lambda_{is} x_s^{k_i} = 0 \qquad (1 \le i \le s)$$

possesses a non-trivial real solution. For technical reasons associated with the application of the circle method these local solutions are assumed to be non-singular. For a system which satisfies this local solubility condition define $\hat{G}^*(\mathbf{k})$ to be the least number number s such that whenever $s \ge s_0$ the system (1.5.4) has a non-trivial integer solution. The main theorem of [59] examines the relationship between mean value estimates for exponential sums and the bounds these estimates yield for the number $\hat{G}^*(\mathbf{k})$. As a corollary, in the case R = 2 Parsell obtained some explicit values for small exponents k_1 and k_2 . Below we record the values obtained in [59, Corollary 1.2].

 Table 1.3: Values of $\hat{G}^*(k_1, k_2)$ for $k_1 \in \{3, 4, 5\}$ and $k_2 \in \{2, 3, 4\}$
 (k_1, k_2) (3, 2) (4, 2) (4, 3) (5, 2) (5, 3) (5, 4)

 $\hat{G}^*(k_1, k_2)$ 13
 20
 24
 31
 32
 36

Table 1.4: Values of $\widehat{G}^{\star}(k_1, k_2)$ for $k_1 \in \{6, 7\}$ and $k_2 \in \{3, 4, 5, 6\}$

(k_1, k_2)	(6,3)	(6, 4)	(6, 5)	(7, 4)	(7, 5)	(7, 6)
$\widehat{G}^{\star}(k_1,k_2)$	49	47	50	65	64	66

For $(k_1, k_2) = (3, 2)$ using methods of [91] we expect to be able to get $\widehat{G}^*(3, 2) \le 11$. Further improvements might be possible using some of the methods of [12].

1.6 A mixed system of an inequality and an equation

We now come to describe our result for a mixed system consisting of an equation and an inequality. We fix non-zero real numbers λ_i, μ_j not all of the same sign and non-zero integers a_i, b_k not all of the same sign. Suppose that $d \ge 2$ is an integer and suppose further that $\theta > d+1$

is real and non-integral. We write

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_\ell x_\ell^{\theta} + \mu_1 y_1^{\theta} + \dots + \mu_m y_m^{\theta} \\ \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = a_1 x_1^{d} + \dots a_\ell x_\ell^{d} + b_1 z_1^{d} + \dots + b_n z_n^{d}. \end{cases}$$
(1.6.1)

Let $\tau>0$ be a fixed real number. The system we study is of the shape

$$\begin{cases} |\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \tau \\ \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.6.2)

Here we make the following local solubility assumptions as in [59]. We ask for the system

$$\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0 \tag{1.6.3}$$

to admit a non-trivial real solution $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z})$. Moreover, we ask $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ to be soluble for all prime powers p^{ν} . Additionally, we impose the extra condition that the local solutions are in fact non-singular. When all these assumptions hold, then we say that the system (1.6.2) satisfies the local solubility condition.

We write $\mathcal{N}(P)$ to denote the number of positive integer solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z})$ of the system (1.6.2) with

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{x}^{\star}P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2\mathbf{x}^{\star}P, \quad \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{y}^{\star}P < \mathbf{y} \leq 2\mathbf{y}^{\star}P, \quad \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{z}^{\star}P < \mathbf{z} \leq 2\mathbf{z}^{\star}P,$$

where $(\mathbf{x}^{\star}, \mathbf{y}^{\star}, \mathbf{z}^{\star})$ is a non-singular real solution of the system of equations (1.6.3). In Chapter 3 we obtain an asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$ as $P \to \infty$. Our result reads as follows.

Theorem 1.6.1. Suppose that $d \ge 2$ is an integer and suppose further that $\theta > d + 1$ is real and non-integral. Let τ be a fixed positive real number. Consider the system

$$|\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \tau \quad and \quad \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0, \tag{1.6.4}$$

with $\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{D}$ defined in (1.6.1). We write

$$A_{\theta} = (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$$
 and $A_d = d^2$.

Moreover, we set

$$s_{\min} = \left[\max \left\{ A_{\theta} + n, \ \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}} m + A_{\theta} \right\} \right] + 1$$

and

$$s_{\max} = \left[\min\left\{A_{\theta} + A_d, A_{\theta} + \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + n\right\}\right] + 1.$$

Suppose that the system (1.6.4) satisfies the following conditions.

(a) The system (1.6.4) satisfies the local solubility condition, namely the system (1.6.3) possesses a non-singular real solution and the congruence $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ possesses a nonsingular solution for all prime powers p^{ν} .

- (b) One has $\ell \geq \max\{\lceil 2\theta(1-n/d) \rceil, 1\}, 0 \leq m \leq A_{\theta} \text{ and } 0 \leq n \leq A_d.$
- (c) One has $\ell + m \ge A_{\theta} + 1$ and $\ell + n \ge A_d + 1$.
- (d) For the total number of variables $s = \ell + m + n$ one has $s_{\min} \le s \le s_{\max}$.

Then, there exists a positive real number $C = C(\lambda, \mu, \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}, \theta, d, s)$, such that as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$\mathcal{N}(P) = 2\tau C P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right)$$

In particular, the number of positive integer solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) \in [1, P]^{\ell} \times [1, P]^m \times [1, P]^n$ of the system (1.6.4) is $\gg P^{s-(\theta+d)}$, where the implicit constant is a positive real number, which depends on $s, \lambda_i, \mu_j, a_i, b_k, \theta, d$ and τ .

Note here that by the assumptions made in Theorem 1.6.1 our conclusions are valid when the total number of variables $s = \ell + m + n$ satisfies $A_{\theta} + 1 \le s \le A_{\theta} + A_d + 1$. The method we employ in Chapter 3 allows one to handle systems with $s \ge A_{\theta} + A_d + 2$ variables and show that in such a case the number of positive integer solutions of the system (1.6.4) inside a box of side length P is $\gg P^{s-(\theta+d)}$ as $P \to \infty$.

1.7 Vinogradov's mean value theorem

We now say a few words about the methods we employ in proving our results. Until the mid 1930's the standard approach for estimating exponential sums was by means of repeated differencing process, as introduced by Weyl [82] and van der Corput [75]. In 1935, Vinogradov [79] (see also [80]) came up with a new method. Let $s, k \in \mathbb{N}$. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^k$ we write

$$f_k(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_k x^k).$$

In order to study the exponential sum $f_k(\alpha; P)$, Vinogradov turned his attention into the mean value

$$J_{s,k}(P) = \int_{[0,1)^k} |f_k(\alpha; P)|^{2s} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$
(1.7.1)

which by orthogonality counts the number of solutions of the system

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) = 0 \qquad (1 \le j \le k), \tag{1.7.2}$$

with $1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P$.

The problem of bounding the mean value $J_{s,k}(P)$ is known as Vinogradov's mean value theorem. One may consider the family of trivial solutions of system (1.7.2) where we suppose that $\{x_1, \ldots, x_s\} = \{x_{s+1}, \ldots, x_{2s}\}$. Hence, we certainly have that $J_{s,k}(P) \gg P^s$. Furthermore, by considering the contribution in the integral (1.7.1) from α with $|\alpha_j| \leq \frac{1}{8k}P^{-j}$ $(1 \leq j \leq k)$ we deduce that $J_{s,k}(P) \gg P^{2s-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1)}$. Therefore one has that

$$J_{s,k}(P) \gg P^s + P^{2s - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1)}$$

The Main Conjecture (now a theorem) in Vinogradov's mean value theorem, states that the above lower bound reflects the true order of magnitude of $J_{s,k}(P)$.

Theorem 1.7.1 (Main Conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem – [92], [11]). For any natural numbers s, k and any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$J_{s,k}(P) \ll P^{s+\epsilon} + P^{2s - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \epsilon}.$$
(1.7.3)

Going a step further, the conjecture predicts that the estimate (1.7.3) holds with $\epsilon = 0$. However, this has not been proven yet. The case k = 1 is trivial. So is the case k = 2. The latter can be readily seen by using the identity

$$(a+b-c)^{2} - (a^{2}+b^{2}-c^{2}) = 2(a-b)(a-c),$$

together with the estimate $d(n) \ll n^{\epsilon}$ $(n \to \infty)$, where $d(n) = \sum_{d|n} 1$ is the number of divisors of n. The first non-trivial case is k = 3. For k = 3 the inequality (1.7.3) was proven by Wooley in [92] using his efficient congruencing method, introduced in the breakthrough papers [88], [89]. This method was developed further by Wooley in a series of papers. For a summary of the main ideas and various applications of Vinogradov's mean value theorem, one may look at Wooley's ICM address [90] from 2014.

Parallel to Wooley's work, another breakthrough was taking place in the field of harmonic analysis with the proof of the ℓ^2 -decoupling conjecture by Bourgain and Demeter [10]. Building on these ideas, Bourgain, Demeter and Guth [11] proved the estimate (1.7.3) for any $k \ge 4$, and hence established the Main Conjecture. Shortly after this paper, Wooley [95] established the same conclusion using his nested efficient congruencing method, which is a variant of the efficient congruencing method. In [95] it is also proven a number of results concerning "relatives" and applications of the Vinogradov's mean value theorem. A general discussion about the similarities between the decoupling theory and the efficient congruencing method can be found in the report of Pierce [60] for the Bourbaki seminar. For an exposition on decoupling theory and its applications one may look in the recent book of Demeter [35].

We now come to describe our result within the above context. Recall from (1.7.2) the system

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(x_{i}^{j} - x_{s+i}^{j} \right) = 0 \qquad (1 \le j \le k).$$

A key feature of this system is that it is a Translation-Dilation-Invariant (henceforth TDI) system. For $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{Z}$ and for each $1 \leq j \leq k$ one has that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} \left((qx_i - \xi + \xi)^j - (qx_{s+i} - \xi + \xi)^j \right) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \binom{j}{\ell} \xi^{j-\ell} \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left((qx_i - \xi)^j - (qx_{s+i} - \xi)^j \right).$$

So for $\xi \neq 0$ and a fixed tuple **x** one can see that the left hand side of the above equality vanishes if and only if the right hand side vanishes. This property does not hold if one of the exponents

j is non-integral. Suppose that $\theta>2$ is real and non-integral. For $\alpha\in\mathbb{R}$ we write

$$f_{\theta}(\alpha; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

In Chapter \$2 we obtain an essentially optimal mean value estimate for the exponential sum $f_{\theta}(\alpha; P)$. Our result reads as follows.

Theorem 1.7.2. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and that $\kappa \ge 1$ is a real number. Suppose further that $s \ge \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$, one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} |f_{\theta}(\alpha; P)|^{2s} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \kappa P^{2s-\theta+\epsilon}.$$

We emphasize here, that the implicit constant depends on ϵ , θ , and s, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $s > \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

It will be apparent from the proof of the theorem that with slight modifications our argument works also if we consider the exponential sum

$$f_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e\left(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_n x^n + \alpha_{\theta} x^{\theta}\right),$$

where $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. The details of this argument are presented in the Appendix B.

Theorem 1.7.3. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and write $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. Let $\kappa \ge 1$ be a real number. Suppose further that $s \ge \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$, one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[0,1)^n} \left| f_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) \right|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \kappa P^{2s - \theta + \epsilon}.$$

We emphasize here, that the implicit constant depends on ϵ , θ , and s, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $s > \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

We believe that one should be able to prove a discrete restriction estimate for the exponential sum $f_{\theta}(\alpha; P)$ as in [94, Theorem 1.1]. This would require to modify some of the parts of the argument presented in the Appendix B. We leave this as a remark for a possible future work. Moreover, the argument given in the Appendix B seems to apply as well when the term x^{θ} in the exponential sum $f_{\theta}(\alpha; P)$ is replaced by a generalised polynomial with leading term x^{θ} . Again we leave this as a remark for a possible future work.

1.8 The Davenport-Heilbronn-Freeman method

In this subsection we shall give a brief overview of the Davenport–Heilbronn method. We follow the exposition of [78, Chapter 11]. Subsequently we shall sketch the innovation introduced by Freeman in [36]. Our exposition about Freeman's variant follows Wooley's paper [86]. We shall focus in proving an asymptotic lower bound. For the asymptotic formula one may use the kernel functions of Freeman [39, Lemma 1] or apply a squeezing (sandwich) argument as in [20].

Fix integers $k \ge 2$ and $s \ge 2^k + 1$. Suppose that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s$ are non-zero real numbers, not all of the same sign and not all in rational ratio. Let *P* be a large positive real number. We write

N(P) to denote the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^k + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^k| < 1$$

with $|\mathbf{x}| \leq P$, where $|\mathbf{x}| = \max_i |x_i|$. If necessary one may relabel the variables, so that from now we assume that λ_1/λ_2 is negative and irrational. Note that there is no loss of generality in assuming that the coefficients λ_i are not all of the same sign even if k is an odd positive integer. In such a case, one may replace if necessary, x_1^k by $(-x_1)^k$ and then relabel further.

The method of Davenport and Heilbronn uses a Fourier transform over the real line \mathbb{R} . The idea is to use an even kernel function $K : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ that allows us to make a weighted count for the number of solutions of the inequality in order to give a lower bound for the quantity N(P). Define the function

$$K(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\alpha)}{\pi\alpha}\right)^2, & \text{ when } \alpha \neq 0, \\ 1, & \text{ when } \alpha = 0. \end{cases}$$

One can easily verify (see for example [30, Lemma 4]) that the Fourier transform of this function has the property that for any real ξ it satisfies

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} K(\alpha) e(\alpha \xi) \mathbf{d}\alpha = \max\{0, 1 - |\xi|\}.$$

For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we define the generating function

$$f(\alpha) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^k)$$

and write $f_i(\alpha) = f(\lambda_i \alpha) \ (1 \le i \le s)$. One has

$$N(P) \gg \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(1.8.1)

For sufficiently small positive real numbers δ and ω we put

$$S_1(P) = P^{\delta}$$
 and $T_1(P) = P^{\omega}$.

One may now dissect the real line intro three disjoint subsets called the major, minor and trivial arcs, defined respectively by

$$\mathfrak{M} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha| < S_1(P)P^{-k} \right\},$$
$$\mathfrak{m} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : S_1(P)P^{-k} \le |\alpha| < T_1(P) \right\},$$
$$\mathfrak{t} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha| \ge T_1(P) \right\}.$$

In contrast to the Hardy–Littlewood method here we only have one major arc around 0 = 0/1. Moreover, since we are dealing with real forms no local solubility conditions for finite places is required. Hence, in this context there is no singular series.

The disposal of the trivial arcs is straightforward. Here we use Hua's inequality, appearing

first in [45], which states that for any $1 \leq j \leq k$ and any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_0^1 \left| f(\alpha) \right|^{2^j} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{2^j - k + \epsilon}.$$

Moreover, we make use of the decay of the kernel function $K(\alpha)$, which for all α satisfies

$$|K(\alpha)| \ll \min\{1, |\alpha|^{-2}\}$$

Splitting the set t into unit intervals and using Hua's inequality we obtain

$$\int_{|\alpha| \ge T_1(P)} |f_i(\alpha)|^{2^k} K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-k}\right) \qquad (1 \le i \le s)$$

An application of Hölder's inequality then delivers

$$\int_{\mathfrak{t}} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K(\alpha)| \, \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-k}\right). \tag{1.8.2}$$

Over the set of major arcs one wishes to compare the exponential sum $f_i(\alpha)$ with its continuous analogue $v_i(\alpha)$ defined by

$$\upsilon_i(\alpha) = \int_0^P e(\lambda_i \alpha x^k) \mathbf{d}\alpha \qquad (1 \le i \le s).$$

For $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M}$ as a consequence of Poisson's summation formula one has

$$f_i(\alpha) - v_i(\alpha) = O\left(P^\delta\right) \qquad (1 \le i \le s)$$

One may now use a standard telescoping summation argument to deduce that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-k}\right).$$

Due to the decay of the kernel $K(\alpha)$ the integral over $(-\infty, \infty)$, which is the singular integral of our problem, converges absolutely. Making now a change of variables to linearise the expression and using the fact that the λ_i are not all of the same sign, one may deduce by applying Fubini's theorem that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = \int_{[0,P]^s} \max\left\{0, \ 1 - \left|\lambda_1 x_1^k + \cdots + \lambda_s x_s^k\right|\right\} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \gg P^{s-k},$$

where dx stands for the *s*-dimensional Lebesgue measure $dx_1 \cdots dx_s$. A comparison of the last two asymptotic estimates yields

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \gg P^{s-k}.$$
(1.8.3)

We are now dealing with the set of minor arcs. Since we assume that the ratio λ_1/λ_2 is irra-

tional, by Dirichlet's theorem on Diophantine approximation ² there exist infinitely many coprime pairs $(a,q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}$ with

$$\left|\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2} - \frac{a}{q}\right| < \frac{1}{q^2}.$$
(1.8.4)

Consider now a sequence of such pairs $(a_n, q_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and set $P_n = q_n^2$. It is here that we essentially restrict P to take values from a specific sequence. Note that the terms of the sequence $(P_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ become arbitrarily large.

Next, we recall Weyl's inequality which appeared in 1916 in the influential paper [82]. Suppose that for a real number $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ one has $|\alpha - a/q| \leq 1/q^2$ for some coprime $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has that

$$|f(\alpha)| \ll P^{1+\epsilon} \left(\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{P} + \frac{q}{P^k}\right)^{1/2^{k-1}}$$

With the above choice $P_n = q_n^2$ we may infer by using Weyl's inequality that there exists some $\delta > 0$ so that for some $j \in \{1, 2\}$ and any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}$ one has for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ that

$$f_j(\alpha) \ll P_n^{1+\epsilon} q_j^{-1/2^{k-1}} + P_n^{1-\delta},$$

where the q_1 and q_2 satisfy (1.8.4). Hence there exists some $\delta' > 0$ such that for all $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}$ one has

$$\min\{f_1(\alpha), f_2(\alpha)\} \ll P_n^{1-\delta'} = o(P_n).$$
(1.8.5)

Using again Hua's inequality one may now deduce that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P_n^{s-k}\right).$$
(1.8.6)

Putting together (1.8.2), (1.8.3), (1.8.6) and invoking (1.8.1) we have shown that there exists a sequence of integers $(P_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $P_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$ such that $N(P_n) \gg \gamma P_n^{s-k}$ for some positive real number γ depending at most on λ_i, k and s.

Without restricting the values of *P* the estimate (1.8.5) does not necessarily hold. As a matter of fact, it is pointed out in [78, p. 170] that by choosing λ_1/λ_2 appropriately one may show

$$\limsup_{P \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{P} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}} \min \left\{ |f_1(\alpha)|, |f_2(\alpha)| \right\} \right) > 0.$$

This can be seen by taking λ_1/λ_2 to be a Liouville number. A real number x is called a Liouville number, if for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist infinitely many pairs $(p,q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}$ with q > 1 such that $0 < |x - p/q| < 1/q^n$. It turns out that Liouville's numbers are transcendental numbers that can be approximated very well by rational numbers.

In Freeman's work [36], two are the main ingredients in the minor arc analysis. An ϵ -free

² Dirichlet's approximation theorem in its simplest form is stated as follows. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and suppose that $X \ge 1$ is a real number. Then there exist $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ with (a, q) = 1 and $1 \le q \le X$ such that $|\alpha - a/q| \le 1/(qX)$. For a proof see for example [44, Theorem 36]. It is a consequence of this, see [44, Theorem 185], that if α is irrational then there exist infinitely many such pairs (p, q) which satisfy the inequality $|\alpha - p/q| < 1/q^2$.

mean value estimate of the shape

$$\int_0^1 |f(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-k},$$

and a weak type analogue of Weyl's inequality. The innovation introduced in [36] is such a Weyl type inequality, which works as a replacement for (1.8.5) without restricting the values of P. This inequality which was inspired by the work of Bentkus and Götze [4], may be formulated as follows. Suppose that $2 \leq S(P) \leq P$ is a function that increases to infinity as $P \rightarrow \infty$. Then there exists a function $T(P) \leq S(P)$ depending only on λ_1, λ_2 and S(P), which increases monotonically to infinity as $P \rightarrow \infty$ and such that

$$\sup_{S(P)P^{-k} \le |\alpha| < T(P)} |f_1(\alpha)f_2(\alpha)| \le P^2 T(P)^{-1/2^{k+1}}.$$
(1.8.7)

One may now dissect the real line in the same fashion as before, whereas now we take $S_1(P) = S(P)$ and $T_1(P) = T(P)$. The analysis of the major and trivial arcs is almost identical to the previous treatment.

In the set of minor arcs m we apply the classical Hardy–Littlewood method by dissecting into major and minor arcs. We put

$$\mathfrak{N} = \bigcup_{\substack{0 \le a \le q \le S(P) \\ (a,q)=1}} \left\{ \alpha \in [0,1) : |q\alpha - a| \le S(P)P^{-k} \right\},$$

and write $n = [0, 1) \setminus \mathfrak{N}$. Using standard techniques due to Vaughan [78, Lemma 4.9 & Theorem 4.4] and [77, Theorem A] one may obtain (respectively) that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{N}} |f(\alpha)|^{s} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-k} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \int_{\mathfrak{n}} |f(\alpha)|^{s} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-k}. \tag{1.8.8}$$

Let us remark here that the first estimate is valid provided only $s > \max\{4, k + 1\}$. For any $n \in \mathbb{R}$ we may then deduce that

$$\int_{n}^{n+1} |f_i(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-k}.$$

At this step we partition the real line into two disjoint sets defined by

 $\mathfrak{P} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : \ \lambda_1 \alpha \ (\text{mod} \ 1) \in \mathfrak{N} \} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathfrak{p} = \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathfrak{P} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : \ \lambda_1 \alpha \ (\text{mod} \ 1) \in \mathfrak{n} \} \,.$

One may split the interval m into unit intervals of the shape [n, n+1] for $n \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, by taking into account (1.8.8) an application of Hölder's inequality yields

$$\int_{[n+1]\cap\mathfrak{p}} |f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)K(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-k}T(P)^{-1/s} = o\left(P^{s-k}\right).$$

We are left to deal with the set $\mathfrak{m} \cap \mathfrak{P}$. Here we make use of the estimate (1.8.7). For any unit

interval $[n,n+1]\subset \mathfrak{m}$ one has

$$\sup_{\alpha \in [n,n+1]} |f_1(\alpha)f_2(\alpha)| \le P^2 T(P)^{-1/2^{k+1}}.$$

Combining this inequality together with the estimates in (1.8.8), we obtain by an application of Hölder's inequality that

$$\int_{[n,n+1]\cap\mathfrak{P}} |f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)K(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-k}T(P)^{-\delta} = o\left(P^{s-k}\right),$$

for some $\delta = \delta(s,k) > 0$. Here we make use of the assumption that s > 2k. One may now sum over all unit intervals $[n, n + 1] \subset \mathfrak{m}$. Taking into account the decay of the kernel function we deduce that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-k}\right),$$

which is exactly what we were aiming for.

Chapter 2

Diophantine inequalities of fractional degree

The work in this chapter is based (with minor changes) on the author's paper [64].

2.1 Introduction

A central topic in analytic number theory with a long history and various applications is the study of solubility of Diophantine inequalities. In the present chapter we are concerned with diagonal Diophantine inequalities whose degree is a fractional power. Let us make this more precise. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and suppose that s is a positive integer. Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s$ be fixed non-zero real numbers, not all of the same sign. Consider the generalised polynomial

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathcal{F}(x_1, \dots, x_s) = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^{\theta}.$$
(2.1.1)

Suppose that τ is a fixed positive real number. A first natural question one can pose is the following. Does the inequality

$$|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| < \tau \tag{2.1.2}$$

admit a solution $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_s)$ in positive integers? Note that the assumption that not all of the coefficients λ_i are of the same sign, is natural in order to study the solubility of inequality (2.1.2), for otherwise one always has $|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| \ge |\lambda_1| + \cdots + |\lambda_s|$, and thus it is clear that $|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})|$ fails to take arbitrarily small values. In the case where (2.1.2) admits infinitely many solutions one could additionally ask for the distribution of them. To formulate this, take P to be an arbitrary large positive real number that eventually we let tend to infinity. With this parameter serving as a quantification measure for the size of solutions of (2.1.2) we write $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P) = \mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P; \lambda)$ for the number of positive integer solutions $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_s)$ of (2.1.2) with $x_i \in [1, P]$ $(1 \le i \le s)$. A standard heuristic argument suggests that one typically expects $\gg P^{s-\theta}$ such solutions to (2.1.2).

The main result of this chapter reads as follows.

Theorem 2.1.1. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and suppose further that $s \ge (|2\theta| + 1)(|2\theta| + 2) + 1$ is a natural number. Then as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P) = 2\tau \Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) P^{s-\theta} + o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right), \qquad (2.1.3)$$

where

$$\Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \left(\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} C(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) > 0$$

with

$$C(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left(-\sigma_s (\sigma_1 \beta_1 + \dots + \sigma_{s-1} \beta_{s-1}) \right)^{1/\theta - 1} (\beta_1 \cdots \beta_{s-1})^{1/\theta - 1} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta},$$

where $d\beta$ here stands for $d\beta_1 \cdots d\beta_{s-1}$, and $\sigma_i = \lambda_i / |\lambda_i|$, and \mathcal{U} denotes the set of points of the box $[0, |\lambda_1|] \times \cdots \times [0, |\lambda_{s-1}|]$, satisfying the condition that

$$-\sigma_s(\sigma_1\beta_1 + \dots + \sigma_{s-1}\beta_{s-1}) \in [0, |\lambda_s|].$$

In particular, the inequality (2.1.2) possesses a non-trivial positive integer solution.

As a first comment on the asymptotic formula (2.1.3), let us remark that, as will be apparent to experts, the positivity of the real number $C(s, \theta; \lambda)$ follows immediately from the fact that the σ_i are not all of the same sign. In the special case where $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}$ is a rational number greater than 2 one can obtain a "special" family of solutions as follows. Let us write $\theta = p/q \in \mathbb{Q}$ for some $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ with gcd(p,q) = 1. Take $x_i = y_i^q$ $(1 \le i \le s)$ where $y_i \in \mathbb{N}$ with $y_i \asymp Y \asymp P^{1/q}$. Then inequality (2.1.2) takes the shape $|\lambda_1 y_1^p + \cdots + \lambda_s y_s^p| < \tau$. When the number of variables s is large enough in terms of p, as for example in [36, Theorem 1], one has that the number of solutions of this last inequality is $\gg Y^{s-p}$. Thus, the number of solutions of the inequality (2.1.2) satisfies $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P) \gg (P^{1/q})^{s-p}$. On the other hand, the number of solutions obtained in this way is $o(P^{s-p/q})$, and so the number of solutions obtained is very small compared with what is expected.

The first to consider studying additive problems with non-integral exponents is Segal in the early 1930's. In the papers [69], [70] and [71], Segal studied Waring's problem with non-integral exponents, and additionally (phrased slightly different in his work) considered the problem of solubility of the inequality

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta} - \nu| < \epsilon,$$

with $\theta > 2$ real and non-integral and $0 < \epsilon < \nu^{-c(\theta)/\theta}$, where $0 < c(\theta) < 1$ is a fixed number, depending only on θ . For large values of ν Segal showed the existence of a solution $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{N}^s$, provided that we are given $s \ge s_0(\theta)$ variables, where $s_0(\theta) \approx \theta(\lfloor \theta \rfloor + 1)2^{\lfloor \theta \rfloor + 1} + 1$. In Theorem 2.1.3 below we improve this.

For questions and results on the interface between the fields of Diophantine inequalities and Diophantine approximation the interested reader can refer to the monograph [2], which contains an exposition of some of the most pivotal results in that area, dating up to late 1980's.

A great body of work in the existing literature is concerned with counting solutions inside a

bounded box of side length P to indefinite inequalities of the shape

$$|\lambda_1 x_1^d + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^d| < \tau, \tag{2.1.4}$$

where $d \geq 2$ is a natural number, and at least one of the ratios λ_i/λ_j is irrational. This last irrationality assumption is necessary, for otherwise if all the coefficients are in rational ratio then one can clear out the denominators by multiplying with the least common multiple which would reduce the inequality to an equation over the integers. The latter has been a separate area of research since the birth of the Hardy - Littlewood circle method in the early 1920's. The problem of the solubility of inequalities of the shape (2.1.4) first appears in the literature with the seminal work of Davenport and Heilbronn [30] in 1946. In that paper the authors prove that every real indefinite diagonal quadratic form in s = 5 variables can take arbitrarily small values. Their method to prove that result, what now is called the Davenport-Heilbronn method, is a Fourier analytic one over the entire real line. It is important here to mention that the main theorem of [30] proves that there exist arbitrarily large values of the parameter P such that (2.1.4) with d = 2 and s = 5 is soluble with $x_i \in [1, P] \cap \mathbb{Z}$. More precisely, they prove their result for a sequence of arbitrarily large numbers P, that depends essentially on the continued fraction expansion of the irrational ratio λ_i/λ_j . Thus, their conclusion would apply to boxes of side length P whenever this parameter P is a term of that specific sequence of values. This dependence was removed only in the early 2000's by Freeman. Beginning with [36], Freeman introduced a variant of the Davenport-Heilbronn method motivated by methods developed in [4]. This allowed Freeman to show the existence of infinitely many non-trivial integer solutions in boxes of any sufficiently large side length P, given roughly $d \log d$ variables (when d is large). Later in [39], Freeman established for the first time an asymptotic formula for the number of integer solutions of (2.1.4) inside the box $[-P, P]^s$, provided we have $s \ge 2^d + 1$ variables. The results of [36] and [39] were refined by Wooley in [86]. Since we are not dealing with an inequality of positive integral degree d as in (2.1.4), we finish here our rather short tour amongst results concerning that problem. The interested reader is directed to the papers of Freeman and Wooley for a general discussion.

It is reasonable to expect that a conclusion as in Theorem 2.1.1 would remain valid if instead of a homogenous inequality as of the type (2.1.2) we count solutions to an inhomogenous inequality of the shape

$$|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) - L| < \tau, \tag{2.1.5}$$

with \mathcal{F} as in (2.1.1) and L being a given real number. We write $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P; \boldsymbol{\lambda}, L)$ to denote the number of positive integer solutions \mathbf{x} of the inequality (2.1.5) with $x_i \in [1, P]$ $(1 \leq i \leq s)$. Here, the generalised polynomial \mathcal{F} could be either indefinite or definite. In the case where \mathcal{F} is indefinite there is no restriction on the size of L. However, one has to take boxes with side length P being sufficiently large in terms of s, θ and the coefficients λ_i of \mathcal{F} . On the other hand, if \mathcal{F} is positive definite then one has to assume that $L \asymp_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}} P^{\theta}$. Namely, there exist suitable positive constants $c(\boldsymbol{\lambda}), C(\boldsymbol{\lambda})$ such that L belongs to an interval of the shape $c(\boldsymbol{\lambda})P^{\theta} \leq L \leq C(\boldsymbol{\lambda})P^{\theta}$. As is to be expected, the counting function of such solutions satisfies the same kind of asymptotic formula as in Theorem 2.1.1. The minor adjustments of the proof are postponed until \$2.7.

Theorem 2.1.2. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is indefinite and let L be a fixed real number. Suppose further that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and that $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$ is a natural number.

Then as $P
ightarrow \infty$ one has

$$\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P;\boldsymbol{\lambda},L) = 2\tau\Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda})P^{s-\theta} + o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right),$$

where $\Omega(s, \theta; \lambda)$ is a positive real number depending only on s, θ and the coefficients λ_i .

One can refer to [58] for such a conclusion for linear forms over primes, and to [40] for a general result concerning additive inhomogenous inequalities of integral degree $d \ge 2$.

More interesting is the case where \mathcal{F} is positive definite. In such a case the problem is reformulated as a problem of representing arbitrarily large numbers by the generalised polynomial \mathcal{F} . Instead of counting solutions inside a box, we can count solutions that represent an arbitrary large real number. That is to say, for a positive real number ν sufficiently large in terms of s, θ and the positive number τ , we ask how many positive integer solutions are possessed by the inequality

$$|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) - \nu| < \tau. \tag{2.1.6}$$

We write $\rho_s(\tau,\nu) = \rho_s(\tau,\nu;\lambda)$ to denote the number of positive integer solutions of (2.1.6). One anticipates $\rho_s(\tau,\nu)$ to be large when τ is fixed and ν is large. Our next result establishes an asymptotic formula for the counting function $\rho_s(\tau,\nu)$.

Theorem 2.1.3. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and that $\tau \in (0, 1]$ is a fixed real number. Suppose further that $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$ is a natural number. Then as $\nu \to \infty$ one has

$$\rho_s(\tau,\nu) = 2(\lambda_1\cdots\lambda_s)^{-1/\theta} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} \tau \nu^{s/\theta-1} + o\left(\nu^{s/\theta-1}\right).$$

A word is in order regarding the conclusions of Theorems 2.1.2 and 2.1.3. Though they look similar there is an essential difference between these two conclusions. As we already mentioned, in the situation of Theorem 2.1.2 we count solutions of an inequality inside a box, while in the situation covered by Theorem 2.1.3 we aim to "represent" a large positive number by the generalised polynomial \mathcal{F} . This difference is reflected in the shape of the asymptotic formulae we establish. In the indefinite case we consider boxes of arbitrarily large side length P, while in the definite case covered by Theorem 2.1.3, the main term in the asymptotic formula is limited by the size of the real number ν we wish to represent, since there is a natural height restriction imposed on a solution \mathbf{x} . This last observation is straightforward. Suppose that λ_i are all positive and suppose that we aim to represent a real number $\nu \leq N$ where N is a positive large parameter. Choose now $P = 2(\lambda_1^{-1/\theta} + \cdots + \lambda_s^{-1/\theta} + 1)N^{1/\theta}$. Then for any solution \mathbf{x} of (2.1.6) with $\nu \leq N$ one has $x_i \leq P$ ($1 \leq i \leq s$). As a remark, we draw the attention of the reader to the recent works of Chow [23], [24] and Biggs [5] for the problem of representing a number by shifts of *d*th-powers where $d \in \mathbb{N}$. That is to say, for τ a sufficiently large positive real number, they investigate the solubility of the inequality

$$|(x_1 - \mu_1)^d + \dots + (x_s - \mu_s)^d - \tau| < \eta,$$

in integers $x_i > \mu_i$, where μ_i are fixed real numbers with μ_1 being irrational and η being a positive real number.

From now on we focus on Theorem 2.1.1. It is possible even at this stage to illustrate the

route we take to tackle the problem. Define the exponential sum $f(\alpha)=f(\alpha;P)$ via

$$f(\alpha; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

As in Freeman's variant of the Davenport-Heilbronn method, we are seeking mean value estimates of the asymptotic shape $\int_0^1 |f(\alpha)|^s d\alpha \ll P^{s-\theta}$. The key mean value estimate that does the heavy lifting in the proof of Theorem 2.1.1 is the following.

Theorem 2.1.4. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral and that $\kappa \ge 1$ is a real number. Suppose further that $t \ge \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \left|f(\alpha)\right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \kappa P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon}.$$

We emphasize here, that the implicit constant depends on ϵ , θ and t, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

Before we announce the final result of this chapter, we pause for a moment to comment on the number of variables needed to establish the mean value estimate in Theorem 2.1.4. As we explain at the end of \$2.2, the number $\frac{1}{2}(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ stems from an application of the Main Conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem to a system of degree $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$. As a measure of comparison, note that when $\theta = d$ is a natural number the latest developments in Vinogradov's mean value theorem by Wooley's Nested Efficient Congruencing method [95, Corollary 14.7] deliver the bound

$$\int_0^1 |f(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-d},$$

provided $s \ge s_0$ where

$$s_0 = d^2 - d + 2\lfloor \sqrt{2d+2} \rfloor - \theta(d),$$
(2.1.7)

with $\theta(d)$ defined via

$$\theta(d) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{when } 2d+2 \ge \lfloor \sqrt{2d+2} \rfloor^2 + \lfloor \sqrt{2d+2} \rfloor, \\ \\ 2, & \text{when } 2d+2 < \lfloor \sqrt{2d+2} \rfloor^2 + \lfloor \sqrt{2d+2} \rfloor. \end{cases}$$

Making use of the above mean value estimate combined with a Weyl type inequality as in [86, Lemma 2.3] one can show that $s_0 + 1$ variables suffice to establish the anticipated asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}_{s,d}^{\tau}(P; \boldsymbol{\lambda})$. Hitherto, in view of [21, Theorem 11.3] one had to take $s \geq 2d^2$ when d is large. Incorporating (2.1.7) into [21] reduces the number of variables needed to establish the asymptotic formula for $\mathcal{N}_{s,d}^{\tau}(P; \boldsymbol{\lambda})$ by a factor of 2.

We briefly mention here the following very interesting statistical result due to Brüdern and Dietmann. From a measure theoretic point of view, the anticipated asymptotic formula holds for almost all (admissible) real forms $\lambda_1 x_1^d + \cdots + \lambda_s x_s^d$, provided we have more than 2d variables. More precisely, in [20] it is proven that given s > 2d variables then for almost all (in the sense of Lebesgue measure) admissible values of the coefficients, there exists a positive real number
$C(s,d; \boldsymbol{\lambda})$ such that for all sufficiently large P one has

$$\left|\mathcal{N}_{s,d}^{\tau}(P) - 2\tau C(s,d;\boldsymbol{\lambda})P^{s-d}\right| < P^{s-d-8^{-2d}},$$

uniformly in $0 < \tau \leq 1$. It would be interesting to derive an analogue with the exponent d replaced by an arbitrary positive fractional number θ .

Lastly, we encounter a weighted version of Theorem 2.1.4. For a sequence of complex numbers $(\mathfrak{a}_x)_{x\in\mathbb{N}}$ we write $f_\mathfrak{a}(\alpha) = f_\mathfrak{a}(\alpha; P)$ to denote the weighted exponential sum

$$f_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} \mathfrak{a}_x e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

Motivated by [94] we seek for an inequality

$$\|f_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha; P)\|_{L^{2s}} \le C_P \|\mathfrak{a}_x\|_{\ell^2},$$

with the real number C_P depending at P and being uniform in $(\mathfrak{a}_x)_{x\in\mathbb{N}}$. Due to the fractional nature of θ , it is reasonable to expect a connection with Diophatine inequalities of the format (2.1.5). To do so, one has to detect solutions of inequalities by means of an appropriate kernel function. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we define the function

$$\operatorname{sinc}(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \frac{\sin(\pi\alpha)}{\pi\alpha}, & \text{when } \alpha \neq 0, \\ 1, & \text{when } \alpha = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.1.8)

and set $K(\alpha) = \operatorname{sinc}^2(\alpha)$ as in [30]. Our result reads as follows.

Theorem 2.1.5. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral, and suppose further that $s \ge 2(|2\theta|+1)(|2\theta|+2)+2$ is a natural number. Then one has

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| f_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha) \right|^{2s} K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-\theta} \left(\sum_{1 \le x \le P} |\mathfrak{a}_x|^2 \right)^s.$$

In order to establish Theorem 2.1.5 we apply an elementary argument and "double" the number of variables, aiming eventually to reduce to a Diophantine problem of representing a large positive real number by a generalised polynomial \mathcal{F} of the shape (2.1.1). Thus, one would be able to make use of Theorem 2.1.3. This explains the fact that for the inequality recorded in Theorem 2.1.5, we use twice as many number of variables needed in Theorem 2.1.3. This is a "cheap" argument. With harder work one could possibly eliminate the factor 2 and half the number of variables needed. This requires more effort and is not the focus of this work. The trick of "doubling" the number of variables is a classical argument in harmonic analysis and goes back to at least Zygmund in his paper [96]. More recently, it was used by Bourgain in the papers [8], [9], on discrete periodic Strichartz estimates.

2.2 Set up and overview of the method

We follow Freeman [39] in making use of appropriate kernel functions that allow one to bound the counting function $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P)$ from above and below. We make use of the following technical lemma.

Lemma 2.2.1. Fix a positive integer h. Let a and b be real numbers with 0 < a < b. Then there is an even real function $K(\alpha) = K(\alpha; a, b)$ such that the function ψ defined by

$$\psi(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e(\xi\alpha) K(\alpha) d\alpha$$

satisfies

$$\psi(\xi) \begin{cases} \in [0,1] \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R} \\ = 0 \text{ for } |\xi| \ge b \\ = 1 \text{ for } |\xi| \le a. \end{cases}$$
(2.2.1)

Moreover, K satisfies the bound

$$K(\alpha) \ll_h \min\left\{b, |\alpha|^{-1}, |\alpha|^{-h-1}(b-a)^{-h}\right\}.$$
(2.2.2)

Proof. This is [39, Lemma 1].

Set $\tilde{\tau} = \tau (\log P)^{-1}$. We can now define the following two kernel functions

$$K_{-}(\alpha) = K(\alpha; \tau - \tilde{\tau}, \tau) \text{ and } K_{+}(\alpha) = K(\alpha; \tau, \tau + \tilde{\tau}).$$
(2.2.3)

Note that by (2.2.2) we have

$$K_{\pm}(\alpha) \ll_{\tau,h} \min\{1, |\alpha|^{-1}, (\log P)^{h} |\alpha|^{-h-1}\}.$$
(2.2.4)

The estimate (2.2.4) is essential in the disposal of the set of trivial arcs. We make use of this for a particular choice of h to be chosen at a later stage. We refer to K_+, K_- as the upper and lower kernel respectively. The Fourier transform of K_+ provides us with an upper bound for $\mathcal{N}^{\tau}_{s,\theta}(P)$ while the Fourier transform of K_- provides a lower bound. To see this, let us write $\chi_{\tau}(\xi)$ for the indicator function of the interval $(-\tau, \tau)$, namely

$$\chi_{\tau}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{when } |\xi| < \tau, \\ 0, & \text{when } |\xi| \ge \tau. \end{cases}$$
(2.2.5)

By (2.2.1) one has that

$$\chi_{\tau-\widetilde{\tau}}(\xi) \leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha\xi) K_{-}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \leq \chi_{\tau}(\xi)$$

and

$$\chi_{\tau}(\xi) \leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha\xi) K_{+}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \leq \chi_{\tau+\widetilde{\tau}}(\xi).$$

30

Consequently, one has

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\xi\alpha) K_{-}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \le \chi_{\tau}(\xi) \le \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\xi\alpha) K_{+}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.2.6)

We take a moment to point out that the expression

$$\left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\xi \alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha - \chi_{\tau}(\xi) \right|$$
(2.2.7)

is zero when $||\xi| - \tau| > \widetilde{\tau}$ and at most 1 for values of ξ such that $||\xi| - \tau| \le \widetilde{\tau}$.

We are now equipped to explain how we sandwich the counting function $\mathcal{N}^{\tau}_{s,\theta}(P).$ Recall that

$$f(\alpha) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

We write $f_i(\alpha) = f(\lambda_i \alpha) \ (1 \le i \le s)$ and put

$$R_{\pm}(P) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha.$$
(2.2.8)

Take now $\xi = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \cdots + \lambda_s x_s^{\theta}$ in (2.2.1). If we sum over $1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P$ and take into account (2.2.5) and (2.2.6), we obtain

$$R_{+}(P) \geq \sum_{\substack{1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P \\ |\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| < \tau}} 1 = \mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P),$$

and

$$R_{-}(P) \leq \sum_{\substack{1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P \\ |\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| < \tau}} 1 = \mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P).$$

Thus, we conclude that

$$R_{-}(P) \le \mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P) \le R_{+}(P).$$

From the inequality above it is clear that in order to establish an asymptotic formula for $\mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P)$ it suffices to obtain asymptotic formulae for the integrals $R_{\pm}(P)$ that are asymptotically equal.

We now fix some notation. Put $\gamma=\theta-\lfloor\theta\rfloor\in(0,1).$ We set

$$\delta_0 = 4^{-\theta} \text{ and } \omega = \min\left\{\frac{1-\gamma}{12}, 5^{-100\theta}\right\}.$$
 (2.2.9)

We dissect the real line into three disjoint subsets as follows.

(i) The major arc \mathfrak{M} around 0 given by

$$\mathfrak{M} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha| < P^{-\theta + \delta_0} \right\}.$$

(ii) The minor $\arcsin \mathfrak{m}$ given by

$$\mathfrak{m} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : P^{-\theta + \delta_0} \le |\alpha| < P^{\omega} \right\}.$$

(iii) The trivial arcs t given by

$$\mathfrak{t} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha| \ge P^{\omega} \right\}.$$

For a Lebesgue measurable set $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathbb{R}$ we define

$$R_{\pm}(P;\mathcal{B}) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha.$$
(2.2.10)

So, by (2.2.8) one has

$$R_{\pm}(P) = R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{M}) + R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{m}) + R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{t}).$$
(2.2.11)

We describe now the general philosophy underlying the Davenport - Heilbronn method and give a brief overview of the strategy we follow in order to prove Theorem 2.1.1.

The starting point is an analytic representation for the counting function, as in (2.2.11). We begin with the major arc \mathfrak{M} . Typically when integrating over \mathfrak{M} one expects to obtain a contribution of order asymptotically equal to $P^{s-\theta}$, namely

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathbf{d}\alpha \asymp P^{s-\theta},$$

where the implied constants are positive. This reflects the observation that for small values of $|\alpha|$ the exponential sum $f(\alpha) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^{\theta})$ displays less cancellation. That is to say, the contribution from a small neighbourhood around 0 dominates, giving rise to the main term of the asymptotic formula in Theorem 2.1.1. The major arc analysis is rather classical. We present a treatment based on Fourier's inversion theorem, similar to that in [20, \$5], which in turn is a simplification of the treatment presented in [39].

We proceed now to describe the treatment of the sets of minor and trivial arcs. As is to be expected, this constitutes the most challenging part along the way to proving Theorem 2.1.1. Here one typically expects to demonstrate a smaller overall contribution of size $o(P^{s-\theta})$. Namely, we aim to show

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m} \cup \mathfrak{t}} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathbf{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$

The method we employ here is motivated by our aim to find an alternative route that is less sensitive to the fact that we are dealing with exponential sums having a smooth and not polynomial phase. With the classical version of Weyl's inequality out of the game, we put our efforts into gaining an almost full saving from a Hua type estimate for the exponential sum $f(\alpha)$. With this aim in mind we can now bound the mean value $\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f(\alpha)|^s d\alpha$ for $s \geq 2t$ by noting that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f(\alpha)|^{s} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \left(\sup_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}} |f(\alpha)| \right)^{s-2t} \int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$
(2.2.12)

where t is an appropriate positive integer. It may be helpful to the reader if we mention here that we seek to choose t so that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon},$$

for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$. Note that in order to establish the asymptotic formula (2.1.3) one has to add

one extra variable and take $s \ge 2t + 1$. We bound each factor in (2.2.12) separately as follows.

For the first factor in (2.2.12) it suffices to show that for some $\eta > 0$ one has

$$\sup_{\alpha\in\mathfrak{m}}|f(\alpha)|\ll P^{1-\eta}.$$

This is achieved by means of van der Corput's k-th derivative test. The key here is to investigate the magnitude of the derivatives of the phase function $x \mapsto \alpha x^{\theta}$.

For the second factor we aim to obtain an upper bound of the shape $\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f(\alpha)|^{2t} d\alpha \ll P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon}$. This is precisely the content of Theorem 2.1.4, which in a sense plays the role of Hua's inequality and does the heavy lifting in the proof of Theorem 2.1.1. To demonstrate this we begin by observing that a mean value of the shape

$$\int_{-1/(2\delta)}^{1/(2\delta)} |f(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

counts asymptotically the number of integer solutions $1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P$ of the corresponding underlying inequality

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_t^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta} - \dots - x_{2t}^{\theta}| < \delta,$$

where $\delta > 0$. The idea is to exploit the Taylor expansion of the function $x \mapsto x^{\theta}$ to obtain an approximately TDI system. This idea seems to appear first in the work of Arkhipov and Zhitkov [1]. The new system is composed of an inhomogeneous Vinogradov system and a linear inequality. The degree of the Vinogradov system is dictated by the number of terms we consider in the asymptotic expansion, and is the same as the number of variables of the linear inequality, which arises naturally when we collect the smaller terms of the Taylor expansion. As one suspects, the height condition on the variables in the inequality is imposed by the vector that has as components the inhomogeneous side of the Vinogradov system. We follow the original approach of Arkhipov and Zhitkov and consider a degree k expansion where $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$. However, our treatment differs from that in [1, Lemma 3] in two aspects. Firstly, we encounter from the very beginning an exponential sum with a smooth phase, while in [1, Lemma 3] the authors deal with an exponential sum whose phase is the integer $\lfloor x^{\theta} \rfloor \in \mathbb{N}$. Secondly, and most important, our treatment is a refinement of that presented in [1, Lemma 3]. In the latter, the authors obtain an estimate which is $P^{1/2}$ away from the near optimal one. By contrast we establish an essentially optimal estimate in Theorem 2.1.4.

Lastly, a word concerning the set of trivial arcs. To deal with the set of trivial arcs, we split the range $|\alpha| \ge P^{\omega}$ into dyadic intervals of the shape $(2^j, 2^{j+1}]$, and use Theorem 2.1.4 to obtain a mean value estimate over such interval. The decay of the kernel functions K_{\pm} provides us with the necessary savings in the final summation.

2.3 An auxiliary mean value estimate

In this section we prove Theorem 2.1.4. To do so, we first collect some auxiliary results that we need in our proof.

For $t, k \in \mathbb{N}$ we define the mean value

$$J_{t,k}(P) = \int_{[0,1)^k} \left| \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_k x^k) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$

By orthogonality, one has that $J_{t,k}(P)$ counts the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\sum_{i=1}^{t} (x_i^j - x_{t+i}^j) = 0 \quad (1 \le j \le k),$$

with $\mathbf{x} \in [1, P]^{2t}$. The study of the mean value $J_{t,k}(P)$ goes back to the mid 1930's and Vinogradov [79]. The central problem here is to find upper bounds for $J_{t,k}(P)$. The Main Conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem, now a theorem after the work of Wooley [92] for k = 3, and Bourgain, Demeter and Guth [11], for $k \ge 4$, reads as follows.

Theorem 2.3.1. Suppose that $t \ge \frac{1}{2}k(k+1)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$J_{t,k}(P) \ll P^{t+\epsilon} + P^{2t - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1)}$$

Proof. See [95, Corollary 1.3]. An estimate weaker by a factor P^{ϵ} can be found in [92, Theorem 1.1] for k = 3 and in [11, Theorem 1.1] for $k \ge 4$.

In the proof of Theorem 2.1.4, we deal repeatedly with inequalities of the shape

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_t^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta} - \dots - x_{2t}^{\theta}| < \delta,$$
(2.3.1)

where $\delta > 0$ is a fixed real number. Due to the fact that θ is not an integer, one cannot count directly the solutions via the usual orthogonality relation over the interval [0, 1). As a surrogate, we make use of an auxiliary lemma which is a variant of [81, Lemma 2.1]. In order to state the lemma we first introduce some notation. Suppose that $I_1, I_2 \subset (0, \infty)$ are bounded intervals, and suppose further that $S \subset (0, \infty)^2$ is a bounded set of lattice points. We write $V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of inequality (2.3.1) with $x_1, x_{t+1} \in I_1$ and $x_i \in I_2$ for all $i \neq 1, t + 1$. Similarly, we write $V_t(S, I_2; \delta)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of inequality (2.3.1) with $(x_1, x_{t+1}) \in S$ and $x_i \in I_2$ for all $i \neq 1, t + 1$. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and i = 1, 2 we put $H_i(\alpha) = H(\alpha; I_i)$, where

$$H(\alpha; I_i) = \sum_{x \in I_i} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

Moreover, we write

$$H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) = \sum_{(x_1, x_{t+1}) \in \mathcal{S}} e\left(\alpha(x_1^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta})\right).$$

The lemma now reads as follows. We note here that if $I_1 = I_2$, then our result in (ii) is a special case of [81, Lemma 2.1] with K = 1 and $\omega = x^{\theta}$ in their notation.

Lemma 2.3.2. Define the number Δ via the relation $2\Delta\delta = 1$.

(i) One has

$$V_t(\mathcal{S}, I_2; \delta) \ll \delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$

(ii) One has

$$\delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta) \ll \delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$

The implicit constants in the above estimates are independent of I_1, I_2, S, θ and δ .

Proof. The argument proceeds as in [81, Lemma 2.1]. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we define the functions

 $K(\alpha) = \operatorname{sinc}^2(\alpha) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \Lambda(x) = \max\{0, 1 - |x|\},$

where recall from (2.1.8) the definition of the sinc function. It is well known, one may see for example in [29, Lemma 20.1], that for $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$K(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(-x\xi)\Lambda(x)dx \text{ and } \Lambda(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(x\xi)K(\xi)d\xi.$$
 (2.3.2)

We make use of Jordan's inequality, which states that for $0 < x \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$ one has

$$\frac{2}{\pi} \le \frac{\sin x}{x} < 1,$$

where the equality holds only if $x = \pi/2$. For a proof of this inequality see [48, p. 33]. Note here that for $|\alpha| < \frac{1}{2}$ one has $K(\alpha) > 4/\pi^2$.

For ease of notation we set

$$\sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x}) = x_1^{ heta} + \dots - x_{2t}^{ heta} \quad ext{ and } \quad \xi = rac{1}{2\delta} \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x}).$$

We first prove the upper bound in (i). Let **x** be a tuple counted by $V_t(S, I_2; \delta)$. By Jordan's inequality one has

$$\frac{\pi^2}{4}K(\xi) > 1.$$

Hence

$$V_t(\mathcal{S}, I_2; \delta) \le \frac{\pi^2}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{x}} K(\xi),$$

where the summation is over tuples **x** with $(x_1, x_{t+1}) \in S$ and $x_i \in I_2$ $(i \neq 1, t+1)$. Using now (2.3.2) and making a change of variables by setting $u = 2\delta\alpha$ we successively obtain

$$V_t\left(\mathcal{S}, I_2; \delta\right) \leq \frac{\pi^2}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(u\xi) \Lambda(-u) \mathrm{d}u = \frac{\pi^2 \delta}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})) \Lambda(-2\delta \alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

One can interchange the order of integration with that of summation. This is valid since the integral is absolutely convergent and we have a finite sum. Note here that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{x}} e(\alpha \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})) = H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2}.$$

Moreover, for $|\alpha| > \frac{1}{2\delta}$ one has $\Lambda(-2\delta\alpha) = 0$. Hence by the triangle inequality we conclude

that

$$\begin{split} V_t\left(\mathcal{S}, I_2; \delta\right) &\leq \frac{\pi^2 \delta}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \Lambda(-2\delta\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \\ &\ll \delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \mathrm{d}\alpha. \end{split}$$

Next we prove (ii). In order to establish the upper bound one may argue as in (i), whereas now we make use of the product $H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2}$. We give the proof of the lower bound. Let **x** be a tuple counted by $V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta)$. Then one has

$$0 < \Lambda(2\xi) < 1.$$

Thus, summing over **x** with $x_1, x_2 \in I_1$ and $x_i \in I_2$ $(i \neq 1, t+1)$, and using (2.3.2) we obtain

$$V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta) \ge \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \Lambda(2\xi).$$

Invoking again (2.3.2) and making a change of variables by setting $u=\delta \alpha$ we successively obtain

$$V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta) \ge \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(2u\xi) K(u) du = \delta \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha \sigma_{t, \theta}(\mathbf{x})) K(\delta \alpha) d\alpha.$$

Since we assume that $x_1, x_{t+1} \in I_1$ one has

$$\sum_{\mathbf{x}} e(\alpha \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})) = \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right|.$$

Changing the order of summation and integration the preceding inequality now delivers

$$V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta) \ge \delta \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| K(\delta\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.3.3)

Next, using again Jordan's inequality and the positivity of the integrand we obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| K(\delta\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \ge \frac{4}{\pi^2} \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

Incorporating the above into (2.3.3) yields

$$V_t(I_1, I_2; \delta) \gg \delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| H_1(\alpha)^2 H_2(\alpha)^{2t-2} \right| \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

which completes the proof.

From now on we set $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$ and for $1 \leq j \leq k$ we define the binomial coefficients

$$b_j = \begin{pmatrix} \theta \\ j \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\theta(\theta - 1) \cdots (\theta - j + 1)}{j!}.$$

For a tuple $\mathbf{h} = (h_1, \dots, h_k) \in \mathbb{Z}^k$ we write $\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h}) = \mathcal{H}(h_1, \dots, h_k)$ to denote the expression

$$\mathcal{H}(h_1, \dots, h_k) = b_1 P^{\theta - 1} h_1 + \dots + b_k P^{\theta - k} h_k.$$
(2.3.4)

Lemma 2.3.3. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral. Let $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$, and let t be a given natural number. Suppose that $P \ge k^{2k}$ is a real number. We write T(P) to denote the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h})| \le 2t$$

in the variables h_j , satisfying $|h_j| \le t P^{j/2}$ $(1 \le j \le k)$. Then one has

$$T(P) \le 4(8t)^k P^{\frac{k(k+1)}{4} - \theta + \frac{1}{2}}.$$

Proof. This is [1, Lemma 1].

For technical reasons it is more convenient to work with exponential sums over dyadic intervals. For a positive real number X we write $g(\alpha) = g(\alpha; P)$ to denote the exponential sum

$$g(\alpha; P) = \sum_{P < x \le 2P} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$
(2.3.5)

We are now equipped to prove the key estimate of this chapter. The following is a variant of Theorem 2.1.4, where now we are dealing with the exponential sum g. One may recover Theorem 2.1.4 by splitting the interval [1, P] into $O(\log P)$ dyadic intervals and then apply the theorem below.

Theorem 2.3.4. Let $\kappa \ge 1$ be a real number. Suppose that $t \ge \frac{1}{2}(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} |g(\alpha)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \kappa P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon}.$$

We emphasize here, that the implicit constant depends on ϵ , θ , and t, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

Proof. We set I = (P, 2P]. Apply Lemma 2.3.2 with $I_1 = I_2 = I$ and $\delta = \frac{1}{2\kappa}$. So, one has

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} |g(\alpha)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll V_t\left(I; \frac{1}{2\kappa}\right),\tag{2.3.6}$$

where $V_t\left(I; \frac{1}{2\kappa}\right)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_t^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta} - \dots - x_{2t}^{\theta}| < \frac{1}{2\kappa},$$

with $P < \mathbf{x} \le 2P$. Since $\kappa \ge 1$ we plainly have that

$$V_t\left(I;\frac{1}{2\kappa}\right) \le V_t\left(I;\frac{1}{2}\right),$$

where $V_t\left(I; \frac{1}{2}\right)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_t^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta} - \dots - x_{2t}^{\theta}| < \frac{1}{2},$$

with $P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2P$. Hence by (2.3.6) we obtain that

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} |g(\alpha)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \kappa V_t\left(I; \frac{1}{2}\right). \tag{2.3.7}$$

We define the interval

$$\widetilde{I} = (P, P + (\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1)\sqrt{P}].$$

Note that $I \subset \widetilde{I}$. Moreover, for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we write

$$\widetilde{g}(a) = \sum_{x \in \widetilde{I}} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

It is apparent that $V_t(I; \frac{1}{2})$ is bounded above by the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{t} (x_i^{\theta} - x_{t+i}^{\theta})\right| < \frac{1}{2},$$

with $x_1, x_{t+1} \in I$ and $x_i, x_{t+i} \in \widetilde{I}$ $(i \neq 1, t+1)$. Denote this number by $V_t(I, \widetilde{I}; \frac{1}{2})$.

Apply now Lemma 2.3.2 with $I_1 = I$ and $I_2 = \widetilde{I}$. So, one has

$$V_t\left(I,\widetilde{I};\frac{1}{2}\right) \ll \int_{-1}^1 |g(\alpha)|^2 |\widetilde{g}(\alpha)|^{2t-2} \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.3.8)

Putting together (2.3.8) and the fact that $V_t\left(I; \frac{1}{2}\right) \leq V_t\left(I, \widetilde{I}; \frac{1}{2}\right)$ reveals that

$$V_t\left(I;\frac{1}{2}\right) \ll \int_{-1}^1 |g(\alpha)|^2 |\widetilde{g}(\alpha)|^{2t-2} \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.3.9)

Our aim now is to bound the mean value on the right hand side of (2.3.9). For a natural number $\ell \geq 1$ we write

$$P_{\ell} = P + (\ell - 1)\sqrt{P}, \qquad (2.3.10)$$

and set $\tilde{I}_{\ell} = (P_{\ell}, P_{\ell+1}]$. Note that \tilde{I}_{ℓ} forms a cover of the interval \tilde{I} consisting of subintervals of length \sqrt{P} . We record this in the following inclusion

$$I \subset \widetilde{I} \subset \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1} \widetilde{I}_{\ell}.$$
(2.3.11)

For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we now set

$$\widetilde{g}_{\ell}(\alpha) = \sum_{x \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell}} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

Incorporating the exponential sum $\tilde{g}_{\ell}(\alpha)$, we deduce by the triangle inequality followed by an

application of Hölder's inequality that

$$\begin{split} \int_{-1}^{1} |g(\alpha)|^{2} |\widetilde{g}(\alpha)|^{2t-2} \mathrm{d}\alpha &\leq \int_{-1}^{1} |g(\alpha)|^{2} \left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1} |\widetilde{g}_{\ell}(\alpha)| \right)^{2t-2} \mathrm{d}\alpha \\ &\leq \left(\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1 \right)^{2t-3} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1} \int_{-1}^{1} |g(\alpha)|^{2} |\widetilde{g}_{\ell}(\alpha)|^{2t-2} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha. \end{split}$$

Invoking (2.3.9), we infer that for some ℓ_0 with $1 \le \ell_0 \le \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1$ one has

$$V_t\left(I;\frac{1}{2}\right) \ll \left(\left\lfloor\sqrt{P}\right\rfloor + 1\right)^{2t-2} \int_{-1}^{1} |g(\alpha)|^2 \left|\widetilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)\right|^{2t-2} \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

$$\ll P^{t-1} \int_{-1}^{1} |g(\alpha)|^2 \left|\widetilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)\right|^{2t-2} \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.3.12)

We now turn our attention to the mean value on the right hand side of (2.3.12). One can apply Lemma 2.3.2 with $I_1 = I$ and $I_2 = \tilde{I}_{\ell_0}$. Then one has that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |g(\alpha)|^2 |\tilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)|^{2t-2} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll V_t\left(I, \tilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \frac{1}{2}\right), \tag{2.3.13}$$

where $V_t\left(I,\widetilde{I}_{\ell_0};rac{1}{2}
ight)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$\left| x_1^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta} + \sum_{i=2}^{t} (x_i^{\theta} - x_{t+i}^{\theta}) \right| < \frac{1}{2},$$
(2.3.14)

with $x_1, x_{t+1} \in I$ and $x_i \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}$ $(i \neq 1, t+1)$.

Recall that $\widetilde{I}_{\ell_0} = (P_{\ell_0}, P_{\ell_0+1}]$, where $P_{\ell_0} = P + (\ell_0 - 1)\sqrt{P}$. For each index $i \neq 1, t+1$ we set

$$y_i = x_i - P_{\ell_0}.$$

Clearly one has $0 < y_i \leq \sqrt{P}$. Upon noting that $P \gg P_{\ell_0} \gg \sqrt{P}$, an application of the mean value theorem of differential calculus yields for each index $i \neq 1, t+1$, that

$$|x_i^{\theta} - x_{t+i}^{\theta}| = \left| (y_i + P_{\ell_0})^{\theta} - (y_{t+i} + P_{\ell_0})^{\theta} \right| \asymp P_{\ell_0}^{\theta-1} |y_i - y_{t+i}| \ll P^{\theta-1/2}.$$

By the triangle inequality, the above estimate leads to

$$\left| \sum_{\substack{i=2\\x_i \in \tilde{I}_\ell}}^t (x_i^\theta - x_{t+i}^\theta) \right| \ll P^{\theta - 1/2}.$$

Invoking (2.3.14) we now have that $|x_1^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta}| \ll P^{\theta-1/2}$. On the other hand, an application of the mean value theorem of differential calculus yields $|x_1^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta}| \asymp |x_1 - x_{t+1}|P^{\theta-1}$. Thus, we can conclude that $|x_1 - x_{t+1}| \ll \sqrt{P}$. One can rewrite this asymptotic estimate in the shape $|x_1 - x_{t+1}| \leq C_1 \sqrt{P}$, where $C_1 > 0$ is a real number that depends at most on t and θ . In view

of this new constraint one can return to inequality (2.3.14) and count solutions subject to the constraints

$$x_1, x_{t+1} \in I, \quad |x_1 - x_{t+1}| \le C_1 \sqrt{P}, \quad \text{and} \quad x_i \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0} \ (i \ne 1, t+1).$$
 (2.3.15)

The points x_1, x_{t+1} belong to the interval *I*. Recalling the inclusion (2.3.11) we have that there are indices ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 for which

$$P_{\ell_1} < x_1 \le P_{\ell_1+1}$$
 and $P_{\ell_2} < x_{t+1} \le P_{\ell_2+1}$.

Then, combining (2.3.15) with the definition (2.3.10) of P_{ℓ} and using the fact that for each index ℓ we have $P_{\ell+1} - P_{\ell} = \sqrt{P}$, one can deduce that

$$C_1\sqrt{P} \ge |x_1 - x_{t+1}| \ge |P_{\ell_1} - P_{\ell_2}| - \sqrt{P} \ge (|\ell_1 - \ell_2| - 1)\sqrt{P}.$$

From the above computation we obtain that $|\ell_1 - \ell_2| \leq C_1 + 1$.

We now bound from above the number of integer solutions of the inequality (2.3.14) under the constraint (2.3.15). To do so, we make use of appropriate generating functions. We write $S \subset I \times I$ for the set of lattice points $x_1, x_{t+1} \in I$ which satisfy $|x_1 - x_{t+1}| \leq C_1 \sqrt{P}$. By Lemma 2.3.2 with S as above, $I_2 = \tilde{I}_{\ell_0}$ and $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$ one has

$$V_t\left(I, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \frac{1}{2}\right) \ll \int_{-1}^1 |H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) \widetilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)^{2t-2} |\mathbf{d}\alpha,$$
(2.3.16)

where

$$H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha) = \sum_{(x_1, x_{t+1}) \in \mathcal{S}} e(\alpha(x_1^{\theta} - x_{t+1}^{\theta})).$$

One can tile $S \subset I \times I$ by invoking the cover $(\widetilde{I}_{\ell})_{\ell}$. Taking into account our previous conclusion that $|\ell_1 - \ell_2| \leq C_1 + 1$ we infer that

$$|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha)| \ll \sum_{\ell_1=1}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor+1} \sum_{\substack{\ell_2=1\\ |\ell_1-\ell_2| \le C_1+1}}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor+1} |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_1}(\alpha)| |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_2}(\alpha)|.$$

Hence, for some $1 \leq \ell_1, \ell_2 \leq \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1$ one has

$$|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\alpha)| \ll P^{\frac{1}{2}} |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_1}(\alpha)| |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_2}(\alpha)|.$$

One can now bound above the right hand side of (2.3.16). So we infer that

$$V_t\left(I, \tilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \frac{1}{2}\right) \ll P^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-1}^{1} |\tilde{g}_{\ell_1}(\alpha) \tilde{g}_{\ell_2}(\alpha) \tilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)^{2t-2} |\mathbf{d}\alpha.$$
(2.3.17)

Invoking the elementary inequality $|z_1 \cdots z_n| \ll |z_1|^n + \cdots + |z_n|^n$, which is valid for all complex numbers, one has that

$$|\widetilde{g}_{\ell_1}(\alpha)\widetilde{g}_{\ell_2}(\alpha)\widetilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)^{2t-2}| \ll |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_1}(\alpha)|^{2t} + |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_2}(\alpha)|^{2t} + |\widetilde{g}_{\ell_0}(\alpha)|^{2t}.$$

Hence, (2.3.17) delivers the estimate

$$V_t\left(I,\widetilde{I}_{\ell_0};\frac{1}{2}\right) \ll P^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-1}^1 |\widetilde{g}_\ell(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

where ℓ is one of the indices ℓ_1, ℓ_2, ℓ_0 . Incorporating this estimate into (2.3.13) and recalling (2.3.12), we deduce that

$$V_t\left(I;\frac{1}{2}\right) \ll P^{t-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-1}^{1} |\widetilde{g}_{\ell}(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
 (2.3.18)

We emphasize here that our choice of $1 \leq \ell \leq \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1$ is now fixed.

In view of (2.3.7) our aim in the rest of the proof is to bound the mean value appearing on the right hand side of (2.3.18). Appealing to Lemma 2.3.2 with $I_1 = I_2 = \tilde{I}_\ell$ and $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$ one has

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |\widetilde{g}_{\ell}(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll V_t\left(\widetilde{I}_{\ell}; \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad (2.3.19)$$

where $V_t\left(\widetilde{I}_\ell; rac{1}{2}
ight)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$\left|x_{1}^{\theta} + \dots + x_{t}^{\theta} - (x_{t+1}^{\theta} + \dots + x_{2t}^{\theta})\right| < \frac{1}{2},$$
 (2.3.20)

with $x_i \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell}$. From now on we essentially follow [1, Lemma 3]. We set $Q_{\ell} = \lfloor P_{\ell} \rfloor$ and define $y_i = x_i - Q_{\ell}$ $(1 \le i \le 2t)$. Note that

$$0 < y_i < \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1 < Q_\ell$$

This observation is immediate since by the definitions of P_ℓ and Q_ℓ one has

$$0 \le P_{\ell} - \lfloor P_{\ell} \rfloor < y_i \le P_{\ell+1} - \lfloor P_{\ell} \rfloor = P_{\ell} - \lfloor P_{\ell} \rfloor + \sqrt{P} \le 1 + \sqrt{P} < Q_{\ell}.$$
 (2.3.21)

Then inequality (2.3.20) takes the shape

$$\left| (y_1 + Q_\ell)^{\theta} + \dots + (y_t + Q_\ell)^{\theta} - (y_{t+1} + Q_\ell)^{\theta} - \dots (y_{2t} + Q_\ell)^{\theta} \right| < \frac{1}{2},$$

or equivalently,

$$Q_{\ell}^{\theta} \left| \left(1 + \frac{y_1}{Q_{\ell}} \right)^{\theta} + \dots + \left(1 + \frac{y_t}{Q_{\ell}} \right)^{\theta} - \left(1 + \frac{y_{t+1}}{Q_{\ell}} \right)^{\theta} - \dots - \left(1 + \frac{y_{2t}}{Q_{\ell}} \right)^{\theta} \right| < \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (2.3.22)

We consider the function $h: (0,1) \to \mathbb{R}$ with $h(z) = (1+z)^{\theta}$. Then, a Taylor expansion up to the $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$ term around the point $z_0 = 0$ yields

$$h(z) = h(0) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{h^{(j)}(0)}{j!} z^{j} + r_{k}(z) = 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k} b_{j} z^{j} + r_{k}(z),$$

where recall that

$$b_j = \begin{pmatrix} \theta \\ j \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\theta(\theta - 1) \cdots (\theta - j + 1)}{j!},$$

is the *j*-th combinatorial coefficient of the expansion. Here $r_k(z)$ denotes the remainder term. In Lagrange's form, the remainder term takes the shape

$$r_k(z) = \frac{h^{(k+1)}(c)}{(k+1)!} z^{k+1} = b_{k+1}(1+c)^{\theta-k-1} z^{k+1}.$$

for some 0 < c < z. Upon nothing that 1 + c > 1 and $\theta - k - 1 < 0$ we obtain

$$|r_k(z)| \le |b_{k+1}| |z|^{k+1}, \tag{2.3.23}$$

For each index $1 \le i \le 2t$ we write $z_i = y_i/Q_\ell$. In view of (2.3.21), one has $0 < z_i < 1$. By (2.3.21) it follows that for P sufficiently large one has $0 < z_i < \frac{2}{\sqrt{P}}$. Indeed, this follows immediately upon writing

$$z_i = \frac{y_i}{Q_\ell} \le \frac{\sqrt{P} + 1}{\lfloor P_\ell \rfloor} < \frac{\sqrt{P} + 1}{P_\ell - 1} < \frac{2}{\sqrt{P}}$$

Thus, (2.3.23) with $z = z_i$ delivers the following upper bound for the error term

$$|r_k(z_i)| \le |b_{k+1}| \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{P}}\right)^{k+1}$$

= $|b_{k+1}| 2^{k+1} P^{-\frac{k+1}{2}}.$ (2.3.24)

Expanding each term occurring in (2.3.22), we obtain that

$$Q_{\ell}^{\theta} \left(1 + \frac{y_i}{Q_{\ell}}\right)^{\theta} = Q_{\ell}^{\theta} \left(1 + b_1 \left(\frac{y_i}{Q_{\ell}}\right) + \dots + b_k \left(\frac{y_i}{Q_{\ell}}\right)^k + r_k \left(\frac{y_i}{Q_{\ell}}\right)\right)$$

$$= Q_{\ell}^{\theta} + b_1 Q_{\ell}^{\theta-1} y_1 + \dots + b_k Q_{\ell}^{\theta-k} y_i^k + Q_{\ell}^{\theta} r_k \left(\frac{y_i}{Q_{\ell}}\right).$$
(2.3.25)

For large P one has $Q_{\ell} \leq 2P$. So, by (2.3.24) and since $k + 1 = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2 > 2\theta$, we infer that as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$\left| Q_{\ell}^{\theta} r_{k} \left(\frac{y_{i}}{Q_{\ell}} \right) \right| \leq |b_{k+1}| 2^{k+1} P^{-\frac{k+1}{2}} (2P)^{\theta}$$
$$= |b_{k+1}| 2^{k+1+\theta} P^{\theta - \frac{k+1}{2}}$$
$$= o(1).$$

Consequently, when P is large enough in terms of k one has for each index $1 \le i \le 2t$ that

$$\left|Q_{\ell}^{\theta}r_{k}\left(\frac{y_{i}}{Q_{\ell}}\right)\right| \leq \frac{1}{4t}.$$
(2.3.26)

Substituting the asymptotic expansion (2.3.25) into (2.3.22) and taking into account (2.3.26) together with the symmetry of the inequality, we deduce that the number of integer solutions

of the inequality (2.3.22) is bounded above by the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$\left|\sum_{j=1}^{k} b_j Q_{\ell}^{\theta-j} \left(y_1^j + \dots + y_t^j - y_{t+1}^j - \dots - y_{2t}^j \right) \right| < \frac{2t}{4t} + \frac{1}{2} = 1.$$

Rearranging the terms in the summation on the left hand side of the above expression, we can rewrite the last inequality in an equivalent form as

$$\left| b_1 Q_{\ell}^{\theta-1} \sum_{i=1}^t (y_i - y_{t+i}) + \dots + b_k Q_{\ell}^{\theta-k} \sum_{i=1}^t (y_i^k - y_{t+i}^k) \right| < 1.$$
 (2.3.27)

The number of integer solutions of the inequality (2.3.27) with $0 < y_i < 1 + \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor$ is bounded above by the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| b_1 Q_{\ell}^{\theta-1} h_1 + \dots + b_k Q_{\ell}^{\theta-k} h_k \right| < 1 \\ \sum_{i=1}^t (y_i^j - y_{t+i}^j) = h_j \quad (1 \le j \le k) \end{cases}$$

$$(2.3.28)$$

with $0 < y_i \leq Y$ where $Y = 1 + \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor$. We denote this counting function by $Z_{t,k}(Y; \mathbf{h})$. Note that the integers h_j satisfy the relation $|h_j| \leq tY^j$ $(1 \leq j \leq k)$.

We write $J_{t,k}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the inhomogeneous Vinogradov system

$$\sum_{i=1}^{t} (y_i^j - y_{t+i}^j) = h_j \qquad (1 \le j \le k),$$

with $0 < y_i \leq Y$. By orthogonality one has

$$J_{t,k}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right) = \int_{[0,1)^k} \left| \sum_{0 < y_i \le Y} e(\alpha_1 y + \dots + \alpha_k y^k) \right|^{2t} e(-\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{h}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha},$$

where as usual $\alpha \cdot \mathbf{h}$ stands for $\alpha_1 h_1 + \cdots + \alpha_k h_k$. By the triangle inequality and in view of Theorem 2.3.1 one has for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ that

$$J_{t,k}(Y;\mathbf{h}) \le J_{t,k}(Y) \ll Y^{2t - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \epsilon}.$$
(2.3.29)

Recall now the definition (2.3.4) of the expression \mathcal{H} . Returning our attention to the system (2.3.28) we see that

$$Z_{t,k}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right) \ll \sum_{\substack{|h_{j}| \leq tY^{j} \\ 1 \leq j \leq k \\ |\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h})| < 1}} J_{t,k}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right),$$

which by the triangle inequality leads to

$$Z_{t,k}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right) \ll J_{t,k}\left(Y\right) \sum_{\substack{|h_j| \le tY^j \\ 1 \le j \le k \\ |\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h})| < 1}} 1.$$

$$(2.3.30)$$

Recall now that $Y = 1 + \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor \ll \sqrt{P}$. One may estimate the sum on the right hand side of (2.3.30) by using Lemma 2.3.3. Hence, appealing to (2.3.29) and Lemma 2.3.3 the estimate (2.3.30) now delivers

$$Z_{t,k}(Y; \mathbf{h}) \ll Y^{2t - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \epsilon} \cdot P^{\frac{1}{4}k(k+1) - \theta + \frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\ll P^{t - \theta + \frac{1}{2} + \epsilon}.$$
(2.3.31)

Putting together (2.3.31), (2.3.19), and (2.3.18) we deduce that

$$V_t\left(I;\frac{1}{2}\right) \ll P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon}$$

which in view of (2.3.7) completes the proof of the theorem.

It is convenient for the rest of the analysis to have in hand an estimate for the dilated exponential sum $f_i(\alpha) = f(\lambda_i \alpha)$.

Corollary 2.3.5. Let λ be a fixed real number. Suppose that κ is a real number such that $\kappa |\lambda| \ge 1$. Suppose further that $t \ge \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has that

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \left| f(\lambda \alpha) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \kappa P^{2t - \theta + \epsilon}.$$

The implicit constant depends on ϵ , λ , t, and θ , but not on κ and P.

Proof. Using the fact that $f(-\alpha) = \overline{f(\alpha)}$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and changing variables, we see that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^{\kappa} |f(\lambda \alpha)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha &= \int_0^{\kappa} |f(|\lambda|\alpha)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha = \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_0^{\kappa|\lambda|} |f(u)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}u \\ &\ll \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{-\kappa|\lambda|}^{\kappa|\lambda|} |f(u)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}u. \end{split}$$

Invoking Theorem 2.1.4 we are now done.

2.4 Minor arcs analysis

We begin the analysis of the analytical representation (2.2.11) with the contribution coming from the minor arcs. Recall that this set is given by

$$\mathfrak{m} = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : P^{-\theta + \delta_0} \le |\alpha| < P^{\omega} \right\}.$$

Define the intervals $\mathfrak{m}^+ = [P^{-\theta+\delta_0}, P^{\omega})$ and $\mathfrak{m}^- = (-P^{\omega}, -P^{-\theta+\delta_0}]$ and note that $\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}^+ \cup \mathfrak{m}^-$. One has $f_i(-\alpha) = \overline{f_i(\alpha)}$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, the kernel functions $K_{\pm}(\alpha)$ are real valued and even. Recall (2.2.10). By a change of variables one has

$$R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{m}^{-}) = R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{m}^{+}), \qquad (2.4.1)$$

where $\overline{R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{m}^+)}$ stands for the complex conjugate. Therefore, it suffices to deal with the set \mathfrak{m}^+ .

We make use of the following variant of van der Corput's k-th derivative test, for bounding exponential sums.

Lemma 2.4.1. Let $q \ge 0$ be an integer. Suppose that $f : (X, 2X] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function having continuous derivatives up to the (q + 2)-th order in (X, 2X]. Suppose also there is some F > 0, such that for all $x \in (X, 2X]$ we have

$$FX^{-r} \ll |f^{(r)}(x)| \ll FX^{-r},$$
(2.4.2)

for r = 1, 2, ..., q + 2. Then we have

$$\sum_{X < x \le 2X} e(f(x)) \ll F^{1/(2^{q+2}-2)} X^{1-(q+2)/(2^{q+2}-2)} + F^{-1}X,$$

with the implied constant depending only upon the implied constants in (2.4.2).

Proof. See [43, Theorem 2.9].

Recall that in (2.3.5) we defined the exponential sum $g(\alpha) = g(\alpha; P)$ by

$$g(\alpha; P) = \sum_{P < x \le 2P} e(\alpha x^{\theta}).$$

We put $g_i(\alpha) = g(\lambda_i \alpha)$ $(1 \le i \le s)$. Below we give a crude non-trivial upper bound for the exponential sum $f_i(\alpha)$ when $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}^+$. We emphasize here that one can certainly improve this estimate. However, for our purposes the saving we obtain is sufficient.

Lemma 2.4.2. For each index $1 \le i \le s$ one has for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ that

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}^+} |f_i(\alpha)| \ll P^{1-4^{-\theta}+\epsilon}.$$
(2.4.3)

Proof. Fix an index *i*. It suffices to show that

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}^+} |g_i(\alpha)| \ll P^{1-4^{-\theta}}.$$

Then one may split the interval [1,P] into $O\left(\log P\right)$ dyadic intervals and the desired conclusion follows.

We set $\phi(x) = \lambda_i \alpha x^{\theta}$. For each integer $r \ge 1$ one has $\phi^{(r)}(x) = C_r \alpha x^{\theta-r}$, where we put $C_r = \lambda_i \theta(\theta - 1) \cdots (\theta - r + 1)$. It is apparent that for $P < x \le 2P$ one has

$$\left|\phi^{(r)}(x)\right| \asymp FP^{-r},$$

where $F=|C_r||\alpha|P^{\theta}.$ For $\alpha\in\mathfrak{m}^+=\left[P^{-\theta+\delta_0},P^{\omega}\right)$ one has

$$|C_r|P^{\delta_0} \le F < |C_r|P^{\theta+\omega}.$$

We apply Lemma 2.4.1 with q = n, where $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$ in the integer part of θ . This yields that for any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has

$$|g_i(\alpha; X)| \ll P^{1-\eta} + P^{1-\delta_0},$$

where

$$\eta = \frac{n+2-\theta-\omega}{2^{n+2}-2}.$$

Upon recalling (2.2.9) one may easily verify that $\eta > 4^{-\theta}$ which completes the proof.

By (2.2.4) one has $|K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \ll 1$. An application of Hölder's inequality reveals that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \left(\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} |f_1(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha\right)^{1/s} \cdots \left(\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} |f_s(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha\right)^{1/s}$$

We set $\kappa = P^{\omega}$. Note that for large enough P one has $P^{\omega}|\lambda_i| \ge 1$. Combining Corollary 2.3.5 and the upper bound recorded in (2.4.3) we deduce that for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} |f_i(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \left(\sup_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}^+} |f_i(\alpha)| \right)^{s-2t} \int_{-P^\omega}^{P^\omega} |f_i(\alpha)|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha$$
$$\ll P^{s-\theta} \cdot P^{-4^{-\theta}(s-2t)+\omega+\epsilon(s-2t+1)}.$$

provided that $s > 2t \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$. Choosing $\epsilon = 5^{-100\theta} > 0$ as we are at liberty to do, and recalling from (2.2.9) that $\omega \le 5^{-100\theta}$, we infer that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} |f_i(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-\theta} \cdot P^{-4^{-\theta}(s-2t)+4^{-2\theta}(s-2t+2)} = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right) \cdot P^{-4^{-\theta}(s-2t+2)} = o\left(P^$$

In the light of (2.4.1) we have established the following.

Lemma 2.4.3. One has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$

provided $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$.

2.5 Trivial arcs analysis

In this section we deal with the set of trivial arcs. Recall that this set is given by

$$\mathfrak{t} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha| \ge P^{\omega} \}.$$

Define $\mathfrak{t}^+ = [P^{\omega}, \infty)$ and $\mathfrak{t}^- = (-\infty, -P^{\omega}]$ and note that $\mathfrak{t} = \mathfrak{t}^+ \cup \mathfrak{t}^-$. Recall (2.2.10). A change of variables as in §2.4 yields

$$R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{t}^{-}) = \overline{R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{t}^{+})}.$$
(2.5.1)

Hence it suffices to deal with the set \mathfrak{t}^+ . By (2.2.4) with h=1 one has that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{t}^+} |f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \sum_{j=\lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor}^{\infty} \frac{(\log P)}{2^{2j}} \int_{2^j}^{2^{j+1}} |f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.5.2)

An application of Hölder's inequality yields

$$\int_{2^{j}}^{2^{j+1}} |f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s} \int_{2^{j}}^{2^{j+1}} |f_i(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha\right)^{1/s}.$$
(2.5.3)

Define $s_0 = (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ and note that s_0 is even. In making the trivial estimate

$$|f_i(\alpha)| = O\left(P\right)$$

it follows that

$$\int_{2^{j}}^{2^{j+1}} |f_i(\alpha)|^s \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-s_0} \int_{2^{j}}^{2^{j+1}} |f_i(\alpha)|^{s_0} \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

provided $s \ge s_0$. For sufficiently large P and for $j \ge \lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor + 1$ one has $2^{j+1} |\lambda_i| \ge 1$ for each index i. Invoking Corollary 2.3.5 the above estimate yields that for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{2^j}^{2^{j+1}} |f_i(\alpha)|^s \mathbf{d}\alpha \ll 2^{j+1} P^{s-\theta+\epsilon} \qquad (1 \le i \le s)$$

By (2.5.2) and (2.5.3) we infer that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{t}^+} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-\theta+\epsilon} \sum_{j=\lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^j}$$

Clearly one has

$$\sum_{j=\lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^j} \ll P^{-\omega}$$

Hence by choosing $\epsilon=\frac{\omega}{2}>0$ the previous estimate delivers

$$\int_{\mathfrak{t}^+} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s-\theta-\frac{\omega}{2}} = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$

In the light of (2.5.1) we have established the following.

Lemma 2.5.1. One has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{t}} |f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right),$$

provided $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2).$

2.6 Major arc analysis and the asymptotic formula

Now we deal with the contribution of the major arc

$$\mathfrak{M} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha| < P^{-\theta + \delta_0} \}$$

around zero. The corresponding analytical approximations for the generating functions $f_i(\alpha)$ are given by a^P

$$v_i(\alpha) = v(\lambda_i \alpha) = \int_0^P e(\lambda_i \alpha \gamma^{\theta}) d\gamma \qquad (1 \le i \le s).$$
(2.6.1)

An application of partial summation delivers

$$f_i(\alpha) - v_i(\alpha) = O\left(1 + P^{\theta}|\alpha|\right),$$

uniformly for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus for $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M}$ one has

$$f_i(\alpha) - v_i(\alpha) \ll P^{\delta_0}.$$

The above estimate in combination with the trivial bounds $|f_i(\alpha)|, |v_i(\alpha)| \leq P$ and the telescoping sum

$$f_1 \cdots f_s - v_1 \cdots v_s = \sum_{i=1}^s f_1 \cdots f_{i-1} (f_i - v_i) v_{i+1} \cdots v_s,$$

reveals that for $\alpha\in\mathfrak{M}$ one has

$$f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha) - v_1(\alpha)\cdots v_s(\alpha) \ll O(P^{s-1+\delta_0}).$$

Integrating over \mathfrak{M} yields

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha - \int_{\mathfrak{M}} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha \ll \int_{\mathfrak{M}} P^{s-1+\delta_0} d\alpha$$
$$= P^{s-1+\delta_0} \operatorname{meas}\left(\mathfrak{M}\right) \qquad (2.6.2)$$
$$\approx P^{s-\theta-1+2\delta_0}.$$

where in the last step we used the fact meas $(\mathfrak{M}) \simeq P^{-\theta+\delta_0}$. By (2.2.4) one has $|K_{\pm}(\alpha)| \ll 1$. Using integration by parts one has

$$v_i(\alpha) \ll \min\{P, |\alpha|^{-1/\theta}\} \ll \frac{P}{(1+P^{\theta}|\alpha|)^{1/\theta}} \quad (1 \le i \le s).$$
 (2.6.3)

So we deduce that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus\mathfrak{M}} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \int_{|\alpha| > P^{-\theta + \delta_0}} |\alpha|^{-s/\theta} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{s - \theta - \delta_0(s/\theta - 1)}, \qquad (2.6.4)$$

where in the last step we used the hypothesis $s > 2\theta$.

The singular integral of our problem is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(2.6.5)

Note that by (2.2.4) and (2.6.3) the integral \mathcal{I}_{\pm} is well defined and absolutely convergent. Combining (2.6.2) and (2.6.4) and since $2\delta_0 < 1$, we see that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha + o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$
(2.6.6)

For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we put

$$\Phi(\alpha) = v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) = \int_{[0,P]^s} e\left(\alpha(\lambda_1 \gamma_1^{\theta} + \cdots + \lambda_s \gamma_s^{\theta})\right) d\boldsymbol{\gamma}.$$
(2.6.7)

In view of (2.6.3) we see that Φ is an integrable function. Making a change of variables by putting $\gamma_i = P\left(\beta_i |\lambda_i|^{-1}\right)^{1/\theta} \ (1 \le i \le s)$ yields

$$\Phi(\alpha) = \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} \int_{\mathcal{B}} (\beta_1 \cdots \beta_s)^{1/\theta - 1} e\left(\alpha P^{\theta}(\sigma_1 \beta_1 + \cdots + \sigma_s \beta_s)\right) \mathrm{d}\beta, \quad (2.6.8)$$

where $\sigma_i = \lambda_i / |\lambda_i| \in \{\pm 1\}$ are not all equal and $\mathcal{B} = [0, |\lambda_1|] \times \cdots \times [0, |\lambda_s|]$. Let $\widetilde{\beta} \in \mathbb{R}$ be a parameter. We now write $\mathcal{U}(\widetilde{\beta}) = \mathcal{U}(\widetilde{\beta}; \lambda) \subset \mathbb{R}^{s-1}$ for the domain defined through the linear inequalities

$$0 \le \beta_i \le |\lambda_i| \quad (1 \le i \le s - 1), \qquad 0 \le \widetilde{\beta} - \sigma_s \sigma_1 \beta_1 - \dots - \sigma_s \sigma_{s-1} \beta_{s-1} \le |\lambda_s|.$$

We set

$$\Psi_0(\widetilde{\beta}) = \int_{\mathcal{U}(\widetilde{\beta})} \left(\widetilde{\beta} - \sigma_s \sigma_1 \beta_1 - \dots - \sigma_s \sigma_{s-1} \beta_{s-1} \right)^{1/\theta - 1} (\beta_1 \cdots \beta_{s-1})^{1/\theta - 1} \mathbf{d}\beta_1 \cdots \mathbf{d}\beta_{s-1}.$$

For $\widetilde{\beta}\in[0,|\lambda_s|]$ the map $\widetilde{\beta}\mapsto\Psi_0(\widetilde{\beta})$ defines a non-negative and continuous function. Put

$$\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) = \begin{cases} \Psi_0(\widetilde{\beta}), & \text{ if } \quad \widetilde{\beta} \in [0, |\lambda_s|], \\ \\ 0, & \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.6.9)

Note that $\Psi(\widetilde{\beta})$ is a non-negative and compactly supported function defined over \mathbb{R} , which has precisely two points of discontinuity, at $\widetilde{\beta} = 0$, $|\lambda_s|$. We set

$$\widetilde{\beta} = \beta_s + \sigma_1 \sigma_s \beta_1 + \dots + \sigma_{s-1} \sigma_s \beta_{s-1}.$$

Replace in (2.6.8) the variable β_s by $\tilde{\beta}$. Letting now $\tilde{\beta}$ vary through \mathbb{R} and using the fact that $\Psi(\tilde{\beta})$ is compactly supported we obtain

$$\Phi(\alpha) = \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) e(\alpha P^{\theta} \sigma_s \widetilde{\beta}) \mathsf{d}\widetilde{\beta}.$$
 (2.6.10)

Since Φ and Ψ are integrable we may apply Fourier's inversion theorem. Together with a sub-

stitution that replaces α by $\alpha P^{-\theta}$ we obtain that

$$\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) = \left(\frac{\theta}{P}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Phi(\alpha P^{-\theta}) e(-\sigma_s \widetilde{\beta} \alpha) d\alpha.$$
(2.6.11)

Putting together (2.6.5), (2.6.8) and (2.6.10), we infer that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^{s} |\lambda_{1} \cdots \lambda_{s}|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) e(\alpha P^{\theta} \sigma_{s} \widetilde{\beta}) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha d\widetilde{\beta}$$

$$= \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^{s} |\lambda_{1} \cdots \lambda_{s}|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha P^{\theta} \sigma_{s} \widetilde{\beta}) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha\right) d\widetilde{\beta}.$$
(2.6.12)

By the comment following (2.2.7) one has

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha P^{\theta} \sigma_s \widetilde{\beta}) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = \chi_{\tau} \left(P^{\theta} \sigma_s \widetilde{\beta} \right), \qquad (2.6.13)$$

unless $\tilde{\beta}$ satisfies the relation $||P^{\theta}\sigma_s\tilde{\beta}| - \tau| < \tilde{\tau}$, where recall that we have set $\tilde{\tau} = \tau (\log P)^{-1}$. The measure of the set of points $\tilde{\beta}$ which satisfy the latter inequality is $O\left(\tau P^{-\theta} (\log P)^{-1}\right) = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right)$. The contribution of such points to the integral is $o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right)$ and hence one may ignore this set. Therefore, we may assume from now on that (2.6.13) is valid. Recalling that $\chi_{\tau}(\cdot)$ denotes the characteristic function of the interval $(-\tau, \tau)$ we may rewrite (2.6.13) as

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha P^{\theta} \sigma_s \widetilde{\beta}) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } |\widetilde{\beta}| < \tau P^{-\theta}, \\ \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.6.14)

Lemma 2.6.1. For $|\widetilde{\beta}| < \tau P^{-\theta}$ one has

$$\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) - \Psi(0) \ll \tau P^{-\theta}$$

Proof. By (2.6.7) and (2.6.3) one has

$$|\Phi(\alpha P^{-\theta})| = \prod_{i=1}^{s} |v_i(\alpha P^{-\theta})| \ll \frac{P^s}{(1+|\alpha|)^{s/\theta}}$$

Thus, by (2.6.11) one has

$$\begin{split} |\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) - \Psi(0)| &\leq \left(\frac{\theta}{P}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\Phi(\alpha P^{-\theta})| |e(-\sigma_s \widetilde{\beta} \alpha) - 1 |\mathbf{d}\alpha| \\ &\ll \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+|\alpha|)^{s/\theta}} |e(-\sigma_s \widetilde{\beta} \alpha) - 1 |\mathbf{d}\alpha|. \end{split}$$

Note that for any $x \in \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$|e(x) - 1| \le 2\pi |x|.$$

Using this inequality we deduce that

$$\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) - \Psi(0) \ll |\widetilde{\beta}| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|}{(1+|\alpha|)^{s/\theta}} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \tau P^{-\theta},$$

since for $s > 2\theta$ the integral with respect to α is absolutely convergent.

We now return to (2.6.12) and substitute $\Psi(\widetilde{\beta})=\Psi(0)+O(\tau P^{-\theta}).$ In view of (2.6.14) this yields

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = 2\tau \Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) P^{s-\theta} + O\left(P^{s-2\theta}\right), \qquad (2.6.15)$$

where

$$\Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \left(\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} C(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda})| > 0,$$

and $C(s, \theta; \lambda) = \Psi(0)$ with $\Psi(0)$ given by (2.6.9) so that

$$\Psi(0) = \int_{\mathcal{U}(0)} \left(-\sigma_s (\sigma_1 \beta_1 + \dots + \sigma_{s-1} \beta_{s-1}) \right)^{1/\theta - 1} (\beta_1 \cdots \beta_{s-1})^{1/\theta - 1} \mathbf{d}\beta_1 \cdots \mathbf{d}\beta_{s-1}.$$

Note that $\Psi(0)$ is positive since not all of the σ_i are equal. This can be readily seen as follows.

Let $|\lambda_0| = \min_i |\lambda_i|$. Trivially one has

$$\Psi(0) \gg \int_{0}^{|\lambda_{0}|} \cdots \int_{0}^{|\lambda_{0}|} \left(-\sigma_{s}(\sigma_{1}\beta_{1} + \dots + \sigma_{s-1}\beta_{s-1}) \right)^{1/\theta-1} (\beta_{1} \cdots \beta_{s-1})^{1/\theta-1} \mathbf{d}\beta.$$
 (2.6.16)

Since the σ_i are not all of the same sign, by linearity there exists a tuple β such that

$$-\sigma_s(\sigma_1\beta_1+\cdots+\sigma_{s-1}\beta_{s-1})>0,$$

with $0 < \beta_i \le |\lambda_0|$. One can now assume that there exists a large positive number D that depends on β_i , such that $\frac{1}{D} \le \beta_i \le |\lambda_0|$. Hence, there exists an open neighbourhood of positive measure over which the integrand on the right hand side of (2.6.16) is positive. Therefore we deduce that $\Psi(0) \gg 1$.

The asymptotic formula (2.6.15) together with (2.6.6) yields,

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = 2\tau \Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) P^{s-\theta} + o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$

The proof of Theorem 2.1.1 is now complete by taking into account Lemma 2.4.3, Lemma 2.5.1 and the expression (2.2.11).

2.7 The inhomogeneous case

In this section we prove Theorem 2.1.2. Using the kernel functions defined in (2.2.3) we have that

$$R_{-}(P) \le \mathcal{N}_{s,\theta}^{\tau}(P; \boldsymbol{\lambda}, L) \le R_{+}(P),$$

whereas now

$$R_{\pm}(P) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha L) K_{\pm}(\alpha) d\alpha$$

To study the above integrals we dissect the real line as in the case of Theorem 2.1.1. By the triangle inequality and appealing to Lemma 2.4.3 and Lemma 2.5.1, we immediately obtain that

$$\left|\int_{\mathfrak{m}\cup\mathfrak{t}}f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)e(-\alpha L)K_{\pm}(\alpha)\mathrm{d}\alpha\right|\ll \int_{\mathfrak{m}\cup\mathfrak{t}}|f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)|\,\mathrm{d}\alpha=o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$

Thus, we are left to deal with the contribution arising when integrating over the major arc around zero. The approach given in \$2.6 applies here as well with minor adjustments, in order to deal with the twist $e(-\alpha L)$. We briefly now discuss these differences.

The singular integral is now given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha L) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

where the functions $v_i(\alpha)$ are defined as in (2.6.1). One may show as in \$2.6 that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha L) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha + o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right)$$

Thus, we aim to give an asymptotic formula for the complete singular integral I_{\pm} defined above.

For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we now define

$$\Phi(\alpha) = \upsilon_1(\alpha) \cdots \upsilon_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha L) = \int_{[0,P]^s} e\left(\alpha \left(\lambda_1 \gamma_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s \gamma_s^{\theta} - L\right)\right) d\boldsymbol{\gamma}.$$
 (2.7.1)

Ignoring for the moment the twist factor $e(-\alpha L)$ one can study the function Φ as in §2.6. This analysis leads now to

$$\Phi(\alpha) = \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) e\left(\alpha \left(P^{\theta} \sigma_s \widetilde{\beta} - L\right)\right) d\widetilde{\beta}$$

where Ψ is defined as in (2.6.9). Applying now Fourier's inversion theorem we obtain that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^{s} |\lambda_{1} \cdots \lambda_{s}|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e\left(\alpha \left(P^{\theta} \sigma_{s} \widetilde{\beta} - L\right)\right) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha\right) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta}.$$
 (2.7.2)

One may assume that $\widetilde{\beta}$ satisfies

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e\left(\alpha \left(P^{\theta} \sigma_{s} \widetilde{\beta} - L\right)\right) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } |\widetilde{\beta} - LP^{-\theta}| < \tau P^{-\theta}, \\ \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.7.3)

Note that for the measure of the set of points $\tilde{\beta}$ which do not satisfy the above relation one has $O\left(\tau|L^{-1}|P^{-\theta}\left(\log P\right)^{-1}\right) = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right)$. The contribution of such points to the integral is $o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right)$ and hence one may ignore this set. Under the assumption that $|\tilde{\beta} - LP^{-\theta}| < \tau P^{-\theta}$ one can show that

$$\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) - \Psi(1) \ll (\tau + |L^{-1}|)P^{-\theta}.$$

Indeed, since the factor $e(-\alpha L)$ in (2.7.1) does not affect things, one can repeat the argument given in the proof of Lemma 2.6.1 to deduce that

$$\Psi(\widetilde{\beta}) - \Psi(0) \ll |\widetilde{\beta}| \ll |\widetilde{\beta} - LP^{-\theta}| + |LP^{-\theta}| \ll (\tau + |L|) P^{-\theta}$$

One can now substitute $\Psi(\tilde{\beta}) = \Psi(0) + (\tau + |L|) P^{-\theta}$ into (2.7.2). In view of (2.7.3) this yields

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = \left(\frac{P}{\theta}\right)^{s} |\lambda_{1} \cdots \lambda_{s}|^{-1/\theta} \int_{-\tau P^{-\theta} + LP^{-\theta}}^{\tau P^{-\theta} + LP^{-\theta}} \left(\Psi(0) + (\tau + |L|) P^{-\theta}\right) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta}.$$

Therefore, we deduce that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\pm} = 2\tau \Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) P^{s-\theta} + O\left(\left(\tau + |L|\right) P^{s-2\theta}\right),$$

where

$$\Omega(s,\theta;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \left(\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s |\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s|^{-1/\theta} \Psi(0) > 0,$$

with $\Psi(0)$ given by (2.6.9). The proof of Theorem 2.1.2 is now complete.

2.8 The definite case

In this section we prove Theorem 2.1.3. Here we deal with positive definite generalised polynomials. In this section we put

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s x_s^{\theta} - \nu,$$

and recall that we write $\rho_s(\tau, \nu)$ to denote the number of solutions $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{N}^s$ possessed by the inequality $|\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| < \tau$ for a fixed real number $\tau \in (0, 1]$. Our approach follows that presented in [22, Theorem 1.10], where the authors deal with the problem of counting solutions to inequalities for positive definite polynomials.

Let N be a positive large parameter. For any solution **x** counted by $\rho_s(\tau, \nu)$ with $\nu \leq N$ one has $0 < x_i \leq P$ $(1 \leq i \leq s)$, where

$$P = 2\left(\lambda_1^{-1/\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s^{-1/\theta} + 1\right) N^{1/\theta}.$$
 (2.8.1)

So, one can write

$$\rho_s(\tau,\nu) = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x} \in [1,P]^s \\ |\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})| < \tau}} 1.$$

Recall the kernel function $K(\alpha) = \operatorname{sinc}^2(\alpha)$. For any real $\eta > 0$ we define the function

$$w_{\eta}(x) = \eta K(\eta x)$$

that was used in [30]. It satisfies

$$w_{\eta}(x) \ll \min\{1, |x|^{-2}\}$$
 and $0 \le w_{\eta}(x) \le \eta.$ (2.8.2)

The Fourier transform of this function is given by

$$\widehat{w}_{\eta}(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} w_{\eta}(u) e(-xu) du = \max\left\{0, 1 - \frac{|x|}{\eta}\right\}.$$
(2.8.3)

Now we define the weighted integral

$$\rho_s^{\star}(\tau,\nu) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) w_{\tau}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$

In the light of the discussion in [22, \$2.1, \$2.2] and appealing to [22, Lemma 2.1], whenever $0 < \Delta < \frac{\tau}{2}$ one has

$$\rho_s(\tau,\nu) = \left(1 + \frac{\tau}{\Delta}\right)\rho_s^*\left(\tau + \Delta,\nu\right) - \frac{\tau}{\Delta}\rho_s^*(\tau,\nu) + O\left(\rho_s^*\left(\Delta,\nu+\tau\right) + \rho_s^*\left(\Delta,\nu-\tau\right)\right).$$
 (2.8.4)

It is apparent by (2.8.4) that it is enough to establish an asymptotic formula for the weighted integral $\rho_s^{\star}(\tau, \nu)$. To do so, we dissect the real line into three disjoint sets as in §2.2. Note that now we take P as defined in (2.8.1).

For estimating the contribution arising from the sets of minor and trivial arcs one can invoke Lemma 2.4.3 and Lemma 2.5.1. Together with the fact that by (2.8.2) one has $w_{\tau}(\alpha) \ll 1$ for any α , we deduce that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}\cup\mathfrak{t}} |f_1(\alpha)\cdots f_s(\alpha)e(-\alpha\nu)w_\tau(\alpha)|\,\mathrm{d}\alpha = o\left(P^{s-\theta}\right).$$
(2.8.5)

So, one is left to deal with the contribution arising when integrating over the major arc. We write

$$I(\mathfrak{M}) = \int_{\mathfrak{M}} f_1(\alpha) \cdots f_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha \nu) w_{\tau}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

and the singular integral is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\infty} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha \nu) w_{\tau}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

where the functions $v_i(\alpha)$ are defined as in (2.6.1). Below we obtain an asymptotic formula for the integral $I(\mathfrak{M})$. The argument is analogous to the one given in [22, Lemma 2.4].

Lemma 2.8.1. Provided that $s > 2\theta$ one has

$$I(\mathfrak{M}) = \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^{s}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} \left(\lambda_{1}\cdots\lambda_{s}\right)^{-1/\theta} \tau \nu^{s/\theta-1} + O\left(\tau\left(P^{s-\theta-1+\delta_{0}} + P^{s-\theta-\delta_{0}(s/\theta-1)}\right)\right)$$

uniformly in $0 < \tau \leq 1$ and $1 \leq \nu \leq N$.

Proof. Using the fact that $0 \le w_{\tau}(x) \le \tau$ one has as in (2.6.2) that

$$I(\mathfrak{M}) - \int_{\mathfrak{M}} v_1(\alpha) \cdots v_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha \nu) w_{\tau}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \tau P^{s-\theta-1+2\delta_0}$$

So as in \$2.6 we may infer that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}\backslash\mathfrak{M}} \upsilon_1(\alpha) \cdots \upsilon_s(\alpha) e(-\alpha\nu) w_\tau(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \tau \int_{|\alpha| > P^{-\theta + \delta_0}} |\alpha|^{-s/\theta} \mathrm{d}\alpha$$
$$\ll \tau P^{s-\theta - \delta_0(s/\theta - 1)}.$$

Thus, the above two estimates yield

$$I(\mathfrak{M}) = \mathcal{I}_{\infty} + O\left(\tau\left(P^{s-\theta-1+\delta_0} + P^{s-\theta-\delta_0(s/\theta-1)}\right)\right).$$
(2.8.6)

By (2.6.1) we may write

$$\mathcal{I}_{\infty} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{[0,P]^s} e(\alpha(\lambda_1 \gamma_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_s \gamma_s^{\theta})) \right) e(-\alpha \nu) w_{\tau}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$

Since the integral is absolutely convergent we can interchange the order of integration in the right hand side of the above formula. Invoking (2.8.3) one has

$$\mathcal{I}_{\infty} = \int_{[0,P]^s} \widehat{w}_{ au} \left(\lambda_1 \gamma_1^{ heta} + \dots + \lambda_s \gamma_s^{ heta} - \nu
ight) \mathrm{d} oldsymbol{\gamma}.$$

Since $\lambda_i > 0$ one may use (2.8.3) to extend the order of integration to $[0, \infty)^s$. After a change of variables with $\gamma_i = \beta_i \lambda_i^{-1/\theta}$ $(1 \le i \le s)$ the above expression takes the shape

$$\mathcal{I}_{\infty} = (\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s)^{-1/\theta} \int_{[0,\infty)^s} \widehat{w}_{\tau} \left(\beta_1^{\theta} + \cdots + \beta_s^{\theta} - \nu \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}.$$
(2.8.7)

Consider the level sets of the function $\beta_1^{\theta} + \cdots + \beta_s^{\theta}$. For $t \in \mathbb{R}$ the equation $t = \beta_1^{\theta} + \cdots + \beta_s^{\theta}$ defines a surface in \mathbb{R}^s of codimension 1. We write S to denote the surface obtained by the intersection with the domain $\{(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_s) : \beta_i > 0 \ (1 \le i \le s)\} \subset \mathbb{R}^s$. The area of S is equal to

$$t^{s/\theta-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)}.$$

Using the transformation formula we may integrate over S and applying Fubini's theorem equation (2.8.7) takes the shape

$$\mathcal{I}_{\infty} = (\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s)^{-1/\theta} \frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} \int_0^\infty t^{s/\theta - 1} \widehat{w}_{\tau}(t - \nu) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(2.8.8)

By (2.8.3) and putting $t - \nu = u$ one has

$$\int_0^\infty t^{s/\theta-1} \widehat{w}_\tau(t-\nu) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{-\tau}^\tau \left(1 - \frac{|u|}{\tau}\right) (\nu+u)^{s/\theta-1} \mathrm{d}u.$$

For large enough ν one has $|u/\nu|<1,$ so the binomial expansion yields

$$(\nu+u)^{s/\theta-1} = \nu^{s/\theta-1} \left(1+\frac{u}{\nu}\right)^{s/\theta-1} = \nu^{s/\theta-1} + O\left(u\nu^{s/\theta-2}\right),$$

as $\nu \to \infty$. By this asymptotic expansion one has

$$\int_{-\tau}^{\tau} \left(1 - \frac{|u|}{\tau}\right) (\nu + u)^{s/\theta - 1} \mathrm{d}u = \tau \nu^{s/\theta - 1} + O\left(\tau^2 \nu^{s/\theta - 2}\right).$$

Returning to (2.8.8) we deduce that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\infty} = (\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s)^{-1/\theta} \frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} \tau \nu^{s/\theta - 1} + O\left(\tau^2 \nu^{s/\theta - 2}\right),$$

which when combined with (2.8.6) and observing that $\tau P^{s-\theta-1-\delta_0} \gg \tau^2 \nu^{s/\theta-2}$ completes the proof of the lemma.

We may now complete the proof of Theorem 2.1.3.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.3. Putting together (2.8.5) and the conclusion of Lemma 2.8.1 we deduce that

$$\rho_s^{\star}(\tau,\nu) = \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} (\lambda_1\cdots\lambda_s)^{-1/\theta}\tau\nu^{s/\theta-1} + o\left(\nu^{s/\theta-1}\right).$$

One can now substitute the above formula into (2.8.4). This yields

$$\rho_s(\tau,\nu) = (\lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_s)^{-1/\theta} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)^s}{\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\theta}\right)} \left(2\tau\nu^{s/\theta-1} + \Delta\nu^{s/\theta-1} + W\right) + o\left(\nu^{s/\theta-1}\right), \quad (2.8.9)$$

where

$$W = O\left(\Delta(\nu+\tau)^{s/\theta-1} + \Delta(\nu-\tau)^{s/\theta-1} + o\left((\nu+\tau)^{s/\theta-1}\right) + o\left((\nu-\tau)^{s/\theta-1}\right)\right).$$

Here Δ is at our disposal, as long as it satisfies $0 < \Delta < \frac{\tau}{2}$. One may choose $\Delta = \frac{\tau}{3}\nu^{-1/100}$. Then, as $\nu \to \infty$ one has

$$\Delta \nu^{s/\theta - 1} + W = o\left(\nu^{s/\theta - 1}\right).$$

Hence the asymptotic formula (2.8.9) delivers the desired conclusion which completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

2.9 A discrete L^2 -restriction estimate

This section is devoted to the demonstration of Theorem 2.1.5. Before we present our proof let us motivate the route we take. To make this clearer assume for the moment that $\theta = d \in \mathbb{N}$. Then an application of the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality reveals that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^1 \left| \sum_{1 \le x \le P} \mathfrak{a}_x e(\alpha x^d) \right|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\alpha &= \int_0^1 \left| \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{B}_d(\ell)} \mathfrak{a}_{x_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_{x_s} e(\alpha \ell) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}\alpha \\ &\leq \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} (\# \left(\mathcal{B}_d(\ell) \right)) \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{B}_d(\ell)} |\mathfrak{a}_{x_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_{x_s}|^2, \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{B}_d(\ell) = \{1 \le \mathbf{x} \le P : x_1^d + \cdots + x_s^d = \ell\}$, and we write $\#(\mathcal{B}_d(\ell))$ to denote its cardinality. By orthogonality one has

$$\#(\mathcal{B}_d(\ell)) = \int_0^1 \left| \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha x^d) \right|^s e(-\alpha \ell) \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

Hence the problem boils down to bounding the quantity $\max_{\ell} \#(\mathcal{B}_d(\ell))$. Using classical methods together with the circle method, one can show that $\#(\mathcal{B}_d(\ell)) \ll P^{s-d}$ for sufficiently large s. For example, using the latest method of Wooley [95] on Vinogradov's mean value theorem, one can take $s \ge s_0$ with s_0 as in (2.1.7).

When dealing with $\theta \notin \mathbb{N}$ one has to vary slightly from the argument sketched above. As an analogue of $\mathcal{B}_d(\ell)$ we define the set

$$\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell) = \left\{ 1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P : |x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta} - \ell| < 1/2 \right\}.$$

The partition

$$\bigcup_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell) = \{(x_1, \dots, x_s) : 1 \le x_i \le P\}$$

no longer makes sense for a fractional exponent θ . In this situation we instead look at tuples **x** such that $x_1^{\theta} + \cdots + x_s^{\theta}$ is close to an integer value ℓ . This observation makes apparent the link between our aim and the problem of representing integers by a generalized polynomial as described in (2.1.6).

Note that with the notation of \$2.8, one has $K(\alpha) = w_1(\alpha)$ and so by (2.8.3) one has

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha\xi) K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha = \max\{0, 1 - |\xi|\},$$
(2.9.1)

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. We may now embark to the proof.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.5. Recall that we assume $s \ge 2(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 2$. Expanding one has that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |f_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha)|^{2s} K(\alpha) d\alpha = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{1 \le \mathbf{x} \le P} \mathfrak{a}_{x_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_{x_s} e\left(\alpha (x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta}) \right) \right|^2 K(\alpha) d\alpha.$$
(2.9.2)

By the definition of the nearest integer function $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}} : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1/2]$ we can decompose the summation over $1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P$ by counting integer solutions of the inhomogeneous inequality

$$|x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta} - \ell_1| \le 1/2,$$

inside the box $[1, P]^s$, where ℓ_1 runs over \mathbb{Z} . With this observation and expanding the square, one has that the right hand side of (2.9.2) is equal to

$$\sum_{\ell_1,\ell_2\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_1)}\sum_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_2)}\mathfrak{a}_{x_1}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_s}\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_1}}\cdots\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_s}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}e\left(\alpha\left(\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})\right)\right)K(\alpha)\mathrm{d}\alpha,\qquad(2.9.3)$$

where we write $\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = x_1^{\theta} + \cdots + x_s^{\theta} - y_1^{\theta} - \cdots - y_s^{\theta}$. We emphasize at this point that it is

at this step where we essentially "double" the number of variables.

Invoking (2.9.1) we see that

$$0 < \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e\left(\alpha(\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})) \, K(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \leq 1 \right.$$

if and only if $|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < 1$. Indeed, if $|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| \ge 1$ then $\max\{0, 1 - |\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})|\} = 0$ and so by (2.9.1) we see that the expression in (2.9.3) is equal to zero. Hence, in this case there is nothing to prove since the estimate claimed in the statement of Theorem 2.1.5 trivially holds. Thus, we may assume that the tuples \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} satisfy the inequality $|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < 1$. Under this assumption one has

$$\sum_{\ell_{1},\ell_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{1})}\sum_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{2})}\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{1}}}\cdots\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{s}}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}e\left(\alpha\left(\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})\right)\right)K(\alpha)d\alpha$$

$$\ll\sum_{\substack{\ell_{1},\ell_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}}}\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{1})\\|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})|<1}}\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{2})\\|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})|<1}}\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{1}}}\cdots\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{s}}}.$$
(2.9.4)

Let $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_1) \times \mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_2)$ and suppose that $|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < 1$. Then by the triangle inequality one has

$$|\ell_1 - \ell_2| \le |\ell_1 - (x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta})| + |\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| + |\ell_2 - (y_1^{\theta} + \dots + y_s^{\theta})| < 2.$$

Therefore, it turns out that

$$\sum_{\ell_{1},\ell_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{1})}\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{2})\\|\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})|<1}}\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{1}}}\cdots\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{s}}}$$

$$\leq\sum_{\ell_{1},\ell_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{1})}\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}(\ell_{2})\\|\ell_{1}-\ell_{2}|<2}}\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{1}}}\cdots\overline{\mathfrak{a}_{y_{s}}}.$$

$$(2.9.5)$$

Since $\ell_1 - \ell_2 \in \{0, \pm 1\}$ we see that if we fix one of the ℓ_1, ℓ_2 the other one has exactly 3 choices. So by symmetry one has that the expression on the right hand side of (2.9.5) is bounded above by

$$6\sum_{\ell_3\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}'_{\theta}(\ell_3)}\mathfrak{a}_{x_1}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_s}\right|^2,$$

where for $\ell_3 \in \mathbb{Z}$ we put

$$\mathcal{B}'_{\theta}(\ell_3) = \{1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P : |x_1^{\theta} + \dots + x_s^{\theta} - \ell_3| < 1\}.$$

An application of the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality reveals that for $s \ge 2(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1)(\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 2$

one has

$$\begin{split} 6\sum_{\ell_{3}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}'(\ell_{3})}\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}\right|^{2} &\leq 6\sum_{\ell_{3}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}'(\ell_{3})}1\right)\left(\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}'(\ell_{3})}|\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}|^{2}\right)\\ &\ll \max_{\ell_{3}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\#\mathcal{B}_{\theta}'(\ell_{3})\right)\sum_{\ell_{3}\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{B}_{\theta}'(\ell_{3})}|\mathfrak{a}_{x_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_{x_{s}}|^{2}\\ &\ll P^{s-\theta}\left(\sum_{1\leq x\leq P}|\mathfrak{a}_{x}|^{2}\right)^{s},\end{split}$$

where in the last step we used Theorem 2.1.3. Putting together (2.9.4), (2.9.5) and invoking (2.9.2) we are done. $\hfill \Box$

Chapter 3

A mixed Diophantine system

The work in this chapter is based (with minor changes) on the author's paper [65].

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter we investigate the simultaneous solubility of inequalities and equations. Here we seek to count the number of positive integer solutions of a mixed system, consisting of a diagonal inequality of fractional degree and a diagonal integral form.

Fix non-zero real numbers λ_i , μ_j not all of the same sign and non-zero integers a_i , b_k not all of the same sign. Suppose that $d \ge 2$ is an integer and suppose further that $\theta > d + 1$ is real and non-integral. We write

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_\ell x_\ell^{\theta} + \mu_1 y_1^{\theta} + \dots + \mu_m y_m^{\theta} \\ \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = a_1 x_1^{d} + \dots a_\ell x_\ell^{d} + b_1 z_1^{d} + \dots + b_n z_n^{d}. \end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

Let τ be a fixed positive real number. The Diophantine system under investigation is of the shape

 $\begin{cases} |\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \tau \\ \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0. \end{cases}$ (3.1.2)

In order to ensure that the system (3.1.2) is indefinite it is enough to ask for the system

$$\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0, \qquad (3.1.3)$$

to admit a non-trivial real solution $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z})$. Beyond the indefiniteness of \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{D} , in order to study the solubility of the system (3.1.2) over the set of natural numbers one has to impose some further conditions. It is apparent that we must ask for the congruence $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv$ $0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ to be soluble for all prime powers p^{ν} . Furthermore, for reasons associated with the application of the circle method, one has to assume that the given local solutions are in fact nonsingular. For us a tuple $\boldsymbol{\eta} = (\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z}^*) \in \mathbb{R}^s$ which satisfies the system of equations (3.1.3) is called a non-singular solution of the system (3.1.2) if the Jacobian matrix

$$rac{\partial(\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{D})}{\partial(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_s)}$$

has full rank. We say that the system (3.1.2) satisfies the *local solubility condition* if the system (3.1.3) possesses a non-singular real solution and the congruence $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ possesses a non-singular solution for all prime powers p^{ν} .

We write $\mathcal{N}(P)$ to denote the number of positive integer solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z})$ of the system (3.1.2) with

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{x}^{\star}P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2\mathbf{x}^{\star}P, \quad \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{y}^{\star}P < \mathbf{y} \leq 2\mathbf{y}^{\star}P, \quad \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{z}^{\star}P < \mathbf{z} \leq 2\mathbf{z}^{\star}P,$$

where $(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z}^*)$ is a non-singular solution of the system (3.1.3). Our aim is to establish an asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$ as $P \to \infty$. Before we state our result we make a comment about two special cases. Suppose that $\ell = 0$. It is apparent by Theorem 2.1.1 and the seminal work of Davenport and Lewis [31] that in such a case and provided that $m \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$ and $n \ge d^2 + 1$, one certainly has $\mathcal{N}(P) \gg P^{m+n-(\theta+d)}$. Suppose now that m = n = 0. Here one would (in principle) be able to obtain an asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$ provided that $s = \ell \ge \ell_0(\theta) + 1$, where $\ell(\theta)$ is any natural number for which one has the estimate

$$\left|\int_0^1 \int_0^1 \left|\sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_d x^d + \alpha_\theta x^\theta)\right|^{\ell_0(\theta)} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{\ell_0(\theta) - \theta + \epsilon}$$

Here $d\alpha$ stands for $d\alpha_d d\alpha_\theta$. Our first result is establishing this observation.

Theorem 3.1.1. Suppose that $d \ge 2$ is an integer and suppose further that $\theta > d + 1$ is real and non-integral. Let τ be a fixed positive real number. Consider the system

$$|\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \tau \quad and \quad \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0,$$
(3.1.4)

with $\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{D}$ defined in (3.1.1). Suppose that m = n = 0 and suppose further that the system (3.1.4) satisfies the local solubility condition, namely the system (3.1.3) possesses a non-singular real solution and the congruence $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ possesses a non-singular solution for all prime powers p^{ν} . Then, provided that $s \ge (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) + 1$, one has that there exists a positive real number $C = C(\lambda, \mathbf{a}, \theta, d, s)$ such that

$$\mathcal{N}(P) = 2\tau C P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right),\tag{3.1.5}$$

as $P \to \infty$. In particular, the number of positive integer solutions $\mathbf{x} \in [1, P]^s$ of the system (3.1.4) is $\gg P^{s-(\theta+d)}$, where the implicit constant is a positive real number, which depends on $s, \lambda_i, a_i, \theta, d$ and τ .

Certainly more interesting is the case where in (3.1.1) one has $m + n \neq 0$. Our next result examines this case when the total number of variables s is in an intermediate range compared to the number of variables needed in the scenarios where $\ell = 0$ and m = n = 0. **Theorem 3.1.2.** Suppose that $d \ge 2$ is an integer and suppose further that $\theta > d + 1$ is real and non-integral. Let τ be a fixed positive real number. Consider the system

$$|\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \tau \quad and \quad \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0, \tag{3.1.6}$$

with $\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{D}$ defined in (3.1.1). We write

$$A_{\theta} = (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2) \quad and \quad A_d = d^2.$$
(3.1.7)

Moreover we set

$$s_{\min} = \left\lceil \max\left\{A_{\theta} + n, \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + A_{\theta}\right\} \right\rceil + 1$$

and

$$s_{\max} = \left\lfloor \min \left\{ A_{\theta} + A_d, \ A_{\theta} + \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + n \right\} \right\rfloor + 1.$$

Suppose that the system (3.1.6) satisfies the following conditions.

- (a) The system (3.1.6) satisfies the local solubility condition, namely the system (3.1.3) possesses a non-singular real solution and the congruence $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ possesses a nonsingular solution for all prime powers p^{ν} .
- (b) One has $\ell \ge \max\{\lceil 2\theta(1-n/d) \rceil, 1\}, \ 0 \le m \le A_{\theta} \text{ and } 0 \le n \le A_d.$
- (c) One has $\ell + m \ge A_{\theta} + 1$ and $\ell + n \ge A_d + 1$.
- (d) For the total number of variables $s = \ell + m + n$ one has $s_{\min} \le s \le s_{\max}$.

Then, there exists a positive real number $C = C(\lambda, \mu, \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}, \theta, d, s)$, such that as $P \to \infty$ one has

$$\mathcal{N}(P) = 2\tau C P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$
(3.1.8)

In particular, the number of positive integer solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) \in [1, P]^{\ell} \times [1, P]^m \times [1, P]^n$ of the system (3.1.6) is $\gg P^{s-(\theta+d)}$, where the implicit constant is a positive real number, which depends on $s, \lambda_i, \mu_j, a_i, b_k, \theta, d$ and τ .

The positive real number $C = C(\lambda, \mu, \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}, \theta, d, s)$ appearing in the asymptotic formulae (3.1.5) and (3.1.8) turns out to be a product of the shape $C = \mathfrak{J}_0 \mathfrak{S}$. Here

$$\mathfrak{J}_0 = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} e\left(\beta_{\theta} \mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) + \beta_d \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \right) d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{y} d\mathbf{z} \right) d\beta,$$

where

$$\mathcal{B} = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{\ell} \left[\frac{1}{2} x_i^{\star}, 2x_i^{\star} \right] \bigotimes_{j=1}^{m} \left[\frac{1}{2} y_j^{\star}, 2y_j^{\star} \right] \bigotimes_{k=1}^{n} \left[\frac{1}{2} z_k^{\star}, 2z_k^{\star} \right]$$

is a box containing in its interior a non-singular solution $(\mathbf{x}^{\star}, \mathbf{y}^{\star}, \mathbf{z}^{\star})$ of the system (3.1.3), and

$$\mathfrak{S} = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{a=1\\(a,q)=1}}^{q} T(q,a),$$

where

$$T(q,a) = q^{-(\ell+n)} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} S(q,aa_i) \prod_{k=1}^{n} S(q,ab_k),$$

and for $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ we write

$$S(q,a) = \sum_{z=1}^{q} e\left(\frac{az^d}{q}\right).$$

The singular integral \mathfrak{J}_0 is essentially Schmidt's singular integral. The singular series \mathfrak{S} captures the arithmetic behind the equation $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0$.

By the assumptions made in Theorem 3.1.2 we see that our conclusion is valid for systems for which the total number of variables $s = \ell + m + n$ satisfies $A_{\theta} + 1 \le s \le A_{\theta} + A_d + 1$. Note that when m = n = 0 in Theorem 3.1.1 we assume that $s = \ell \ge A_{\theta} + 1$, with A_{θ} defined in (3.1.7). The treatment of the minor arcs in the proof of Theorem 3.1.1 follows by using a Hua's type inequality

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} \left| f(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \right|^s \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \left(\sup_{(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathcal{B}} \left| f(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \right| \right)^{s-2t} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left| f(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha},$$

as in Chapter 2, where for $(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ we write

$$f(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_d x^d + \alpha_\theta x^\theta),$$

and where \mathcal{B} is a Lebesgue measurable subset of \mathbb{R}^2 . For the case where $m + n \neq 0$ one may adopt the methods we use in proving Theorem 3.1.2 to treat systems where the total number of variables is greater than $A_{\theta} + A_d + 1$. For such cases one may obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1.3. Suppose that $d \ge 2$ is an integer and suppose further that $\theta > d + 1$ is real and non-integral. Let τ be a fixed positive real number. Consider the system

$$|\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \tau \quad and \quad \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0, \tag{3.1.9}$$

with $\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{D}$ defined in (3.1.1). Suppose that the system (3.1.9) satisfies the following conditions.

- (a) The system satisfies the local solubility condition, namely the system (3.1.3) possesses a nonsingular real solution and the congruence $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$ possesses a non-singular solution for all prime powers p^{ν} .
- (b) One has $\ell \ge \max\{\lceil 2\theta(1 n/d) \rceil, 1\}, 0 \le m \le A_{\theta} \text{ and } 0 \le n \le A_d, \text{ with } A_{\theta} \text{ and } A_d \text{ as in (3.1.7).}$
- (c) One has $\ell + m \ge A_{\theta} + 1$ and $\ell + n \ge A_d + 1$, with A_{θ} and A_d as in (3.1.7).
- (d) One has $s = \ell + m + n \ge A_{\theta} + A_d + 2$.

Then, the number of positive integer solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) \in [1, P]^{\ell} \times [1, P]^m \times [1, P]^n$ of the system (3.1.9) is $\gg P^{s-(\theta+d)}$, where the implicit constant is a positive real number, which depends on $s, \lambda_i, \mu_j, a_i, b_k, \theta, d$ and τ .

Having stated our results let us make a few comments regarding previous works that are of some relevance to the problem we investigate. The study of Diophantine inequalities for diagonal real forms begins with the work of Davenport and Heilbronn [30]. Many authors have engaged with studying the solubility of systems of diagonal real forms of the same degree. The interested reader may look for example in [18], [19], [26], [62], [51]. For the case of unlike degrees we have the important work of Schmidt [67] who studied systems of real (not necessarily diagonal) forms of differing odd degrees. In this work Schmidt proves the existence (without being explicitly determined) of a finite lower bound for the number of variables needed to ensure solubility. For the first time, an explicit such bound was given by Freeman [42] in the case of a system of cubic forms.

Using ideas from [4], Freeman in [36] and [39] introduced a variant of the Davenport— Heilbronn method. These results of Freeman were afterwards improved by Wooley in [86] using an amplification method. Based on his variant of the original Davenport–Heilbronn method, Freeman considered systems of diagonal quadratic real forms in [38] and systems of diagonal real forms of degree *d* in [41]. A two dimensional analogue of the Davenport–Heilbronn method was presented by Parsell in [56]. Shortly afterwards, in [57] and [59], Parsell adapted Freeman's method to study the solubility of systems of diagonal real forms of unlike degree. More recently, we have Chow's paper [25] which is an inequality analogue of Birch's celebrated result [6]. The interested reader may look as well in the recent breakthroughs due to Myerson [49] and [50], who obtained a remarkable improvement compared to Birch's theorem for systems of quadratic and cubic integral forms.

3.2 Set up

3.2.1 An analytic representation for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$

Set $\widetilde{\tau} = \tau (\log P)^{-1}$. We put

$$K_{\pm}(\alpha) = \frac{\sin\left(\pi\alpha\widetilde{\tau}\right)\sin\left(\pi\alpha(2\tau\pm\widetilde{\tau})\right)}{\pi^{2}\alpha^{2}\widetilde{\tau}}.$$
(3.2.1)

By [39, Lemma 1] and its proof we know that

$$K_{\pm}(\alpha) \ll_{\tau} \min\{1, |\alpha|^{-1}, (\log P)|\alpha|^{-2}\},$$
(3.2.2)

and

$$0 \le \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\xi\alpha) K_{-}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \le \chi_{\tau}(\xi) \le \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\xi\alpha) K_{+}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha \le 1,$$
(3.2.3)

where we write $\chi_{\tau}(\xi)$ to denote the indicator function of the interval $(-\tau, \tau)$, namely

$$\chi_{\tau}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } |\xi| < \tau, \\ 0, & \text{if } |\xi| \ge \tau. \end{cases}$$

Note that the expression

$$\left|\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\xi\alpha) K_{\pm}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\alpha - \chi_{\tau}(\xi)\right|$$
is zero when $||\xi| - \tau| > \widetilde{\tau}$ and at most 1 for values of ξ such that $||\xi| - \tau| \le \widetilde{\tau}$.

One may rewrite the kernel functions $K_{\pm}(\alpha)$ defined in (3.2.1) in the shape

$$K_{\pm}(\alpha) = (2\tau \pm \tilde{\tau}) \frac{\sin(\pi \alpha \tilde{\tau})}{\pi \alpha \tilde{\tau}} \cdot \frac{\sin(\pi \alpha (2\tau \pm \tilde{\tau}))}{\pi \alpha (2\tau \pm \tilde{\tau})}.$$

Using a Taylor expansion one has for |x|<1 with $x\neq 0$ that

$$\frac{\sin x}{x} = 1 + O(x^2).$$

Recall that $\widetilde{\tau} = \tau (\log P)^{-1}.$ So for $|\alpha| < 1$ and P sufficiently large one has that

$$K_{\pm}(\alpha) = 2\tau + O\left((\log P)^{-2}\right).$$
 (3.2.4)

In our analysis we use various exponential sums. For $\alpha = (\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ we define the exponential sums $f(\alpha) = f(\alpha; P), \ g(\alpha_\theta) = g(\alpha_\theta; P)$ and $h(\alpha_d) = h(\alpha_d; P)$ by

$$f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_d x^d + \alpha_\theta x^\theta), \qquad g(\alpha_\theta; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_\theta x^\theta),$$
$$h(\alpha_d; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_d x^d).$$

Moreover, we define $F_i(\alpha) = F_i(\alpha; P), \ G_j(\alpha_{\theta}) = G_j(\alpha_{\theta}; P)$ and $H_k(\alpha_d) = H(\alpha_d; P)$ by

$$F_{i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) = \sum_{1 \leq x \leq P} e(a_{i}\alpha_{d}x^{d} + \lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}x^{d}) \qquad (1 \leq i \leq \ell),$$
$$G_{j}(\alpha_{\theta}; P) = \sum_{1 \leq x \leq P} e(\mu_{j}\alpha_{\theta}x^{\theta}) \qquad (1 \leq j \leq m),$$

$$H_k(\alpha_d; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(b_k \alpha_d x^d) \qquad (1 \le k \le n).$$

Recall that $(\mathbf{x}^{\star}, \mathbf{y}^{\star}, \mathbf{z}^{\star})$ is a non-singular real solution of the system (3.1.3). We put

$$f_i(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{\frac{1}{2}x_i^* P < x \le 2x_i^* P} e(a_i \alpha_d x^d + \lambda_i \alpha_\theta x^\theta) \qquad (1 \le i \le \ell),$$

$$g_j(\alpha_\theta) = \sum_{\frac{1}{2}y_j^* P < y \le 2y_j^* P} e(\mu_j \alpha_\theta y^\theta) \qquad (1 \le j \le m),$$

$$h_k(\alpha_d) = \sum_{\frac{1}{2}z_k^* P < z \le 2z_k^* P} e(b_k \alpha_d z^d) \qquad (1 \le k \le n).$$

For future reference we note here the following relations

$$f_{i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = F\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; 2x_{i}^{\star}P\right) - F\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \frac{1}{2}x_{i}^{\star}P\right), \quad g_{j}(\alpha_{\theta}) = G\left(\alpha_{\theta}; 2y_{j}^{\star}P\right) - G\left(\alpha_{\theta}; \frac{1}{2}y_{j}^{\star}P\right),$$

$$h_{k}(\alpha_{d}) = H\left(\alpha_{d}; 2z_{k}^{\star}P\right) - H\left(\alpha_{d}; \frac{1}{2}z_{k}^{\star}P\right).$$
(3.2.5)

We define the generating function

$$\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} f_i(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \prod_{j=1}^{m} g_j(\alpha_{\theta}) \prod_{k=1}^{n} h_k(\alpha_d)$$

and set

$$R_{\pm}(P) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$
 (3.2.6)

Using now (3.2.3), together with the usual orthogonality relation

$$\int_0^1 e(\alpha n) \mathbf{d}\alpha = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{when } n = 0, \\ \\ 0, & \text{when } n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\} \end{cases}$$

one has that

$$R_{-}(P) \le \mathcal{N}(P) \le R_{+}(P).$$

From the above inequality it is clear that in order to establish an asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$ it suffices to obtain asymptotic formulae for the integrals $R_{\pm}(P)$ that are asymptotically equal.

3.2.2 A mixed version of the circle method

In order to study the integrals $R_{\pm}(P)$ defined in (3.2.6) we apply a mixed version of the circle method. We dissect separately \mathbb{R} and [0, 1).

Dissection of \mathbb{R} . Here we apply a Davenport–Heilbronn dissection. Write $\gamma = \theta - \lfloor \theta \rfloor \in (0, 1)$ for the fractional part of θ . Define the parameters $\delta_0 = \delta_0(\theta)$ and $\omega = \omega(\theta)$ by

$$\delta_0(\theta) = 2^{1-2\theta}$$
 and $\omega(\theta) = \min\left\{\frac{1-\gamma}{12}, \frac{1}{5^{100(\theta+d)}}\right\}.$ (3.2.7)

Define the set of major, minor, and trivial arcs respectively as follows

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{M} &= \left\{ \alpha_{\theta} \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha_{\theta}| < P^{-\theta + \delta_{0}} \right\}, \\ \mathfrak{m} &= \left\{ \alpha_{\theta} \in \mathbb{R} : P^{-\theta + \delta_{0}} \le |\alpha_{\theta}| < P^{\omega} \right\}, \\ \mathfrak{t} &= \left\{ \alpha_{\theta} \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha_{\theta}| \ge P^{\omega} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Dissection of [0, 1). Here we apply a classical Hardy–Littlewood dissection into major and

minor arcs. Pick a parameter ξ satisfying

$$0 < \xi \le \frac{\delta_0}{8}.\tag{3.2.8}$$

For integers a, q such that $0 \le a < q \le P^{\xi}$ and (a,q) = 1, we define a major arc around the rational fraction a/q to be the set

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q,a) = \{ \alpha_d \in [0,1) : |\alpha_d - a/q| < P^{-d+\xi} \}.$$

We now form the union

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\xi} = \bigcup_{\substack{0 \le a < q \le P^{\xi} \\ (a,q)=1}} \mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q,a),$$

and call this the set of major arcs. Note that \mathfrak{N}_{ξ} is a union of disjoint sets. Indeed, suppose that there exists $\alpha_d \in [0, 1)$ which belongs to two distinct major arcs $\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q_1, a_1), \mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q_2, a_2) \subset \mathfrak{N}_{\xi}$. Since $a_1/q_1 \neq a_2/q_2$ one has

$$\frac{1}{q_1q_2} \le \left| \frac{a_1q_2 - a_2q_1}{q_1q_2} \right| \le 2P^{-d+\xi},$$

which in turn implies that $1 \leq 2q_1q_2P^{-d+\xi} \leq 2P^{-d+3\xi}$. This is clearly impossible for large P, since by our choice in (3.2.8) one has $\xi < 1/3$. The set of minor arcs is defined to be the complement of the set of major arcs. Denote this set by \mathfrak{n}_{ξ} . Namely we have

$$\mathfrak{n}_{\xi} = [0,1) \setminus \mathfrak{N}_{\xi}.$$

Using the above dissections one may express $[0,1)\times \mathbb{R}$ into a disjoint union of sets of the shape

$$[0,1)\times\mathbb{R}=\mathfrak{P}\cup\mathfrak{p}\cup\mathfrak{c},$$

where we define the sets $\mathfrak{P},\mathfrak{p}$ and \mathfrak{c} as follows.

(1) The set of major arcs \mathfrak{P} given by

$$\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{N}_{\mathcal{E}} imes \mathfrak{M}$$

(2) The set of minor arcs p given by

$$\mathfrak{p} = ([0,1) \times \mathfrak{m})) \cup (\mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}).$$

(3) The set of trivial arcs c given by

$$\mathfrak{c} = [0,1) \times \mathfrak{t}.$$

For a Lebesgue measurable $\mathcal{B} \subset [0,1) \times \mathbb{R}$ we define

$$R_{\pm}(P;\mathcal{B}) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} \mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$
(3.2.9)

Recalling (3.2.6), one has that

$$R_{\pm}(P) = R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{P}) + R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{p}) + R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{c}).$$
(3.2.10)

3.2.3 An application of Hölder's inequality

We begin by recalling the well known inequality

$$|z_1\cdots z_n| \ll |z_1|^n + \cdots |z_n|^n,$$

which is valid for all complex numbers z_i . Let \mathcal{B} be a Lebesgue measurable set. An application of this inequality reveals that for some indices i, j and k one has

$$|\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})| \ll f_i^{\ell} g_j^m h_k^n,$$

where for easy of notation we abbreviate

$$|f_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|$$
 to f_i , $|g_j(\alpha_\theta)|$ to g_j and $|h_k(\alpha_d)|$ to h_k

Let $\delta \in [0,1/3)$ be a real number at our disposal to be chosen at a later stage. We write

$$\ell' = \ell - \delta$$
 and $s' = \ell' + m + n = s - \delta.$ (3.2.11)

Note here that $\ell', s' \notin \mathbb{N}$. The previous estimate yields

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \left(\sup_{\mathcal{B}} |f_i| \right)^{\delta} \int_{\mathcal{B}} f_i^{\ell'} g_j^m h_k^n |K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha},$$
(3.2.12)

where the supremum is taken over $\alpha = (\alpha_{\theta}, \alpha_d) \in \mathcal{B}$.

We define the following auxiliary mean values,

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{f_i}(\mathcal{B}) &= \int_{\mathcal{B}} f_i^{A_{\theta}} | K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) | \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \qquad \Xi_{f_i,g_j}(\mathcal{B}) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} f_i^{A_d} g_j^{A_{\theta}} | K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) | \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \\ \Xi_{f_i,h_k}(\mathcal{B}) &= \int_{\mathcal{B}} f_i^{A_{\theta}} h_k^{A_d} | K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) | \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \qquad \Xi_{g_j,h_k}(\mathcal{B}) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} g_j^{A_{\theta}} h_k^{A_d} | K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) | \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}. \end{split}$$

For $\omega_i \in (0,1)$ a formal application of Hölder's inequality reveals

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} f_{i}^{\ell'} g_{j}^{m} h_{k}^{n} | K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) | \mathbf{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}
\ll \left(\Xi_{f_{i}}(\mathcal{B})\right)^{\omega_{1}} \left(\Xi_{f_{i},g_{j}}(\mathcal{B})\right)^{\omega_{2}} \left(\Xi_{f_{i},h_{k}}(\mathcal{B})\right)^{\omega_{3}} \left(\Xi_{g_{j},h_{k}}(\mathcal{B})\right)^{\omega_{4}}.$$
(3.2.13)

Combining (3.2.13) and (3.2.12) yields

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| d\boldsymbol{\alpha}
\ll \left(\sup_{\mathcal{B}} |f_{i}| \right)^{\delta} \left(\Xi_{f_{i}}(\mathcal{B}) \right)^{\omega_{1}} \left(\Xi_{f_{i},g_{j}}(\mathcal{B}) \right)^{\omega_{2}} \left(\Xi_{f_{i},h_{k}}(\mathcal{B}) \right)^{\omega_{3}} \left(\Xi_{g_{j},h_{k}}(\mathcal{B}) \right)^{\omega_{4}}.$$
(3.2.14)

The task now is to prove that there exist admissible values ω_i such that the inequality (3.2.13) is valid. The $\omega_i \in (0, 1)$ must satisfy the simultaneous linear equations

$$\begin{cases}
A_{\theta}\omega_{1} + A_{d}\omega_{2} + A_{\theta}\omega_{3} = \ell \\
A_{\theta}\omega_{2} + A_{\theta}\omega_{4} = m \\
A_{d}\omega_{3} + A_{d}\omega_{4} = n \\
\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \omega_{3} + \omega_{4} = 1.
\end{cases}$$

By the two equations in the middle we infer that

$$\omega_2 = \omega_3 + \frac{m}{A_\theta} - \frac{n}{A_d}.$$

Substituting $\omega_2 + \omega_4 = m/A_{\theta}$ into the last equation of the system yields

$$\omega_1 = -\omega_3 + 1 - \frac{m}{A_\theta}.$$

One may substitute into the first equation of the system the above values for ω_2 and ω_1 . Hence

$$\omega_3 = \frac{s' - A_\theta}{A_d} - \frac{m}{A_\theta}$$

Having determined a value for ω_3 one may solve for ω_1, ω_2 and ω_4 to obtain

$$\omega_1 = 1 - \frac{s' - A_{\theta}}{A_d}, \qquad \omega_2 = \frac{s' - A_{\theta}}{A_d} - \frac{n}{A_d}, \qquad \omega_4 = \frac{m}{A_{\theta}} + \frac{n}{A_d} - \frac{s' - A_{\theta}}{A_d}.$$
 (3.2.15)

We now have to ensure that $\omega_i \in (0, 1)$. Since $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \omega_4 = 1$ it suffices to ensure that $\omega_i > 0$. Solving the simultaneous inequalities $\omega_i > 0$ $(1 \le i \le 4)$ yields

$$\max\left\{A_{\theta}+n, \ \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m+A_{\theta}\right\} \le s' \le \min\left\{A_{\theta}+A_d, \ A_{\theta}+\frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m+n\right\}.$$

Note that this is a legitimate constrain since we assume that $0 \le m \le A_{\theta}$ and $0 \le n \le A_d$.

Next, we deduce a constraint for s. Recall from (3.2.11) that $s' = s - \delta$. Since we consider s to be a natural number, the preceding inequality about the range of s' now delivers

$$\left\lceil \delta + \max\left\{A_{\theta} + n, \ \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + A_{\theta}\right\}\right\rceil \le s \le \left\lfloor \delta + \min\left\{A_{\theta} + A_d, \ A_{\theta} + \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + n\right\}\right\rfloor.$$

For any $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$\lfloor x \rfloor + \lfloor y \rfloor \le \lfloor x + y \rfloor \le \lfloor x \rfloor + \lfloor y \rfloor + 1$$
$$\lceil x \rceil + \lceil y \rceil - 1 \le \lceil x + y \rceil \le \lceil x \rceil + \lceil y \rceil + 1.$$

Since $0 \leq \delta < 1/3 < 1$ one has

$$\left\lfloor \delta + \min\left\{A_{\theta} + A_{d}, A_{\theta} + \frac{A_{d}}{A_{\theta}}m + n\right\}\right\rfloor \ge \left\lfloor \min\left\{A_{\theta} + A_{d}, A_{\theta} + \frac{A_{d}}{A_{\theta}}m + n\right\}\right\rfloor + 1,$$

and

$$\left\lceil \delta + \max\left\{A_{\theta} + n, \ \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + A_{\theta}\right\}\right\rceil \leq \left\lceil \max\left\{A_{\theta} + n, \ \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m + A_{\theta}\right\}\right\rceil + 1.$$

Hence one has

$$\left\lceil \max\left\{A_{\theta}+n, \ \frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m+A_{\theta}\right\}\right\rceil + 1 \le s \le \left\lfloor \min\left\{A_{\theta}+A_d, \ A_{\theta}+\frac{A_d}{A_{\theta}}m+n\right\}\right\rfloor + 1,$$

which is precisely the range prescribed by the condition (d) in the statement of Theorem 3.1.2. It is therefore clear that for such *s* the inequality (3.2.13) is valid.

3.3 Auxiliary mean value estimates

The aim of this section is to collect the necessary auxiliary estimates that we employ in the following sections. From now on, and for ease of notation, for each $j \in \{1, ..., n, \theta\}$ we put

$$\sigma_{t,j}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{t} (x_i^j - x_{t+i}^j).$$
(3.3.1)

Lemma 3.3.1. Suppose that $I \subset (0, \infty)$ is a bounded interval. Let δ be a given positive real number and define the number Δ by the relation $2\delta\Delta = 1$. We write $V_t(I; \delta)$ to denote the number of positive integer solutions $x_i \in I$ of the inequality

$$|\sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})| < \delta.$$

Then one has

$$\delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| \sum_{x \in I} e(\alpha x^{\theta}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll V_t(I; \delta) \ll \delta \int_{-\Delta}^{\Delta} \left| \sum_{x \in I} e(\alpha x^{\theta}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

with the implicit constants in the above estimate being independent from I, θ , and δ .

Proof. This is a special case of [81, Lemma 2.1] with K = 1 and $\phi(x) = x^{\theta}$ in their notation. Alternatively, this follows by Lemma 2.3.2 with $S = I \times I$ and intervals $I_1 = I_3 = I$.

Next, we need a variant of the above lemma that allows one to bound from above the mixed mean values $\Xi_{f_i,g_i}(\mathcal{B})$ and $\Xi_{f_i,h_k}(\mathcal{B})$, by the number of solutions of the corresponding under-

lying system. We write $Z_1(P)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left|\lambda_i \sigma_{\frac{A_d}{2},\theta}(\mathbf{x}) + \mu_j \sigma_{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2},\theta}(\mathbf{y})\right| < \frac{1}{2\kappa} \\ a_i \sigma_{\frac{A_d}{2},d}(\mathbf{x}) = 0, \end{cases}$$

with $\frac{1}{2}x_i^*P < \mathbf{x} \le 2x_i^*P$ and $\frac{1}{2}y_i^*P < \mathbf{y} \le 2y_i^*P$. Similarly, we write $Z_2(P)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left|\lambda_i \sigma_{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2},\theta}(\mathbf{x})\right| < \frac{1}{2\kappa} \\ a_i \sigma_{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2},d}(\mathbf{x}) + b_k \sigma_{\frac{A_d}{2},d}(\mathbf{z}) = 0, \end{cases}$$

with $\frac{1}{2}x_i^{\star}P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2x_i^{\star}P$ and $\frac{1}{2}z_i^{\star}P < \mathbf{z} \leq 2z_i^{\star}P$.

Lemma 3.3.2. Let κ be a positive real number and write $\mathcal{B} = [-1, 1] \times [-\kappa, \kappa]$. Then for each index i, j and k one has

- (i) $\Xi_{f_i,g_j}(\mathcal{B}) \ll \kappa Z_1(P)$;
- (ii) $\Xi_{f_i,h_k}(\mathcal{B}) \ll \kappa Z_2(P).$

The implicit constants do not depend on κ .

Proof. We give the proof only of estimate (i). One can establish estimate (ii) in a similar fashion. Fix indices i and j. For ease of notation we put

$$p(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \lambda_i \sigma_{\frac{A_d}{2}, \theta}(\mathbf{x}) + \mu_j \sigma_{\frac{A_\theta}{2}, \theta}(\mathbf{y}) \qquad \text{and} \qquad q(\mathbf{x}) = a_i \sigma_{\frac{A_d}{2}, d}(\mathbf{x}).$$

Then, $\mathbb{Z}_1(\mathbb{P})$ is equivalently given by the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} |p(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| < \frac{1}{2\kappa} \\ |q(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2} \end{cases}$$

with $\frac{1}{2}x_i^{\star}P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2x_i^{\star}P$ and $\frac{1}{2}y_i^{\star}P < \mathbf{y} \leq 2y_i^{\star}P$.

Define the function

$$\operatorname{sinc}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{\sin(\pi x)}{\pi x}, & \text{ when } x \neq 0, \\ \\ 1, & \text{ when } x = 0. \end{cases}$$

By [30] we know that for each $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$\Lambda(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(x\xi) {\rm sinc}^2(\xi) {\rm d}\xi,$$

where for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we write $\Lambda(x) = \max\{0, 1 - |x|\}$. Note that one has $0 \le \Lambda(x) \le 1$. So for each solution counted by $Z_1(P)$ one has $0 < \Lambda(2\kappa p(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})) < 1$ and $0 < \Lambda(2q(\mathbf{x})) < 1$.

By the above considerations and taking the sum over the tuples \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} with $\frac{1}{2}x_i^* P < \mathbf{x} \le 2x_i^* P$ and $\frac{1}{2}y_i^* P < \mathbf{y} \le 2y_i^* P$, we infer that

$$\begin{split} Z_1(P) &\geq \sum_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} \Lambda(2\kappa p(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})) \Lambda(2q(\mathbf{x})) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e\left(u_1 \kappa p(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) + u_2 2q(\mathbf{x})\right) \operatorname{sinc}^2(u_1) \operatorname{sinc}^2(u_2) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{u} \\ &= \frac{1}{4\kappa} \sum_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e\left(\alpha_{\theta} p(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) + \alpha_d q(\mathbf{x})\right) \operatorname{sinc}^2\left(\frac{1}{2\kappa} \alpha_{\theta}\right) \operatorname{sinc}^2\left(\frac{1}{2} \alpha_d\right) \mathrm{d}\alpha, \end{split}$$

where in the last step we applied a change of variables under the transformation

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2\kappa} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{\theta} \\ \alpha_d \end{pmatrix}.$$

Because we have a finite sum and since the integral is absolutely convergent, one can change the order. Thus by the above inequality we obtain

$$Z_1(P) \ge \frac{1}{4\kappa} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_i^{A_d} g_j^{A_{\theta}} \operatorname{sinc}^2\left(\frac{1}{2\kappa}\alpha_{\theta}\right) \operatorname{sinc}^2\left(\frac{1}{2}\alpha_d\right) d\alpha.$$
(3.3.2)

Next, we use Jordan's inequality, which states that for $0 < x \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$ one has

$$\frac{2}{\pi} \le \frac{\sin x}{x} < 1.$$

For a proof of this inequality see [48, p. 33]. One then has sinc²(x) > 4/ π^2 for $|x| < \frac{1}{2}$. Thus, for $|\alpha_{\theta}| < \kappa$ and $|\alpha_d| < 1$ one has

$$\operatorname{sinc}^2\left(rac{1}{2\kappa}lpha_ heta
ight), \quad \operatorname{sinc}^2\left(rac{1}{2}lpha_d
ight) > 4/\pi^2.$$

Hence, the inequality (3.3.2) now delivers

$$Z_1(P) \gg \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{-1}^{1} f_i^{A_d} g_j^{A_{\theta}} \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

which completes the proof.

For a tuple $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ we put $T(\alpha) = T(\alpha; P)$, where

$$T(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_n x^n + \alpha_\theta x^\theta).$$
(3.3.3)

We need the following general estimate.

Theorem 3.3.3. Let $\kappa \ge 1$ be a real number and suppose that $t \ge A_{\theta}/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[0,1)^n} \left| T(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \kappa P^{2t - \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) - \theta + \epsilon}.$$

The implicit constant depends on ϵ, θ , and t, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > A_{\theta}/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

Proof. This is Theorem B.1 in Appendix B.

Next, we obtain essentially optimal mean value estimate for the exponential sums f, g and h.

Lemma 3.3.4. Let $\kappa \geq 1$ be a real number. Then the following are valid.

(i) Suppose that $t \ge A_{\theta}/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} \left| f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \kappa P^{2t - (\theta + d) + \epsilon}.$$

The implicit constant depends on ϵ , θ and t, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > A_{\theta}/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

(ii) Suppose that $t \ge A_{\theta}/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \left| g(\alpha) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \kappa P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon}$$

The implicit constant depends on ϵ , θ and t, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > A_{\theta}/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

(iii) Suppose that $t \ge A_d/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_0^1 |h(\alpha)|^{2t} \,\mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{2t-d+\epsilon}.$$

The implicit constant depends on ϵ , d and t, but not on P. Furthermore, for $t > A_d/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

Proof. We begin with the estimate in (iii). This follows from [95, Corollary 14.7] since $A_d \ge s_0(d)$, where $s_0(d)$ is defined as

$$s_0(d) = d(d-1) + \min_{0 \le m < d} \frac{2d + m(m-1)}{m+1}$$

The estimate in (ii) is Theorem 2.1.4. Alternative, one can apply an argument similar to the one present below for proving (i).

We now come to the estimate in (i). Temporarily we write $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. Keep in mind that we suppose that $\theta > d + 1$, and so one has d < n. In order to prove the estimate in (i) we apply an average process as in [87, Theorem 2.1]. For each $1 \leq j \leq n$ with $j \neq d$ and for a tuple $\mathbf{h} = (h_1, \ldots, h_{d-1}, h_{d+1}, \ldots, h_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}$ we put

$$\delta(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{h}) = \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq d}}^{n} \int_{0}^{1} e\left(\beta_{j} \left(\sigma_{t, j}(\mathbf{x}) - h_{j}\right)\right) \mathrm{d}\beta_{j},$$

where recall from (3.3.1) the definition of $\sigma_{t,j}(\mathbf{x})$. Let us rewrite the exponential sum $T(\boldsymbol{\alpha})$ defined in (3.3.3) as

$$T(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e(\beta_1 x + \dots + \beta_{d-1} x^{d-1} + \alpha_d x^d + \beta_{d+1} x^{d+1} + \dots + \alpha_\theta x^\theta).$$

Note that

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[0,1)^{n}} |T(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \alpha_{d}, \alpha_{\theta})|^{2t} e \left(-\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq d}}^{n} \beta_{j} h_{j} \right) d\boldsymbol{\beta} =$$

$$= \sum_{1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P} \delta(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{h}) \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} e \left(\alpha_{d} \sigma_{t,d}(\mathbf{x}) + \alpha_{\theta} \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x}) \right) d\alpha_{d} d\alpha_{\theta}.$$
(3.3.4)

By orthogonality one has

$$\int_0^1 e\left(\beta_j \left(\sigma_{t,j}(\mathbf{x}) - h_j\right)\right) \mathrm{d}\beta_j = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{when } \sigma_{t,j}(\mathbf{x}) = h_j, \\ \\ 0, & \text{when } \sigma_{t,j}(\mathbf{x}) \neq h_j. \end{cases}$$

It is apparent that for each fixed choice of $1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P$ there is precisely one possible value for the tuple $\mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}$. Moreover, for each j and for $1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P$ one has $|\sigma_{t,j}(\mathbf{x})| \leq tP^j$. Hence

$$\sum_{|h_1| \le tP} \cdots \sum_{|h_{d-1}| \le tP^{d-1}} \sum_{|h_{d+1}| \le tP^{d+1}} \cdots \sum_{|h_n| \le tP^n} \delta(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{h}) = 1.$$
(3.3.5)

One may return to (3.3.4) and sum over tuples **h** satisfying $|h_j| \le tP^j$ for each $1 \le j \le n$ with $j \ne d$. Thus we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{h}} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[0,1)^n} |T(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^{2t} e\left(-\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq d}}^n \beta_j h_j\right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta} = \\ &= \sum_{1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{h}} \delta(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{h})\right) \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_0^1 e\left(\alpha_d \sigma_{t,d}(\mathbf{x}) + \alpha_\theta \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})\right) \mathrm{d}\alpha_d \mathrm{d}\alpha_\theta. \end{split}$$

Applying the triangle inequality and taking into account (3.3.5) one has

$$\begin{split} P^{\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)-d} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[0,1)^n} |T(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta} \geq \\ \geq \sum_{1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq P} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} e\left(\alpha_d \sigma_{t,d}(\mathbf{x}) + \alpha_\theta \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})\right) \mathrm{d}\alpha_d \mathrm{d}\alpha_\theta. \end{split}$$

Note now that

$$\sum_{1 \le \mathbf{x} \le P} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} e\left(\alpha_{d} \sigma_{t,d}(\mathbf{x}) + \alpha_{\theta} \sigma_{t,\theta}(\mathbf{x})\right) \mathrm{d}\alpha_{d} \mathrm{d}\alpha_{\theta} = \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} |f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\theta}$$

Invoking Theorem 3.3.3, we deduce that for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\begin{split} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} \left| f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll P^{\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)-d} \cdot P^{2t-\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)-\theta+\epsilon} \\ \ll P^{2t-(\theta+d)+\epsilon}, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof.

Below we obtain mean value estimates for the exponential sums f_i, g_j and h_k .

Lemma 3.3.5. For each index i, j and k the following are valid.

(i) Suppose that κ is a real number such that $\kappa |\lambda_i| \ge 1$. Suppose further that $t \ge A_{\theta}/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} |f_{i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2t} \, \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \kappa P^{2t - (\theta + d) + \epsilon}.$$

The implicit constant depend on $\epsilon, \theta, t, \lambda_i$ and a_i , but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > A_{\theta}/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

(ii) Suppose that κ is a real number such that $\kappa |\mu_j| \ge 1$. Suppose further that $t \ge A_{\theta}/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} |g_j(\alpha_{\theta})|^{2t} \, \, \mathrm{d} \alpha_{\theta} \ll \kappa P^{2t-\theta+\epsilon}$$

The implicit constant depend on ϵ, θ, t and μ_j , but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $t > A_{\theta}/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

(iii) Suppose that $t \ge A_d/2$ is a natural number. Then, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$, one has

$$\int_0^1 |h_k(\alpha_d)|^{2t} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha_d \ll P^{2t-d+\epsilon}.$$

The implicit constant depends on ϵ , d, t and b_k , but not on P. Furthermore, for $t > A_d/2$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

Proof. We give a proof only for the estimate in (i). One may argue in a similar fashion to establish the estimates in (ii) and (iii).

Fix an index *i*. Recalling (3.2.5) we see that it suffices to prove the following estimate

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} \left| F_{i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \kappa P^{2t - (\theta + d) + \epsilon}.$$

Making a change of variables by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{\theta} \\ \alpha_{d} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{|\lambda_i|} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{|a_i|} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{\theta} \\ \beta_{d} \end{pmatrix},$$

yields

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{0}^{1} \left| F_{i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\left| \lambda_{i} a_{i} \right|} \int_{-\kappa \left| \lambda_{i} \right|}^{\kappa \left| \lambda_{i} \right|} \int_{0}^{\left| a_{i} \right|} \left| f(\pm \beta_{d}, \pm \beta_{\theta}) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}$$

One can chop the interval $[0, |a_i|]$ into at most $\lfloor |a_i| \rfloor + 1$ intervals of length at most one. Moreover, because of the 1-periodicity with respect to β_d one has

$$\begin{split} \int_{-\kappa|\lambda_i|}^{\kappa|\lambda_i|} \int_{0}^{|a_i|} \left| f(\pm\beta_d,\pm\beta_\theta) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta} \ll \sum_{n=0}^{\lfloor|a_i|\rfloor} \int_{-\kappa|\lambda_i|}^{\kappa|\lambda_i|} \int_{n}^{n+1} \left| f(\pm\beta_d,\pm\beta_\theta) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta} \\ \ll \int_{-\kappa|\lambda_i|}^{\kappa|\lambda_i|} \int_{0}^{1} \left| f(\pm\beta_d,\pm\beta_\theta) \right|^{2t} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}. \end{split}$$

Finally, if necessary, one can make one more change of variables. This together with the fact that $f(-\beta) = \overline{f(\beta)}$ yields

$$\int_{-\kappa|\lambda_i|}^{\kappa|\lambda_i|} \int_0^1 |f(\pm\beta_d,\pm\beta_\theta)|^{2t} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta} = \int_{-\kappa|\lambda_i|}^{\kappa|\lambda_i|} \int_0^1 |f(\beta_d,\beta_\theta)|^{2t} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}.$$

The conclusion now follows by applying Lemma 3.3.4.

We now estimate the auxiliary mean values $\Xi_{f_i}, \Xi_{f_i,g_j}, \Xi_{f_i,h_k}$, and Ξ_{g_j,h_k} .

Lemma 3.3.6. Let κ be a real number such that for each index i and j one has $\kappa |\lambda_i| \ge 1$ and $\kappa |\mu_j| \ge 1$. Let $\mathcal{B} = [0, 1] \times [-\kappa, \kappa]$. Then, for each index i, j and k, and for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

- (i) $\Xi_{f_i}(\mathcal{B}) \ll \kappa P^{A_{ heta} (heta + d) + \epsilon}$;
- (ii) $\Xi_{f_i,g_j}(\mathcal{B}) \ll \kappa P^{A_{\theta}+A_d-(\theta+d)+\epsilon}$;
- (iii) $\Xi_{f_i,h_k}(\mathcal{B}) \ll \kappa P^{A_{\theta}+A_d-(\theta+d)+\epsilon}$;
- (iv) $\Xi_{g_j,h_k}(\mathcal{B}) \ll \kappa P^{A_{\theta}+A_d-(\theta+d)+\epsilon}.$

The implicit constants in the above estimates may depend on θ , d, λ_i , μ_j , a_i , b_k and ϵ , but not on κ and P.

Proof. In the following we make use of the fact that by (3.2.2) one has $|K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \ll 1$. The estimate (*i*) follows by part (*i*) of Lemma 3.3.5 with $t = A_{\theta}/2$. The proof of the estimate (*iv*) is straightforward. One may write

$$\Xi_{g_j,h_k} \ll \left(\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \left|g_j(\alpha_{\theta})\right|^{A_{\theta}} \mathrm{d}\alpha_{\theta}\right) \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left|h_k(\alpha_d)\right|^{A_d} \mathrm{d}\alpha_d\right),$$

and the conclusion now follows by using (ii) and (iii) of Lemma 3.3.5.

Now we turn our attention to the estimate in (ii). Fix indices i and j. By Lemma 3.3.2 and since we assume that $\kappa \geq \max_{i,j} \{ |\lambda_i|^{-1}, |\mu_j|^{-1} \}$ one has

$$\Xi_{f_i,g_j} \ll \kappa Z_1(P),\tag{3.3.6}$$

whereas now $Z_1(P)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \lambda_{i} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_{d}}{2}} \left(x_{i}^{\theta} - x_{\frac{A_{d}}{2}+i}^{\theta} \right) + \mu_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2}} \left(y_{i}^{\theta} - y_{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2}+i}^{\theta} \right) \right| < M \\ a_{i} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_{d}}{2}} \left(x_{i}^{d} - x_{\frac{A_{d}}{2}+i}^{d} \right) = 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.3.7)$$

with $\frac{1}{2}x_i^*P < \mathbf{x} \le 2x_i^*P$ and $\frac{1}{2}y_i^*P < \mathbf{y} \le 2y_i^*P$, where $M = \left(2\max_{i,j}\left\{|\lambda_i|^{-1}, |\mu_j|^{-1}\right\}\right)^{-1}$. By orthogonality, the number of integer solutions of the equation in (3.3.7) is counted by the mean value

$$\int_0^1 \left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2} x_i^{\star} P < x \le 2x_i^{\star} P} e(\alpha x^d) \right|^{A_d} \mathrm{d}\alpha_d.$$

Note that

$$\left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2}x_i^* P < x \le 2x_i^* P} e(\alpha x^d) \right| \ll \left| h\left(\alpha; 2x_i^* P\right) \right| + \left| h\left(\alpha; \frac{1}{2}x_i^* P\right) \right|.$$

So by Lemma 3.3.4 one has for any fixed $\epsilon>0$ that

$$\int_0^1 \left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2} x_i^* P < x \le 2 x_i^* P} e(\alpha x^d) \right|^{A_d} \mathrm{d}\alpha_d \ll P^{A_d - d + \epsilon}.$$

Let us fix an integer solution **x** for the equation in (3.3.7). As we proved, this can be done by choosing among $O\left(P^{A_d-d+\epsilon}\right)$ possibilities. Substitute now these values into the inequality in (3.3.7). Then the first block of variables is fixed and so one has to count the number of solutions of the inhomogeneous inequality

$$\left| \mu_j \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_\theta}{2}} \left(y_i^\theta - y_{\frac{A_\theta}{2}+i}^\theta \right) + L \right| < M$$

with $\frac{1}{2}y_i^{\star}P < \mathbf{y} \leq 2y_i^{\star}P$, where $L = L(\lambda_i, \theta, d, \epsilon, \mathbf{x})$ is a fixed real number, determined by the choice we made for the tuple \mathbf{x} . We write $V_{A_{\theta}}^{(1)}(P)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of this inequality. As a consequence of Theorem 2.1.2 one has

$$V_{A_{\theta}}^{(1)}(P) \ll P^{A_{\theta}-\theta+\epsilon}.$$

Hence, we have showed that $Z_1(P) \ll P^{A_{\theta}+A_d-(\theta+d)+\epsilon}$ and in view of (3.3.6) the proof of (ii) is now complete.

Similarly we argue for (iii). Fix indices i and k. By Lemma 3.3.2 one has

$$\Xi_{f_i,h_k} \ll \kappa Z_2(P),\tag{3.3.8}$$

whereas now $\mathbb{Z}_2(\mathbb{P})$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \lambda_{i} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2}} \left(x_{i}^{\theta} - x_{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2}+i}^{\theta} \right) \right| < M \\ a_{i} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2}} \left(x_{i}^{d} - x_{\frac{A_{\theta}}{2}+i}^{d} \right) + b_{k} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_{d}}{2}} \left(z_{i}^{d} - z_{\frac{A_{d}}{2}+i}^{d} \right) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.9)

with $\frac{1}{2}x_i^*P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2x_i^*P$ and $\frac{1}{2}z_i^*P < \mathbf{z} \leq 2z_i^*P$. We write $V_{A_\theta}^{(2)}(P)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the inequality in (3.3.9). By Lemma 3.3.1 one has

$$V_{A_{\theta}}^{(2)}(P) \ll \int_{\frac{-M|\lambda_i|}{2}}^{\frac{M|\lambda_i|}{2}} \left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2}y_i^*P < y \le 2y_i^*P} e(\alpha x^{\theta}) \right|^{A_{\theta}} \mathrm{d}\alpha.$$

As in (ii) we can show that for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$V_{A_{\theta}}^{(2)}(P) \ll P^{A_{\theta}-\theta+\epsilon}$$

Fix a solution **x** counted by $V_{A_{\theta}}^{(2)}(P)$. Substitute these values into the equation of system in (3.3.9). Then the first block of variables becomes a fixed integer, say $C = C(\lambda_i, \theta, \epsilon, \mathbf{x})$, which depends on the choice we made for the tuple **x**. Hence, this equation takes the shape

$$a_i C + b_k \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_d}{2}} \left(z_i^d - z_{\frac{A_d}{2}+i}^d \right) = 0.$$

Note that if b_k does not divide the product a_iC , then the above equation is not soluble in integers. In such a case $Z_2(P) = 0$ and the claimed estimate holds trivially. Hence, assuming that $b_k \mid (a_iC)$ we can rewrite it as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\frac{A_d}{2}} \left(z_i^d - z_{\frac{A_d}{2}+i}^d \right) = C',$$

where $C' = C'(\lambda_i, a_i, b_k, \theta, \epsilon, \mathbf{x})$ is a fixed integer determined by the choice we made for the tuple \mathbf{x} . The number of integer solutions of this last equation is bounded above by the mean value

$$\int_0^1 \left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2} z_i^* P < z \le 2 z_i^* P} e(\alpha z^d) \right|^{A_a} e(-\alpha C') \mathrm{d}\alpha$$

Again note that

$$\left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2} z_i^{\star} P < z \le 2 z_i^{\star} P} e(\alpha z^d) \right| \ll \left| h\left(\alpha; 2 z_i^{\star} P\right) \right| + \left| h\left(\alpha; \frac{1}{2} z_i^{\star} P\right) \right|.$$

So, by the triangle inequality and invoking Lemma 3.3.4 we deduce that

$$\int_0^1 \left| \sum_{\frac{1}{2} z_i^* P < z \le 2 z_i^* P} e(\alpha z^d) \right|^{A_d} e(-\alpha C') \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{A_d - d + \epsilon}.$$

Hence, we deduce that $Z_2(P) \ll P^{A_{\theta}+A_d(\theta+d)+\epsilon}$. In view of (3.3.8) the proof of the estimate (iii) is now complete.

3.4 Minor arcs analysis

In this section we deal with the set of minor arcs $\mathfrak{p} = ([0,1) \times \mathfrak{m}) \cup (\mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M})$. Here we aim to show that for $s_{\min} \leq s \leq s_{\max}$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{p}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

For a better presentation of our approach we split the analysis into two parts, dealing separately with the sets $[0, 1) \times \mathfrak{m}$ and $\mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}$.

3.4.1 Minor arcs: Part 1

First we consider the case where $(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in [0, 1) \times \mathfrak{m}$. Recall that the set \mathfrak{m} is given by

$$\mathfrak{m} = \{ \alpha_{\theta} \in \mathbb{R} : P^{-\theta + \delta_0} \le |\alpha_{\theta}| < P^{\omega} \}.$$

Define the intervals $\mathfrak{m}^+ = [P^{-\theta+\delta_0}, P^{\omega}), \mathfrak{m}^- = (-P^{\omega}, -P^{-\theta+\delta_0}]$ and note that $\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}^+ \cup \mathfrak{m}^-$. Recall (3.2.9). Making a change of variables by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{\theta} \\ \alpha_{d} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{\theta} \\ \beta_{d} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.4.1)$$

and using the 1-periodicity of the function $\mathcal{F}(\alpha)$ with respect to α_d , yields

$$R_{\pm}\left(P;[0,1]\times\mathfrak{m}^{-}\right) = \overline{R_{\pm}\left(P;[0,1]\times\mathfrak{m}^{+}\right)},\tag{3.4.2}$$

where $\overline{R_{\pm}(P;[0,1)\times\mathfrak{m}^+)}$ is the complex conjugate. Therefore, it suffices to deal with the set $[0,1)\times\mathfrak{m}^+$.

Let f be a real valued function defined on the natural numbers, and let $h \in \mathbb{N}$. Define the forward difference operator $\Delta_h f$ via the relation

$$\left(\Delta_h f\right)(x) = f(x+h) - f(x).$$

For a tuple $\mathbf{h} = (h_1, \dots, h_t) \in \mathbb{N}^t$ we define the difference operator $\Delta_{h_1,\dots,h_t} = \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}$ inductively by

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)} f(x) = \Delta_{h_t} \left(\Delta_{h_1, \dots, h_{t-1}} f(x) \right).$$

It is apparent that the operator Δ_h is a linear one. Namely, for constants a, b, and two functions f, g, one has

$$\Delta_h \left(af + bg \right) = a \Delta_h f + b \Delta_h g.$$

For $d \geq 2$ one can inductively verify that

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^d) = d! h_1 \cdots h_d.$$

Next, we wish to obtain an analogous result for a monomial of fractional degree θ .

Lemma 3.4.1. Suppose that $t \leq \lfloor \theta \rfloor$ is a natural number. Let $\mathbf{h} \in (\mathbb{N} \cap [1, P])^t$ and suppose that $P < x \leq 2P$. Then for each natural number $r \geq 1$ one has

$$\left|\frac{\mathbf{d}^r}{\mathbf{d}x^r}\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta})\right| \asymp h_1 \cdots h_t P^{\theta - r - t}.$$

Proof. Observe that if $\phi : I \to \mathbb{R}$ is an r times differentiable function defined on an interval I and h is a natural number, then one has for $x_0 \in I$ that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^r}{\mathrm{d}x^r}\Delta_h\phi(x)\Big|_{x=x_0} = \frac{\mathrm{d}^r}{\mathrm{d}x^r}\left(\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)\right)\Big|_{x=x_0} = \Delta_h\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^r}{\mathrm{d}x^r}\phi(x)\Big|_{x=x_0}\right).$$

From the inductively definition of the operator $\Delta^{(t)}_{\bf h}$ and iterating we obtain from the above observation that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^r}{\mathrm{d}x^r} \left(\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta}) \right) = \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^r}{\mathrm{d}x^r}(x^{\theta}) \right) = C_r \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta-r}),$$

where $C_r = \theta(\theta - 1) \cdots (\theta - r + 1)$.

From the above considerations follows that it suffices to show

$$\left|\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta-r})\right| \asymp h_1 \cdots h_t P^{\theta-r-t}.$$
(3.4.3)

To this end, we use induction on the number of shifts t and apply successively the mean value theorem of differential calculus to show that one has

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta-r}) = C_{r,t}h_1 \cdots h_d \xi_x^{\theta-r-t},$$

for some $\xi_x = \xi_{x,\mathbf{h}}$ with $x < \xi_x < x+h_1+\cdots+h_t$, where $C_{r,t} = (\theta-r)(\theta-r-1)\cdots(\theta-r-t+1)$. For t = 1 one has

$$\Delta_{h_1}(x^{\theta-r}) = \left((x+h_1)^{\theta-r} - x^{\theta-r} \right) = (\theta-r)h_1\xi_x^{\theta-r-1},$$

for some $\xi_x = \xi_{x,h_1}$ with $x < \xi_x < x + h_1$. Assume that the statement of the lemma holds for t - 1. We prove that it does hold for t. By the definition of the forward difference operator one has

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta-r}) = \Delta_{h_t} \left(\Delta_{\mathbf{h}'}^{(t-1)}(x^{\theta-r}) \right),$$

where $\mathbf{h}' = (h_1, \dots, h_{t-1}).$

By the inductive hypothesis one has

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t-1)}(x^{\theta-r}) = (\theta-r)\cdots(\theta-r-t+2)h_1\cdots h_{t-1}\zeta_x^{\theta-r-t+1}$$

for some $\zeta_x = \zeta_{x,\mathbf{h}'}$ with $x < \zeta_x < x + h_1 + \dots + h_{t-1}$. We put $f(\zeta_x) = \zeta_x^{\theta - r - t + 1}$ and write

$$f'(\zeta_x) = \frac{\mathrm{d}f(\zeta_x)}{\mathrm{d}\zeta_x}.$$

Clearly, $f'(\zeta_x) = (\theta - r - t + 1)\zeta_x^{\theta - r - t}$. One now has

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(t)}(x^{\theta-r}) = (\theta-r)\cdots(\theta-r-t+2)h_1\cdots h_{t-1}\left(f(\zeta_x+h_t)-f(\zeta_x)\right).$$
(3.4.4)

To treat the expression in the parenthesis one may apply the mean value theorem of differential calculus to the function f. Hence one may write

$$f(\zeta_x + h_t) - f(\zeta_x) = (\theta - r - t + 1)h_t \xi_x^{\theta - r - t},$$
(3.4.5)

for some $\xi_x = \xi_{x,\mathbf{h}}$ with $\zeta_x < \xi_x < \zeta_x + h_t$. By the induction process it is apparent that one has $x < \xi_x < x + h_1 + \dots + h_t$. It is apparent that whenever $1 \le \mathbf{h} \le P$ and $P < x \le 2P$ one has $\xi_x \asymp x \asymp P$. Putting together (3.4.4) and (3.4.5) confirms (3.4.3), and thus the proof of the lemma is complete.

In the analysis below we make use of Weyl's inequality, arising from the differencing process.

Lemma 3.4.2 (Weyl's inequality). Let $\phi(x)$ be a real valued function defined over the natural numbers. Let $d \ge 2$ be a natural number, and write $D = 2^{d-1}$. Then one has

$$\left| \sum_{1 \le x \le X} e(\phi(x)) \right|^{D} \ll X^{D-1} + X^{D-d} \left| \sum_{h_{1}=1}^{X} \cdots \sum_{h_{d-1}=1}^{X} \sum_{1 \le x < x+Y_{d-1} \le X} e\left(\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d-1)}(\phi(x)) \right) \right|,$$

where $Y_j = h_1 + \cdots + h_j$, for each j. The implied constant depends only on d, and an empty sum denotes zero.

Proof. See [2, Lemma 3.8].

From now one we fix an index i. By Lemma 3.4.2, and using the linearity of the forward difference operator one has

$$\left|F_{i}(\alpha_{d},\alpha_{\theta})\right|^{2^{d}} \ll P^{2^{d}-1} + P^{2^{d}-(d+1)} \sum_{\mathbf{h}} \left|\sum_{x} e\left(a_{i}\alpha_{d}d! h_{1}\cdots h_{d} + \lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^{\theta})\right)\right|$$
$$\ll P^{2^{d}-1} + P^{2^{d}-(d+1)} \sum_{\mathbf{h}} \left|\sum_{x} e\left(\lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^{\theta})\right)\right|,$$

where in the second step we used the triangle inequality. In the above summation notation, we sum over tuples **h** satisfying $1 \leq \mathbf{h} \leq P$ and x belongs to a subinterval of [1, P] determined by the shifts h_1, \ldots, h_d . For convenience we denote this interval by $I(\mathbf{h})$.

81

We define the exponential

$$S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h}) = \sum_{x \in I(\mathbf{h})} e\left(\lambda_i \alpha_{\theta} \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^{\theta})\right).$$
(3.4.6)

Hence, the above estimate now takes the shape

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^{2^d} \ll P^{2^d - 1} + P^{2^d - (d+1)} \sum_{\mathbf{h}} |S_i(\alpha_\theta, \mathbf{h})|.$$
(3.4.7)

One can split the summation over **h** based on the size of the product $H = h_1 \cdots h_d$. Consider the function $\psi(P) = (\log P)^{-1}$ which decreases monotonically to zero as $P \to \infty$ and furthermore for large P satisfies $\psi(P) > P^{-\epsilon}$ for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$. We form a partition of the shape

$$\{(h_1,\ldots,h_d): h_i \in [1,P] \cap \mathbb{Z}\} = A_1 \cup A_2 \cup A_3,$$

where we define the sets A_1, A_2 and A_3 by

$$A_{1} = \left\{ (h_{1}, \dots, h_{d}) : h_{i} \in [1, P] \cap \mathbb{Z}, \ P^{d}\psi(P) < H \le P^{d} \right\},$$
$$A_{2} = \left\{ (h_{1}, \dots, h_{d}) : h_{i} \in [1, P] \cap \mathbb{Z}, \ P^{d-5^{-\theta}} < H \le P^{d}\psi(P) \right\},$$
$$A_{3} = \left\{ (h_{1}, \dots, h_{d}) : h_{i} \in [1, P] \cap \mathbb{Z}, \ H \le P^{d-5^{-\theta}} \right\}.$$

Moreover, for $\kappa = 1, 2, 3$ we define

$$T_{\kappa}(\alpha_{\theta}) = \sum_{\mathbf{h} \in A_{\kappa}} |S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})|.$$
(3.4.8)

Hence, we may now write

$$\sum_{\mathbf{h}} |S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})| \ll T_1(\alpha_{\theta}) + T_2(\alpha_{\theta}) + T_3(\alpha_{\theta})$$

Invoking (3.4.7) we deduce that

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^{2^d} \ll P^{2^d - 1} + P^{2^d - (d+1)} \left(T_1(\alpha_\theta) + T_2(\alpha_\theta) + T_3(\alpha_\theta) \right).$$
(3.4.9)

Our aim now is to obtain a non-trivial upper bound for the exponential sum $S_i(\alpha_\theta)$ with $\alpha_\theta \in \mathfrak{m}^+$. To do so, we make use of van der Corput's *k*-th derivative test (see Lemma 2.4.1) for bounding exponential sums. We now make some observations that set the ground for an application of Lemma 2.4.1. It is convenient to work with an exponential sum over a dyadic interval. Recall from (3.4.6) that

$$S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h}) = \sum_{x \in I(\mathbf{h})} e\left(\lambda_i \alpha_{\theta} \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^{\theta})\right).$$

One may split the interval $I(\mathbf{h})$ into $O(\log P)$ dyadic intervals. By making abuse of notation one

then has

$$|S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})| \ll \log P \sum_{P < x \le 2P} e\left(\lambda_i \alpha_{\theta} \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^{\theta})\right).$$

Define the exponential sum

$$\widetilde{S}_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h}) = \sum_{P < x \le 2P} e\left(\lambda_i \alpha_{\theta} \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^{\theta})\right).$$

Hence for all α_{θ} and for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$|S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})| \ll P^{\epsilon} \left| \widetilde{S}_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h}) \right|.$$
(3.4.10)

It is apparent that an upper bound for the exponential sum $\widetilde{S}_i(\alpha_{\theta})$ leads to an upper bound for the exponential sum $S_i(\alpha_{\theta})$ with an ϵ - loss. This is enough for our purpose. Observe that invoking Lemma 3.4.1 with t = d one has for each natural number $r \ge 1$ that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^r}{\mathrm{d}x^r} \left(\lambda_i \alpha_\theta \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{(d)}(x^\theta) \right) \bigg| \asymp F P^{-r},$$

where $F=|\lambda_i C_d C_{d,r}||\alpha_\theta|HP^{\theta-d}.$ Recall here that $\mathfrak{m}^+=\left[P^{-\theta+\delta_0},P^\omega\right).$

Lemma 3.4.3. Suppose that $P^{d-5^{-\theta}} < H \le P^d$. For each index *i* and for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has that

$$|S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})| \ll P^{1-4^{-\theta}}$$

Proof. Note that it is enough to show that for all $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has

$$\left|\widetilde{S}_{i}(\alpha_{\theta},\mathbf{h})\right| \ll P^{1-\sigma},$$

for some $\sigma > 4^{-\theta}$. Then returning in (3.4.10) and taking $\epsilon = \sigma - 4^{-\theta} > 0$ as we are at liberty to do, yields the desired conclusion. We consider two separate cases depending on the size of H.

Suppose first that $P^d \psi(P) < H \leq P^d$. Then one has

$$P^{\delta_0}\psi(P) \ll F \ll P^{\theta+\omega}.$$

We may now apply Lemma 2.4.1 with q = n, where temporarily we write $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. This reveals that for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has

$$\left|\widetilde{S}_{i}(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})\right| \ll P^{1-\sigma} + P^{1-\delta_{0}}\psi(P)^{-1}$$

where

$$\sigma = \frac{n+2-\theta-\omega}{2^{n+2}-2}.$$
(3.4.11)

Recalling (3.2.7) one may verify that for $\theta > d + 1 \ge 3$ one has

$$\sigma > \frac{1}{3^{\theta} + 6} > \frac{1}{4^{\theta}}.$$

Moreover, recalling that $\psi(P) = (\log P)^{-1}$ one has $\psi(P)^{-1} \ll P^{10^{-\theta}}$, which yields

$$P^{1-\delta_0}\psi(P)^{-1} \ll P^{1-\delta_0+10^{-\theta}}$$

Hence, the previous estimate for the exponential sum $\widetilde{S}_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})$ delivers

$$\left|\widetilde{S}_{i}(\alpha_{\theta},\mathbf{h})\right| \ll P^{1-\sigma'}$$

where $\sigma' = \min\{\sigma, \delta_0 - 10^{-\theta}\} > 4^{-\theta}$ and we are done.

Suppose now that $P^{d-5^{-\theta}} < H \leq P^d \psi(P)$. In this case one has

$$P^{\delta_0 - 5^{-\theta}} \ll F \ll P^{\theta + \omega} \psi(P).$$

Applying again Lemma 2.4.1 with q = n, yields that for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has

$$\left|\widetilde{S}_{i}(\alpha_{\theta},\mathbf{h})\right| \ll P^{1-\sigma} \left(\psi(P)\right)^{1/(2^{n+2}-2)} + P^{1-\delta_{0}+5^{-\theta}},$$

with σ as in (3.4.11). For large P one may assume that $\psi(P) < 1$. Recalling again from (3.2.7) that $\delta_0 = 2^{1-2\theta}$ the above estimate delivers

$$\left|\widetilde{S}_{i}(\alpha_{\theta},\mathbf{h})\right| \ll P^{1-\sigma'},$$

where now we write $\sigma' = \min\{\sigma, \delta_0 - 5^{-\theta}\} > 4^{-\theta}$. Thus the proof is now complete. \Box

We may now estimate the sums $T_{\kappa}(\alpha_{\theta})$ $(1 \le \kappa \le 3)$ defined in (3.4.8).

Lemma 3.4.4. For each index *i* and for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has that

- (i) $|T_1(\alpha_{\theta})| \ll P^{d+1-5^{-\theta}};$
- (ii) $|T_2(\alpha_{\theta})| \ll P^{d+1-5^{-\theta}} \psi(P);$
- (iii) $|T_3(\alpha_{\theta})| \ll P^{d+1-6^{-\theta}}$.

Proof. For each $\kappa = 1, 2, 3$ we write $\#A_{\kappa}$ to denote the cardinality of the set A_{κ} . We set

$$X_1 = P^d, \qquad X_2 = P^d \psi(P), \qquad X_3 = P^{d-5^{-\theta}}.$$

Observe that for each $\kappa = 1, 2, 3$ and for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\#A_{\kappa} \ll \sum_{H \le X_{\kappa}} \tau_d(H) \ll X_{\kappa} P^{\epsilon},$$

where recall that $H = h_1 \cdots h_d$ and τ_d is the *d*-fold divisor function.

One may get an upper bound for each $T_{\kappa}(\alpha_{\theta})$ by using the above observation together with the bound supplied by Lemma 3.4.3. Let us demonstrate this by proving estimate (i). Recall here that

$$T_1(\alpha_\theta) = \sum_{\mathbf{h} \in A_1} \left| S_i(\alpha_\theta, \mathbf{h}) \right|,$$

where

$$A_1 = \{ (h_1, \dots, h_d) : h_i \in [1, P] \cap \mathbb{Z}, \ P^d \psi(P) < H \le P^d \}.$$

Invoking Lemma 3.4.3 one has for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ and any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ that

$$|T_1(\alpha_{\theta})| \ll \left(\sup_{\substack{\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+ \\ \mathbf{h} \in A_1}} |S_i(\alpha_{\theta}, \mathbf{h})|\right) \sum_{\mathbf{h} \in A_1} 1 \ll P^{1-4^{-\theta}} \left(\#A_1\right) \ll P^{d+1-4^{-\theta}+\epsilon}.$$

Pick now a sufficiently small $0<\epsilon<4^{-\theta}-5^{-\theta}$ to deduce that for any $\alpha_{\theta}\in\mathfrak{m}^+$ one has

$$|T_1(\alpha_\theta)| \ll P^{d+1-5^{-\theta}}.$$

Similarly we may argue to estimate the sums $T_2(\alpha_{\theta})$ and $T_3(\alpha_{\theta})$. For the sake of clarity, let us mention that in estimating $T_3(\alpha_{\theta})$ one may use the trivial bound

$$|S_i(\alpha_\theta, \mathbf{h})| \ll P,$$

which is always valid. With this observation the proof of the lemma is now complete. \Box

By Lemma 3.4.4 it is apparent that for each index i and for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has

$$|T_{\kappa}(\alpha_{\theta})| \ll P^{d+1-6^{-\theta}}$$
 ($\kappa = 1, 2, 3$).

One may now use the above estimate in order to bound from above the right hand side of (3.4.9). Hence we deduce that

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)| \ll P^{1-1/2^d} + P^{1-1/(2^d \cdot 6^\theta)} \ll P^{1-6^{-\theta-d}}.$$

Upon recalling (3.2.5) we have proved the following.

Lemma 3.4.5. For each index i and for any $(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in [0, 1) \times \mathfrak{m}^+$ one has that

$$|f_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)| \ll P^{1-6^{-\theta-d}}$$

Equipped with all the necessary auxiliary estimates, we may now finish up the first part of the minor arcs analysis. We now set

$$\eta_1 = 6^{-\theta - d}$$
 and $\kappa = P^{\omega}$.

Note that for large enough P one has $\min_{i,j} \{\kappa | \lambda_i|, \kappa | \mu_j| \} \ge 1$. Recall from (3.2.11) that one has $s' = s - \delta$ and recall as well from (3.2.15) that $s' = A_{\theta} + (1 - \omega_1)A_d$. One may now use Lemma 3.4.5 and Lemma 3.3.6 in order to estimate the right hand side of the inequality (3.2.14). Hence, we may infer that for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} \int_0^1 |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll P^{(1-\eta_1)\delta} P^{s'-(\theta+d)+\omega+\epsilon} \ll P^{s-(\theta+d)-\eta_1\delta+\omega+\epsilon}.$$

Recall from(3.2.7) that $\omega \leq 5^{-100(\theta+d)}$. One may choose

$$\delta=6^{-\theta}\in(0,1/3)\qquad\text{and}\qquad\epsilon=5^{-100(\theta+d)},$$

as we are at liberty to do. With these choices for δ and ϵ it is clear that $-\eta_1 \delta + \omega + \epsilon < 0$. Thus the above estimate delivers

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}^+} \int_0^1 |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

In the light of (3.4.2) we have established the following.

Lemma 3.4.6. For $s_{\min} \leq s \leq s_{\max}$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} \int_{0}^{1} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

3.4.2 Minor arcs: Part 2

In this subsection we consider the case where $(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}$. Let us recall here that $\mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \subset [0, 1)$ is a set of minor arcs in the classical sense and $\mathfrak{M} = (-P^{-\theta+\delta_0}, P^{-\theta+\delta_0})$. We put $\mathfrak{M}^+ = (0, P^{-\theta+\delta_0})$ and $\mathfrak{M}^- = (-P^{-\theta+\delta_0}, 0)$. Note that $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{M}^+ \cup \mathfrak{M}^-$. Making a change of variables as in (3.4.1) yields

$$R_{\pm}\left(P;\mathfrak{n}_{\xi}\times\mathfrak{M}^{-}\right)=\overline{R_{\pm}\left(P;\mathfrak{n}_{\xi}\times\mathfrak{M}^{+}\right)}.$$
(3.4.12)

So in the following it suffices to deal with the set $n_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}^+$. The point of departure in our approach is the following version of the Weyl - van der Corput inequality.

Lemma 3.4.7 (Weyl-van der Corput inequality). Suppose that I is a finite subset of \mathbb{N} , and suppose that $(w(n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{C}$ is a complex-valued sequence, such that w(n) = 0 for $n \notin I$. Let H be a positive integer. Then one has,

$$\left|\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} w(n)\right|^2 \leq \frac{\operatorname{card}(I) + H}{H} \sum_{|h| < H} \left(1 - \frac{|h|}{H}\right) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} w(n) \overline{w(n-h)}.$$

Proof. See [43, Lemma 2.5].

To begin with, let us fix an index *i*. Apply Lemma 3.4.7 to the exponential sum $F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)$, with $I = [1, P] \cap \mathbb{N}$. For an integer $H \in [1, P]$ with H = o(P) to be chosen at a later stage one has

$$\left|F_{i}(\alpha_{d},\alpha_{\theta})\right|^{2} \ll \frac{P+H}{H} \sum_{|h| < H} \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e\left(a_{i}\alpha_{d}\Delta_{h}\left(x^{d}\right) + \lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}\Delta_{h}\left(x^{\theta}\right)\right).$$
(3.4.13)

By the mean value theorem of differential calculus one has that

$$|(x+h)^{\theta} - x^{\theta}| \asymp |h| P^{\theta-1} \ll HP^{\theta-1}.$$

For $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{M}^+$ the above estimate leads to

$$|\alpha_{\theta}||(x+h)^{\theta} - x^{\theta}| \ll P^{-1+\delta_0}H.$$

Using the elementary inequality $|e(x)| \le 2\pi |x|$ which is valid for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$, we may infer that for any $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{M}^+$ one has

$$\left|e\left(\lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}\Delta_{h}\left(x^{\theta}\right)\right)\right| \ll P^{-1+\delta_{0}}H.$$

One may now use the fact that $|e(x)| \leq 1$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$, together with the above estimate to derive that

$$\sum_{|h| < H} \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e\left(a_i \alpha_d \Delta_h\left(x^d\right) + \lambda_i \alpha_\theta \Delta_h\left(x^\theta\right)\right) = \sum_{|h| < H} \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e\left(a_i \alpha_d \Delta_h\left(x^d\right)\right) + O\left(P^{\delta_0} H^2\right).$$

Substituting the above conclusion into (3.4.13) and using the fact that H = o(P) yields

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^2 \ll P^{1+\delta_0} H + \frac{P+H}{H} \sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)|, \qquad (3.4.14)$$

where we write

$$W_i(\alpha_d, h) = \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e\left(a_i \alpha_d \Delta_h\left(x^d\right)\right).$$

We now examine separately the cases $d \ge 3$ and d = 2.

First we consider the case $d \ge 3$. An application of Hölder's inequality reveals

$$\left(\sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)|\right)^{2^{d-2}} \ll H^{2^{d-2}-1} \sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)|^{2^{d-2}}.$$
 (3.4.15)

Applying Weyl's differencing process, we infer by Lemma 3.4.2 that

$$|W_{i}(\alpha_{d},h)|^{2^{d-2}} \ll P^{2^{d-2}-1} + P^{2^{d-2}-(d-1)} \sum_{\mathbf{h}} \left| \sum_{x \in I(\mathbf{h})} e\left(d! \ hh_{1} \cdots h_{d-2} a_{i} \alpha_{d} x\right) \right|,$$

where in the above summation notation, we sum over tuples $\mathbf{h} = (h_1, \dots, h_{d-2})$ satisfying $1 \leq \mathbf{h} \leq P$ and $I(\mathbf{h})$ is a subinterval of [1, P], determined by the shifts h_1, \dots, h_{d-2} .

Invoking a classical estimate for the sum of the geometric series we see that

$$\left|\sum_{x\in I(\mathbf{h})} e\left(d! hh_1 \cdots h_{d-2}\alpha_d a_i x\right)\right| \ll \min\left\{P, \|d! hh_1 \cdots h_{d-2}a_i \alpha_d\|^{-1}\right\}.$$

Hence by the preceding estimate concerning $W_i(\alpha_d, h)$ we deduce that

$$\sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)|^{2^{d-2}} \ll HP^{2^{d-2} - 1} + P^{2^{d-2} - (d-1)} \times \\ \times \sum_{h=1}^{H} \sum_{h_1 = 1}^{P} \cdots \sum_{h_{d-2} = 1}^{P} \min \left\{ P, \|d! \, hh_1 \cdots h_{d-2} a_i \alpha_d\|^{-1} \right\}.$$

We write $d! |a_i|hh_1 \cdots h_{d-2} = m$. Note that for $1 \le h \le H$ and for $\mathbf{h} = (h_1, \ldots, h_{d-2})$ with $1 \le \mathbf{h} \le P$ one has that $m \in \mathbb{Z} \cap [1, d! |a_i|HP^{d-2}]$. Clearly, the number of solutions of the previous equation with respect to m is $\le \tau_{d-1}(m) \ll_{d,a_i} m^{\epsilon}$. Thus, for any fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$ we

obtain

$$\sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)|^{2^{d-2}} \ll HP^{2^{d-2} - 1} + P^{2^{d-2} - (d-1) + \epsilon} \sum_{m=1}^{d! |a_i| HP^{d-2}} \min\left\{P, ||m\alpha_d||^{-1}\right\}.$$
(3.4.16)

We may bound the sum on the right hand side of the above estimate using the following.

Lemma 3.4.8. Suppose that α, β are real numbers and suppose further that $|\alpha - a/q| \le 1/q^2$, where (a,q) = 1. Then

$$\sum_{z=1}^{R} \min \{N, \|\alpha z + \beta\|\} \ll (N + q \log q) \left(\frac{R}{q} + 1\right).$$

Proof. See [2, Lemma 3.2]. For the sake of clarity we remark here that in the statement Baker is imposing a strict inequality, namely $|\alpha - a/q| < 1/q^2$. However it is apparent from the proof that this is unnecessary.

By Dirichlet's theorem on Diophantine approximation, there exist $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ which satisfy $(a,q) = 1, \ 1 \leq q \leq HP^{d-1-\xi}$ and

$$\left|a_i\alpha_d - \frac{a}{q}\right| \le \frac{1}{qHP^{d-1-\xi}}.$$

We pause for a moment to reflect on the fact that $\alpha_d \in \mathfrak{n}_{\xi}$. Recall that we assume H = o(P). So for large enough P one has $HP^{d-1-\xi} < P^{d-\xi}$. So if it was $1 \le q \le P^{\xi}$, then α_d would belong to the set of major arcs \mathfrak{N}_{ξ} . Thus, we may suppose that $q > P^{\xi}$. Hence

$$P^{\xi} < q \le H P^{d-1-\xi}.$$
(3.4.17)

One may now apply Lemma 3.4.8. For any fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$ one has

$$\sum_{m=1}^{d! |a_i| HP^{d-2}} \min\left\{P, \|m\alpha_d\|^{-1}\right\} \ll (P+q\log q) \left(\frac{d! |a_i| HP^{d-2}}{q} + 1\right)$$
$$\ll HP^{d-1+\epsilon} \left(\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{P} + \frac{q}{HP^{d-1}}\right),$$

where in the second step estimate, we used the facts that $\log q \ll P^{\epsilon}$, and that for $d \geq 3$ one has $HP^{d-2}\log q \gg P$. By (3.4.17) one has

$$\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{P} + \frac{q}{HP^{d-1}} \ll P^{-\xi}.$$

Thus, the previous estimates delivers

$$\sum_{m=1}^{d! |a_i| HP^{d-2}} \min\left\{P, \|m\alpha_d\|^{-1}\right\} \ll HP^{d-1-\xi+\epsilon}.$$

Using the above bound, one may now estimate the right hand side of (3.4.16) to obtain

$$\sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)|^{2^{d-2}} \ll HP^{2^{d-2} - 1} + HP^{2^{d-2} - \xi + \epsilon}.$$

Invoking (3.4.15) the previous estimate implies

ī

$$\sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)| \ll HP^{1-\xi/2^{d-2}+\epsilon}$$

Incorporating the above into (3.4.14) and using the fact that H = o(P), yields that for any $\alpha_d \in \mathfrak{n}_{\xi}$ one has

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^2 \ll P^{1+\delta_0}H + P^{2-\xi/2^{d-2}+\epsilon}.$$
(3.4.18)

We now deal with the case where d = 2. In this case one does not have to apply Weyl's differencing process. Note that for d = 2 the difference $\Delta_h(x^2) = 2xh + h^2$ is already a linear polynomial with respect to x. So one has

$$|W_i(\alpha_d, h)| \le \left| \sum_{1 \le x \le P} e\left(2ha_i \alpha_d x\right) \right| \ll \min\left\{P, \|2ha_i \alpha_d\|^{-1}\right\}.$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{|h| < H} |W_i(\alpha_d, h)| \ll \sum_{m=1}^{2|a_i|H} \min\left\{P, ||m\alpha_d||^{-1}\right\}.$$

One may now apply Dirichlet's theorem on Diophantine approximation and argue as in the case $d \geq 3$. Here the inequality (3.4.17) is replaced by $P^{\xi} < q \leq HP^{1-\xi}$. Applying Lemma 3.4.8 one has

$$\sum_{m=1}^{2|a_i|H} \min\left\{P, \|2ha_i\alpha_d\|^{-1}\right\} \ll (P+q\log q) \left(\frac{2|a_i|H}{q}+1\right)$$
$$\ll HP^{1-\xi+\epsilon} + P^{1+\epsilon},$$

where in the second step estimate we used the facts that $P \gg H \log q$ and $H \ll HP$. Therefore, by (3.4.14) we infer that

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)|^2 \ll P^{1+\delta_0}H + P^{2-\xi+\epsilon} + P^{2+\epsilon}H^{-1}.$$
(3.4.19)

We may now obtain a non-trivial upper bound for the exponential sum $F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)$. Recall that $H \in [1, P]$ is an integer at our disposal which satisfies H = o(P). Let us now choose a value for H so that $H \asymp P^{\varpi}$ where $\varpi = (1 - \delta_0)/2 \in (0, 1)$. First we deal with the case $d \ge 3$. Recall from (3.2.7) that $\delta_0 = 2^{1-2\theta}$ and recall from (3.2.8) that $0 < \xi \le \delta_0/8$. By (3.4.18) we deduce that for any fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$ and any $\alpha_d \in \mathfrak{n}_{\xi}$ one has that

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)| \ll P^{1-\xi/2^{d-3}+\epsilon}.$$

Now we come to the case d = 2. With the above choice for the integer parameter H we may

infer by (3.4.19) that for any fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$ and any $\alpha_d \in \mathfrak{n}_{\xi}$ one has

$$|F_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)| \ll P^{1-\xi/2+\epsilon}.$$

By the preceding conclusions and recalling (3.2.5) we have proved the following.

Lemma 3.4.9. For each index *i* and for any $(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}$, one has for any fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$ that

$$|f_i(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta)| \ll \begin{cases} P^{1-\xi/2+\epsilon}, & \text{when } d=2, \\ \\ P^{1-\xi/2^{d-3}+\epsilon}, & \text{when } d \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

We may now finish our analysis as in Part 1 of the minor arcs treatment. Below we demonstrate how to deal with the case $d \ge 3$. One may argue similarly when d = 2. Put

$$\eta_2 = \xi/2^{d-3}$$
 and $\kappa = \max_{i,j} \left\{ |\lambda_i|^{-1}, |\mu_j|^{-1} \right\}.$

Note that now κ is a fixed real number such that $\min_{i,j} \{\kappa | \lambda_i |, \kappa | \mu_j |\} \ge 1$. As in Part 1 of the minor arcs analysis, one may now use Lemma 3.4.9 and Lemma 3.3.6 in order to estimate the right hand side of the inequality (3.2.14). Hence, we may infer that for any fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}^+} \int_{\mathfrak{n}_{\xi}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll P^{(1-\eta_2+\epsilon)\delta} \cdot P^{s'-(\theta+d)+\epsilon} \ll P^{s-(\theta+d)-\eta_2\delta+(1+\delta)\epsilon}$$

One may now choose

$$\delta = \frac{1}{6} \in (0, 1/3) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \epsilon = \frac{\xi}{(1+\delta)2^d} \in (0, 1),$$

as we are at liberty to do. With these choices one has $-\eta_2\delta + (1+\delta)\epsilon < 0$. Hence, the previous estimate delivers

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}^+} \int_{\mathfrak{n}_{\xi}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right)$$

In the light of (3.4.12) we have established the following.

Lemma 3.4.10. For $s_{\min} \leq s \leq s_{\max}$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} \int_{\mathfrak{n}_{\xi}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right)$$

Before we close this section, we find it appropriate to record the following lemma which concerns the complete set of minor arcs

$$\mathfrak{p} = ([0,1) \times \mathfrak{m}) \cup (\mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}).$$

Combining Lemma 3.4.6 and Lemma 3.4.10 we have established the following.

Lemma 3.4.11. For $s_{\min} \leq s \leq s_{\max}$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{p}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

3.5 Trivial arcs

In this section we deal with the disposal of the set of trivial arcs $\mathfrak{c} = [0, 1) \times \mathfrak{t}$, where recall that $\mathfrak{t} = \{\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathbb{R} : |\alpha_{\theta}| \ge P^{\omega}\}$. We put $\mathfrak{t}^+ = [P^{\omega}, \infty)$ and $\mathfrak{t}^- = (-\infty, -P^{\omega}]$. Note that $\mathfrak{t} = \mathfrak{t}^+ \cup \mathfrak{t}^-$. We set $\mathfrak{c}^+ = [0, 1) \times [P^{\omega}, \infty)$ and $\mathfrak{c}^- = [0, 1) \times (-\infty, P^{\omega}]$. By a change of variables as in (3.4.1) one has

$$R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{c}^{-}) = \overline{R_{\pm}(P;\mathfrak{c}^{+})}.$$
(3.5.1)

So, it is enough to deal with the set c^+ .

Fix an index i. One has

$$\mathfrak{c}^+ \subset \bigcup_{\rho = \lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor}^{\infty} \left([0,1) \times (2^{\rho}, 2^{\rho+1}] \right).$$

We take $\kappa = 2^{\rho+1}$. Here we consider large enough values of P so that for $\rho \ge \lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor$ one has $\min_{i,j} \{\kappa | \lambda_i |, \kappa | \mu_j |\} \ge 1$. By Lemma 3.3.6 and taking into account (3.2.2), one has for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ that

$$\Xi_{f_i}(\mathfrak{c}^+) \ll \sum_{\rho = \lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor}^{\infty} \int_{2^{\rho}}^{2^{\rho+1}} \int_0^1 f_i^{A_{\theta}} |K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \mathrm{d}\alpha$$
$$\ll P^{A_{\theta} - (\theta+d) + \epsilon} \sum_{\rho = \lfloor \omega \log_2 P \rfloor}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{\rho}}.$$

Clearly,

$$\sum_{\rho=\lfloor\omega\log_2 P\rfloor}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{\rho}} \ll P^{-\omega}.$$

Hence, by choosing $\epsilon = \frac{\omega}{2} > 0$ the previous estimate now delivers

$$\Xi_{f_i}(\mathfrak{c}^+) \ll P^{A_\theta - (\theta + d) - \frac{\omega}{2}}.$$

One may deal with the auxiliary mean values $\Xi_{f_i,g_j}(\mathfrak{c}^+), \Xi_{f_i,h_k}(\mathfrak{c}^+), \Xi_{g_j,h_k}(\mathfrak{c}^+)$ similarly. We may now put these estimates together. One is at liberty to take $\delta = 0$ in the inequality (3.2.14). So, in this case by (3.2.11) one has s' = s, and by (3.2.15) one has $s = A_{\theta} + (1 - \omega_1)A_d$. Thus we obtain

$$\int_{\mathfrak{t}^+} \int_0^1 |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll P^{A_{\theta} + (1-\omega_1)A_d - (\theta+d) - \frac{\omega}{2}} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

In the light of (3.5.1) we have established the following.

Lemma 3.5.1. For $s_{\min} \leq s \leq s_{\max}$ one has

$$\int_{\mathfrak{c}} |\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right)$$

3.6 Major arcs analysis

In this section we deal with the set of major arcs $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{n}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}$. We split the analysis into two subsections.

3.6.1 Singular integral analysis

Here we deal with the singular integral. For each index i, j and k, and any $\beta = (\beta_d, \beta_\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ we define the continuous generating functions

$$\upsilon_{f,i}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \int_{\frac{1}{2}x_i^*P}^{2x_i^*P} e(a_i\beta_d\gamma^d + \lambda_i\beta_\theta\gamma^\theta) d\gamma, \qquad \upsilon_{g,j}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \int_{\frac{1}{2}y_j^*P}^{2y_j^*P} e(\mu_j\beta_\theta\gamma^\theta) d\gamma,$$

$$\upsilon_{h,k}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \int_{\frac{1}{2}z_k^*P}^{2z_k^*P} e(b_k\beta_d\gamma^d) d\gamma.$$
(3.6.1)

Moreover we write

$$V(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} v_{f,i}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \prod_{j=1}^{m} v_{g,j}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \prod_{k=1}^{n} v_{h,k}(\boldsymbol{\beta})$$

Define the truncated singular integrals

$$\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_{0}}) = \int_{-P^{-\theta+\delta_{0}}}^{P^{-\theta+\delta_{0}}} \int_{-P^{-d+\xi}}^{P^{-d+\xi}} V(\boldsymbol{\beta}) K_{\pm}(\beta_{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\beta},$$

$$\mathfrak{J}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_{0}}) = \int_{-P^{-\theta+\delta_{0}}}^{P^{-\theta+\delta_{0}}} \int_{-P^{-d+\xi}}^{P^{-d+\xi}} V(\boldsymbol{\beta}) d\boldsymbol{\beta},$$
(3.6.2)

and the complete singular integral

$$\mathfrak{J}(\infty) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} V(\beta) \mathrm{d}\beta.$$
(3.6.3)

Lemma 3.6.1. For each index i, j, k and for any $\beta = (\beta_d, \beta_\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ one has

$$v_{f,i}(\beta) \ll P(1 + P^d |\beta_d| + P^{\theta} |\beta_{\theta}|)^{-1/\theta}, \quad v_{g,j}(\beta) \ll P(1 + P^{\theta} |\beta_{\theta}|)^{-1/\theta},$$

 $v_{h,k}(\beta) \ll P(1 + P^d |\beta_d|)^{-1/d}.$

In the case where $\theta \in \mathbb{N}$ one can find a proof of this lemma in [78, Theorem 7.3]. In our case one has $\theta \notin \mathbb{N}$. For this reason we give an alternative proof using van der Corput's estimate for oscillatory integrals, dating back to 1935 in van der Corput's work on the stationary phase method [76].

Lemma 3.6.2. Let λ be a positive real. Suppose that $\phi : (a, b) \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth function in (a, b), and suppose that $|\phi^{(k)}(x)| \ge 1$ for all $x \in (a, b)$. Then,

$$\left| \int_{a}^{b} e^{i\lambda\phi(x)} \mathrm{d}x \right| \le c_k \lambda^{-1/k}$$

holds when:

- (i) $k \ge 2$, or
- (ii) k = 1 and $\phi'(x)$ is monotonic.

The bound c_k is independent of ϕ and λ .

```
Proof. See [73, Proposition 2, p.332].
```

Proof of Lemma 3.6.1. The estimates concerning $v_{g,j}$ and $v_{h,k}$ can be easily established by using integration by parts. As an alternative approach, one may use Lemma 3.6.2 as below. Now we come to prove the claimed estimate about the function $v_{f,i}$.

For $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\beta_d, \beta_\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ we put

$$\upsilon_f(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \int_{1/2}^2 e(\beta_d \gamma^d + \beta_\theta \gamma^\theta) \mathrm{d}\gamma.$$

It is enough to prove that

$$v_f(\beta) \ll \frac{1}{(1+|\beta_d|+|\beta_\theta|)^{1/\theta}}.$$
 (3.6.4)

The desired estimate for the function $v_{f,i}$ follows by a change of variables replacing γ by $x_i^* P \gamma$. Then one may apply (3.6.4) with $a_i(x_i^* P)^d \beta_d$ in place of β_d and $\lambda_i(x_i^* P)^\theta \beta_\theta$ in place of β_θ .

It is apparent that $|v_f(\beta)| \le 3/2 \ll 1$. So, if $|\beta_d| + |\beta_\theta| < 1$ then (3.6.4) trivially holds. Hence, in the rest of the proof we may suppose that $|\beta_d| + |\beta_\theta| \ge 1$. For $\gamma \in [1, 2]$ we define the function

$$\phi(\gamma) = \beta_d \gamma^d + \beta_\theta \gamma^\theta.$$

We distinguish the following two cases about β_d and β_{θ} .

Case (1). Suppose that $|\beta_{\theta}| > |\beta_d|$. Recall that d is a positive integer such that $\theta > d + 1$. This last condition implies that $d < \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. Temporarily we write $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. Hence, for $\gamma \in [1/2, 2]$ one has

$$|\phi^{(n)}(\gamma)| = C_n |\beta_\theta| \gamma^{\theta-n} \ge C_n \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\theta-n} |\beta_\theta|$$

where we put $C_n = \theta(\theta - 1) \cdots (\theta - n + 1)$. Put $C = C_n \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\theta - n}$. One may now take $\lambda = C|\beta_{\theta}|$ and apply Lemma 3.6.2 with k = n to the function

$$\gamma \mapsto \frac{1}{C|\beta_{\theta}|}\phi(\gamma).$$

Since $|\beta_{\theta}| > |\beta_d|$ and $|\beta_d| + |\beta_{\theta}| \ge 1$, we deduce that

$$\int_{1/2}^{2} e(\phi(\gamma)) \mathrm{d}\gamma \le C^{-1/n} |\beta_{\theta}|^{-1/n} \ll \frac{1}{(1+|\beta_{d}|+|\beta_{\theta}|)^{1/\theta}},$$

which confirms (3.6.4).

Case (2). Suppose that $|\beta_{\theta}| \leq |\beta_d|$. One has

$$\left|\phi^{(d)}(\gamma)\right| = \left|d!\beta_d + C_d\beta_\theta\gamma^{\theta-d}\right|,\,$$

where we put $C_d = \theta(\theta - 1) \cdots (\theta - d + 1)$. In order to give a lower bound for the quantity $|\phi^{(d)}(\gamma)|$ we examine separately the following two scenarios.

Suppose that

$$\frac{1}{2}d!|\beta_d| \ge C_d 2^{\theta-d} |\beta_\theta|.$$

By the triangle triangle inequality one may infer for $\gamma \in [1/2,2]$ that

$$|\phi^{(d)}(\gamma)| > d! |\beta_d| - C_d \gamma^{\theta - d} |\beta_\theta| \ge d! |\beta_d| - C_d 2^{\theta - d} |\beta_\theta| \ge \frac{1}{2} d! |\beta_d|.$$

One may now take $\lambda = 2^{-1} d! |\beta_d|$ and apply Lemma 3.6.2 with k = d to the function

$$\gamma \mapsto \frac{1}{2^{-1}d!|\beta_d|}\phi(\gamma).$$

Since $|\beta_d| \ge |\beta_\theta|$ and $|\beta_d| + |\beta_\theta| \ge 1$, we deduce that

$$\int_{1/2}^{2} e(\phi(\gamma)) \mathrm{d}\gamma \le (2^{-1}d!)^{-1/d} |\beta_d|^{-1/d} \ll \frac{1}{(1+|\beta_d|+|\beta_\theta|)^{1/\theta}},$$

which again confirms (3.6.4).

Next, we suppose that

$$\frac{1}{2}d!|\beta_d| < C_d 2^{\theta-d}|\beta_\theta|.$$

Since we assume as well that $|\beta_d| \ge |\beta_\theta|$ one may now suppose that $|\beta_d| \asymp |\beta_\theta|$. In such a situation an application of Lemma 3.6.2 with k = n as in *Case* (1) yields

$$\int_{1/2}^2 e\left(\phi(\gamma)\right) \mathrm{d}\gamma \ll |\beta_{\theta}|^{-1/\theta} \ll \frac{1}{(1+|\beta_d|+|\beta_{\theta}|)^{1/\theta}},$$

and thus the proof is now complete.

Define $\Delta = \Delta(\theta, d, \ell, m, n) > 0$ via

$$\Delta(\theta, d, \ell, m, n) = \min\left\{\frac{m}{\theta} + \frac{\ell}{2\theta} - 1, \ \frac{n}{d} + \frac{\ell}{2\theta} - 1\right\}.$$
(3.6.5)

Note that the assumptions $\ell + m \ge A_{\theta} + 1$ and $\ell \ge \max\{\lceil 2\theta(1 - n/d) \rceil, 1\}$ ensure that $\Delta > 0$.

Lemma 3.6.3. One has

$$\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_0}) = 2\tau \mathfrak{J}(\infty) + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

Proof. For $|eta_{ heta}| < P^{- heta+\delta_0}$ by (3.2.4) one has that

$$\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_0}) = \left(2\tau + O\left(\left(\log P\right)^{-2}\right)\right) \mathfrak{J}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_0}).$$
(3.6.6)

By Lemma 3.6.1 and a trivial estimate one has that

$$V(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \ll P^{s} \left(1 + |\beta_{\theta}|P^{\theta}\right)^{-m/\theta} \left(1 + |\beta_{d}|P^{d}\right)^{-n/d} \left(1 + |\beta_{d}|P^{d} + |\beta_{\theta}|P^{\theta}\right)^{-\ell/\theta}$$

Using the trivial estimate

$$\alpha^{1/2}\beta^{1/2} \le \max\{\alpha, \beta\} \ll 1 + \alpha + \beta,$$

the preceding inequality now yields

$$V(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \ll P^{s} \left(1 + |\beta_{\theta}|P^{\theta}\right)^{-m/\theta - \ell/2\theta} \left(1 + |\beta_{d}|P^{d}\right)^{-n/d - \ell/2\theta}$$

$$\ll P^{s} \left(1 + |\beta_{\theta}|P^{\theta}\right)^{-(1+\Delta)} \left(1 + |\beta_{d}|P^{d}\right)^{-(1+\Delta)}.$$

$$(3.6.7)$$

Temporarily we write \mathcal{B} to denote the box $[P^{-\theta+\xi}, P^{-\theta+\xi}] \times [-P^{-d+\delta_0}, P^{-d+\delta_0}]$. If $\mathcal{B} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \mathcal{B}$ then we either have $|\beta_{\theta}|P^{\theta} \ge P^{\delta_0}$ or $|\beta_d|P^d \ge P^{\xi}$. By the preceding estimate we may infer that

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{J}(P^{\xi},P^{\delta_{0}}) - \mathfrak{J}(\infty) \ll P^{s} \left(\int_{|\beta_{\theta}|P^{\theta} \ge P^{\delta_{0}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} V(\beta) \mathrm{d}\beta + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{|\beta_{d}|P^{d} \ge P^{\xi}} V(\beta) \mathrm{d}\beta \right) \\ \ll P^{s - (\theta + d) - \Delta\delta_{0}} + P^{s - (\theta + d) - \Delta\xi} \\ \ll o\left(P^{s - (\theta + d)}\right). \end{split}$$

Therefore, by (3.6.6) we deduce that

$$\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_0}) = 2\tau \mathfrak{J}(\infty) + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right),$$

which is what we wanted to prove.

After these preliminary results we now come to the heart of the singular integral analysis. The approach we take for studying the singular integral \mathfrak{J} is essentially the treatment of Schmidt as presented in [68]. The validity of the results below should come with no surprise to the experts and to those who are familiar with the paper of Schmidt. For the sake of completeness we have decided to include the proofs that are related to the system under investigation. This is mainly due to the nature of the system (3.1.2), which consists of an equation and an inequality of fractional degree.

One can plainly extend the definition of \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{D} given in (3.1.2) to *s* tuples by taking the additional coefficients to be equal to zero. Namely, for an *s* tuple **x** we can rewrite \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{D} equivalently in the shape

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 x_1^{\theta} + \dots + \lambda_{\ell} x_{\ell}^{\theta} + \mu_1 x_{\ell+1}^{\theta} + \dots + \mu_{\ell+m} x_{\ell+m}^{\theta} + 0 x_{\ell+m+1}^{\theta} + \dots + 0 x_s^{\theta} \\ \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}) = a_1 x_1^{d} + \dots + a_{\ell} x_{\ell}^{d} + 0 x_{\ell+1}^{d} + \dots + 0 x_{s-n}^{d} + b_1 x_{s-n+1}^{d} + \dots + b_n x_s^{d}. \end{cases}$$
(3.6.8)

So, from now on we take the argument in the expressions \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{D} to be s tuples. For conve-

nience in the following, we write ${\mathcal B}$ to denote the box defined by

$$\mathcal{B} = \left[\frac{1}{2}\eta_1, 2\eta_1\right] \times \cdots \times \left[\frac{1}{2}\eta_s, 2\eta_s\right],$$

where $\eta = (\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z}^*)$ is a non-singular real solution of the system (3.1.3), with \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{D} defined as in (3.6.8). Note that with this notation, we count solutions to the system (3.1.2) with $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) \in P\mathcal{B}$.

We define the integral

$$\mathcal{K}(oldsymbol{eta}) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} e\left(eta_ heta \mathfrak{F}(oldsymbol{\gamma}) + eta_d \mathfrak{D}(oldsymbol{\gamma})
ight) \mathrm{d}oldsymbol{\gamma}.$$

For future reference we note here that by (3.6.7) with P = 1 and since meas $(\mathfrak{B}) = O(1)$ one has

$$\mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \ll (1+|\beta_{\theta}|)^{-(1+\Delta)} (1+|\beta_{d}|)^{-(1+\Delta)}.$$
 (3.6.9)

Moreover, we set

$$\mathfrak{J}_{0} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}.$$
(3.6.10)

In the light of (3.6.9) the integral \mathfrak{J}_0 is well-defined and absolutely convergent. One may express the complete singular integral $\mathfrak{J}(\infty)$ in terms of \mathfrak{J}_0 . Replace γ by γP in (3.6.1). Then make a change of variables in the right hand side of (3.6.3) by putting

$$\begin{pmatrix} \beta_{\theta} \\ \beta_{d} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} P^{-\theta} & 0 \\ 0 & P^{-d} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta'_{\theta} \\ \beta'_{d} \end{pmatrix}.$$
$$\mathfrak{J}(\infty) = P^{s - (\theta + d)} \mathfrak{J}_{0}. \tag{3.6.11}$$

This yields

We may now focus in analysing the integral \mathfrak{J}_0 . To do so, we make use of a family of approximate singular integrals. For $T \ge 1$ we put

$$\mathfrak{J}(T) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{K}(\beta) k_T(\beta) \mathrm{d}\beta, \qquad (3.6.12)$$

where

$$k_T(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\beta_{\theta}/T)}{\pi\beta_{\theta}/T}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\beta_d/T)}{\pi\beta_d/T}\right)^2$$

Note again that by (3.6.9) the integral $\mathfrak{J}(T)$ is well-defined and absolutely convergent. Two are the key properties of the family of integrals $\mathfrak{J}(T)$. Firstly that $\mathfrak{J}(T) \gg 1$ and secondly that as $T \to \infty$ one has $\mathfrak{J}(T) \to \mathfrak{J}_0$. To begin with, let us rewrite the integrals $\mathfrak{J}(T)$ using a Fourier transform formula. For $T \ge 1$ we put

$$\psi_T(y) = \begin{cases} T \left(1 - T|y|\right), & \text{when } |y| \le T^{-1}, \\ 0, & \text{when } |y| > T^{-1}. \end{cases}$$
(3.6.13)

A standard calculation as presented for example in [29, Lemma 20.1] reveals that

$$\psi_T(y) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\beta y) \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\beta/T)}{\pi\beta/T}\right)^2 d\beta$$

where clearly the integral is absolutely convergent. One may rewrite the integral $\mathfrak{J}(T)$ defined in (3.6.12) as follows

$$\mathfrak{J}(T) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} e(\beta_{\theta} \mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) + \beta_{d} \mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma} \right) k_{T}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}.$$

Hence, invoking Fubini's theorem and appealing to (3.6.13) one has

$$\mathfrak{J}(T) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} \psi_T(\mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})) \psi_T(\mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})) d\boldsymbol{\gamma}.$$
(3.6.14)

At this point we pause for a moment in order to exploit the assumption we have made that the system (3.1.2) satisfies the local solubility condition. The conclusion we establish below plays an essential role in demonstrating that $\mathfrak{J}(T) \gg 1$. The proof proceeds as in [83, Lemma 6.2], namely by using the implicit function theorem. So, the fact that \mathfrak{F} is a generalised polynomial of fractional degree θ does not affect things. We include a proof for the sake of completeness.

Lemma 3.6.4. There exists locally an (s-2)-dimensional subspace \mathcal{U} of positive (s-2)-volume in a neighbourhood of η , on which one has $\mathfrak{F} = \mathfrak{D} = 0$. In particular, there exists a real solution η' to the system (3.1.3), with $\eta'_i \neq 0$ for all i.

Proof. Recall that $\eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_s)$ is a non-singular real solution of the system (3.1.2) with $\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{D}$ as in (3.6.8). By relabelling if necessary the variables, one has

Hence, we deduce that $\eta_1, \eta_2 \neq 0$. Let $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2+(s-2)}$ be a neighbourhood of the point η . Consider the map

 $\Phi: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{R}^2, \qquad \mathbf{x} \mapsto \Phi(\mathbf{x}) = \left(\mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{x}), \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x})\right).$

We know that $\Phi(\boldsymbol{\eta}) = 0$. By the implicit function theorem we know that there exists a neighbourhood $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^{s-2}$ around the point (η_3, \ldots, η_s) and a unique continuously differentiable map $\mathbf{g} : \mathcal{V} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ such that for all $\boldsymbol{\zeta} = (\zeta_3, \ldots, \zeta_s) \in \mathcal{V}$ one has

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{F}(\mathbf{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}),\boldsymbol{\zeta}) = 0\\ \mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}),\boldsymbol{\zeta}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.6.15)

Thus, we have showed the existence of an (s-2)-dimensional subspace in the neighbourhood of (η_3, \ldots, η_s) , which has positive (s-2)-volume and on which one has $\mathfrak{F} = \mathfrak{D} = 0$. We denote this subspace by \mathcal{U} . This establishes the main part in the statement of the lemma.

For the second assertion we argue as follows. One can choose $\zeta_i \in \mathcal{V}$ sufficiently close to η_i for $3 \leq i \leq s$. Namely, choose ζ_i such that $|\zeta_i - \eta_i|$ is sufficiently small. Then, we can solve the system (3.6.15) with respect to $\mathbf{g} =: (\zeta_1, \zeta_2)$. Hence, we have found a tuple $\boldsymbol{\eta}' = (\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \boldsymbol{\zeta})$ which satisfies $\mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\eta}') = \mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\eta}') = 0$. Recall, that $\eta_1, \eta_2 \neq 0$. Hence, by continuity we obtain that $\zeta_1, \zeta_2 \neq 0$. Therefore, we can conclude that $\zeta_i \neq 0$ for $3 \leq i \leq s$. Thus, we have shown the existence of a real solution $\boldsymbol{\eta}'$ with all of its components being non-zero.

We now exploit the conclusion of Lemma 3.6.4, in order to prove that $\mathfrak{J}(T) \gg 1$. Here we follow [68, Lemma 2].

Lemma 3.6.5. One has

 $\mathfrak{J}(T) \gg 1.$

Proof. With the notation as in Lemma 3.6.4, we write $\eta' = (\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \zeta)$ to denote a real solution to the system (3.6.8) with $\eta'_i \neq 0$ for $1 \leq i \leq s$. We put $\zeta = (\zeta_3, \ldots, \zeta_s)$. Note here that we assume $\zeta_i \neq 0$ for $3 \leq i \leq s$. For $\epsilon > 0$ we define

$$S_{\epsilon} = \{(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}) : \boldsymbol{\zeta} \in \mathcal{U} \text{ such that } \| \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}) - \boldsymbol{\xi} \|_2 < \epsilon \},$$

where $\|\cdot\|_2$ stands for the usual euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^{s-2} . In the set S_{ϵ} we consider points $\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ which belong to a neighbourhood of the point $\mathbf{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta})$. Since \mathcal{U} is a subset of the interior of the box \mathcal{B} , one may now consider sufficiently small ϵ so that $S_{\epsilon} \subset \mathcal{B}$. Moreover, by Lemma 3.6.4 we know that $\mathbf{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}) \neq \mathbf{0}$. Hence, it becomes apparent that the set S_{ϵ} has a positive *s*-volume.

When viewed as real valued functions in s variables, the generalised polynomial \mathfrak{F} and the polynomial \mathfrak{D} are continuously differentiable in the box \mathcal{B} , which is a compact subset of \mathbb{R}^s . Hence, \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{D} satisfy the Lipschitz condition with some constants K_1 and K_2 respectively. Put

$$c = \frac{1}{2\max\{K_1, K_2\}} > 0$$

From now on we take T sufficiently large so that $S_{cT^{-1}} \subset \mathcal{B}$.

For $(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}) \in S_{cT^{-1}}$ one has

$$\frac{|\mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\zeta}) - \mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}),\boldsymbol{\zeta})|}{\|(\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\zeta}) - (\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}),\boldsymbol{\zeta})\|_2} < K_2.$$

By (3.6.15) one has $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}), \boldsymbol{\zeta}) = 0$. Moreover, one has $\|(\boldsymbol{\xi} - \mathbf{g}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}), \mathbf{0})\|_2 < c/T$ and so the above inequality yields

$$|\mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\zeta})| < \frac{c}{T}K_2 < \frac{1}{2T}.$$

Thus, for $oldsymbol{\gamma} = (oldsymbol{\xi},oldsymbol{\zeta}) \in S_{cT^{-1}}$ we deduce

$$\psi_T(\mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})) = \max\{0, T(1 - T|\mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})|)\} \ge \frac{T}{2}.$$

Similarly, when $(oldsymbol{\xi},oldsymbol{\zeta})\in S_{cT^{-1}}$ one may prove that

$$|\mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta})| < rac{1}{2T}.$$

Thus, we may again deduce that for $oldsymbol{\gamma}=(oldsymbol{\xi},oldsymbol{\zeta})\in S_{cT^{-1}}$ one has

$$\psi_T(\mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})) = \max\left\{0, T\left(1 - T \left|\mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})\right|\right)\right\} \ge \frac{T}{2}.$$

Note now that the set $S_{cT^{-1}}$ has positive *s*-volume which satisfies $\gg T^{-2}$. Hence, from the above conclusions and (3.6.14) one has

$$\mathfrak{J}(T) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} \psi_T(\mathfrak{D}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})) \psi_T(\mathfrak{F}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})) \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\gamma} \gg \int_{S_{cT^{-1}}} \left(\frac{T}{2}\right)^2 \gg \frac{1}{4},$$

which completes the proof of the lemma.

Next, we establish the second key property of the family of approximate integral $\mathfrak{J}(T)$.

Lemma 3.6.6. One has

$$\mathfrak{J}(T) = \mathfrak{J}_0 + O\left(T^{-\Delta}\right),$$

where $\Delta > 0$ is defined in (3.6.5). In particular, the limit of $\mathfrak{J}(T)$ as $T \to \infty$ exists and equals to \mathfrak{J}_0 .

Proof. By (3.6.9) and (3.6.12) we infer that

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{J}_0 - \mathfrak{J}(T) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \left(1 - k_T(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta} \\ &\ll \int_0^{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} (1 + \beta_\theta)^{-(1+\Delta)} (1 + \beta_d)^{-(1+\Delta)} \left(1 - k_T(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\beta}. \end{split}$$

Let $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and let T be large enough so that $\frac{\pi |\beta|}{T} < 1.$ Then one has

$$\left(\frac{\sin(\pi\beta/T)}{\pi\beta/T}\right)^2 = 1 + O\left(\frac{|\beta|^2}{T^2}\right),\,$$

which yields that

$$1 - \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\beta/T)}{\pi\beta/T}\right)^2 \ll \min\left\{1, \frac{|\beta|^2}{T^2}\right\} \ll \frac{|\beta|^2}{T^2 + |\beta|^2},$$

and thus we deduce that

$$1 - k_T(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \ll \frac{|\beta_{\theta}|^2}{T^2 + |\beta_{\theta}|^2} + \frac{|\beta_d|^2}{T^2 + |\beta_d|^2}.$$

We may now finish the proof easily. By symmetry one has

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{J}_0 - \mathfrak{J}(T) \ll \left(\int_0^\infty (1+\beta_\theta)^{-(1+\Delta)} \mathrm{d}\beta_\theta \right) \left(\int_0^\infty (1+\beta_d)^{-(1+\Delta)} \frac{|\beta_d|^2}{T^2 + |\beta_d|^2} \mathrm{d}\beta_d \right) \\ \ll T^{-2} \int_0^T \beta_d^{1-\Delta} \mathrm{d}\beta_d + \int_T^\infty \beta_d^{-(1+\Delta)} \mathrm{d}\beta_d \\ \ll T^{-\Delta}, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof.

Below we put together the outcomes of the so far analysis, in order to deduce the desired estimate for the truncated singular integral defined in (3.6.2).

Lemma 3.6.7. One has

$$\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_0}) = 2\tau \mathfrak{J}_0 P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right),$$

where $\mathfrak{J}_0 > 0$ is defined in (3.6.10).

Proof. Combining Lemma 3.6.3 and relation (3.6.11) we deduce that

$$\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_0}) = 2\tau \mathfrak{J}_0 P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

Moreover, by Lemma 3.6.5 and Lemma 3.6.6 we infer that $\mathfrak{J}_0\gg 1$ which completes the proof. $\hfill\square$

3.6.2 Singular series analysis

We now study the singular series related to the equation $\mathfrak{D}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0$. For $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ we write

$$S(q,a) = \sum_{z=1}^{q} e\left(\frac{az^d}{q}\right).$$

Furthermore we put

$$T(q,a) = q^{-(\ell+n)} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} S(q,aa_i) \prod_{k=1}^{n} S(q,ab_k)$$

Next, we introduce the truncated singular series and its completed analogue

$$\mathfrak{S}(P^{\xi}) = \sum_{1 \leq q \leq P^{\xi}} \sum_{\substack{a=1 \\ (a,q)=1}}^{q} T(q,a) \qquad \text{ and } \qquad \mathfrak{S} = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{a=1 \\ (a,q)=1}}^{q} T(q,a).$$

Lemma 3.6.8. Suppose that $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ with (a,q) = 1. Then for each index i and k one has

$$S(q, aa_i), \ S(q, ab_k) \ll q^{1-1/d}.$$

Proof. By [29, Lemma 6.4] we know that when (a, q) = 1 one has

$$S(q,a) \ll q^{1-1/d}$$

Fix an index *i*. Note that one has

$$S(q, aa_i) = \sum_{z=1}^q e\left(\frac{a_i a z^d}{q}\right) = (q, a_i) S\left(\frac{q}{(q, a_i)}, \frac{a_i a}{(q, a_i)}\right).$$
Since (a,q) = 1 one has $\left(\frac{q}{(q,a_i)}, \frac{a_i a}{(q,a_i)}\right) = 1$. Thus we derive that

$$S\left(\frac{q}{(q,a_i)},\frac{a_ia}{(q,a_i)}\right) \ll q^{1-1/d},$$

which in turn, and since a_i is a fixed integer, delivers the estimate

$$S(q, aa_i) \ll q^{1-1/d}.$$

Similarly we argue for $S(q, ab_k)$.

Lemma 3.6.9. Provided that $l+n \ge A_d+1$ the singular series is absolutely convergent. Moreover one has $\mathfrak{S} > 0$ and

$$\mathfrak{S}(P^{\xi}) = \mathfrak{S} + O\left(P^{-\xi/d}\right)$$

Proof. The first two claims follow from the analysis of Davenport as presented in [29, Sections 5 & 6]. Recall that we write $A_d = d^2$. By [31, Theorem 1] we know that if $\ell + n \ge A_d + 1$ then the singular series is absolutely convergent and positive. For the last assertion note that by Lemma 3.6.8 one has

$$\mathfrak{S} - \mathfrak{S}(P^{\xi}) \Big| \le \sum_{q > P^{\xi}} \sum_{\substack{a=1\\(a,q)=1}}^{q} |T(q,a)| \ll \sum_{q > P^{\xi}} q^{1 - (\ell+n)/d} \ll P^{(2 - (\ell+n)/d)\xi}.$$

For $d \ge 2$ one has $\ell + n \ge A_d + 1 \ge 2d + 1$, where in the second inequality, the equality case holds only when d = 2. Thus, we obtain $\frac{\xi}{d} \le \left(\frac{\ell+n}{d} - 2\right)\xi$. The previous estimate now delivers

$$\left|\mathfrak{S} - \mathfrak{S}(P^{\xi})\right| \ll P^{-\xi/d},$$

which completes the proof.

3.7 The asymptotic formula

We now combine the results from the previous two sections to establish the anticipated asymptotic formula for the counting function $\mathcal{N}(P)$.

For $\alpha_d \in \mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q, a)$ we write $\alpha_d = \beta_d + a/q$ with $|\beta_d| < P^{-d+\xi}$. From now on we take $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\beta_d, \alpha_\theta)$, with $\alpha_\theta \in \mathfrak{M}$. For each i, j and k we define the approximate generating functions

$$f_i^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \frac{1}{q} S_{f,i}(q,a) \upsilon_{f,i}(\boldsymbol{\beta}), \quad g_j^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \upsilon_{g,j}(\boldsymbol{\beta}), \quad h_k^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \frac{1}{q} S_{h,k}(q,a) \upsilon_{h,k}(\boldsymbol{\beta}).$$

Put

$$\mathcal{F}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} f_i^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \prod_{j=1}^{m} g_j^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \prod_{k=1}^{n} h_k^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}).$$

We wish to compare $\mathcal{F}(\alpha)$ with $\mathcal{F}^*(\beta)$. Below we record a consequence of Poisson's summation formula.

Lemma 3.7.1. Let $f : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function differentiable in [a,b]. Suppose that f'(x) is monotonic, and suppose that $|f'(x)| \le A < 1$ for all $x \in [a,b]$. Then

$$\sum_{a < x \leq b} e\left(f(x)\right) = \int_a^b e\left(f(x)\right) \mathrm{d}x + O(1)$$

Proof. See [74, Lemma 4.8].

Lemma 3.7.2. For each index i, j, k and for any $\alpha = (\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathfrak{N}_{\mathcal{E}}(q, a) \times \mathfrak{M}$ one has

- (i) $f_i(oldsymbollpha) f_i^\star(oldsymboleta) \ll P^{\delta_0+\xi}$;
- (ii) $g_j(\alpha) g_j^{\star}(\beta) \ll 1$;
- (iii) $h_k(\alpha) h_k^{\star}(\beta) \ll P^{2\xi}$.

Proof. For the estimate (*iii*) one may argue as in [29, Lemma 4.2].

For the estimate (ii) one may apply Lemma 3.7.1. Fix an index j. Recall from (3.6.1) the definition of the function $v_{g,j}(\beta)$. Then, the claimed estimate reads

$$\sum_{\frac{1}{2}y_i^* P < y \le 2y_i^* P} e(\mu_j \alpha_\theta y^\theta) - \int_{\frac{1}{2}y_j^* P}^{2y_j^* P} e(\mu_j \alpha_\theta \gamma^\theta) \mathrm{d}\gamma = O(1).$$

By taking the complex conjugate it suffices to prove the above estimate when $\alpha_{\theta} > 0$. For a real variable t we define the function

$$\phi: \left(\frac{1}{2}y_i^{\star}P, 2y_i^{\star}P\right] \to \mathbb{R}, \quad \phi(t) = \mu_j \alpha_{\theta} t^{\theta}.$$

The function $\phi''(t)$ is of fixed sign and so $\phi'(t)$ is monotonic. Moreover, for $\alpha_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{M}$ and for large enough P one has

$$|\phi'(t)| = |\mu_j| \theta \alpha_{\theta} t^{\theta - 1} \le |\mu_j| \theta (2y_i^{\star})^{\theta - 1} P^{-1 + \delta_0} < 1$$

where recall from (3.2.7) that $\delta_0 < 1$. Thus, Lemma 3.7.1 is applicable and yields the desired conclusion.

Now we prove estimate (i). Here we argue as in [29, Lemma 4.2]. We fix an index i. Decomposing into residue classes modulo q and writing x = qy + z with $1 \le z \le q$ we obtain

$$f_{i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{z=1}^{q} \sum_{y \in I(z)} e\left(a_{i}(\beta_{d} + a/q)(qy+z)^{d} + \lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}(qy+z)^{\theta}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{z=1}^{q} e\left(a_{i}az^{d}/q\right) \sum_{y \in I} e\left(a_{i}\beta_{d}(qy+z)^{d} + \lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}(qy+z)^{\theta}\right),$$
(3.7.1)

where I = I(z) is the interval defined by

$$I(z) = \left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}x_i^{\star}P - z}{q}, \frac{2x_i^{\star}P - z}{q}\right].$$

For ease of notation we denote the endpoints of the interval *I* by *A* and *B*. So I = (A, B].

For $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we put

$$\phi_i(t) = e \left(a_i \beta_d (qt+z)^d + \lambda_i \alpha_\theta (qt+z)^\theta \right)$$

The function ϕ_i is a holomorphic complex valued function of the real variable t. Consider an arbitrary interval $[x, x + 1] \subset \mathbb{R}$ of length equal to 1. By the fundamental theorem of calculus one has for any $t \in [x, x + 1]$ that

$$\left|\phi_{i}(t)-\phi_{i}(x)\right|=\left|\int_{x}^{t}\phi_{i}'(u)\mathrm{d}u\right|\leq\max_{u\in[x,x+1]}\left|\phi_{i}'(u)\right|.$$

One may break the interval I into $\ll B - A = O(Pq^{-1})$ unit intervals of the shape [x, x + 1] with $x \in \mathbb{Z}$, together with two possible broken intervals in the case where at least one of the endpoints A and B of the interval I is not an integer. Then, we deduce that

$$\left| \sum_{A < y \le B} \phi_i(y) - \int_A^B \phi_i(t) \mathrm{d}t \right| \ll \sum_{A < y \le B} \int_y^{y+1} |\phi_i(y) - \phi_i(t)| \, \mathrm{d}t + \max_{A < y \le B} |\phi_i(t)|$$
$$\ll Pq^{-1} \max_{A < t \le B} |\phi_i'(t)| + \max_{A < t \le B} |\phi_i(t)| \, .$$

Clearly, $|\phi_i(t)| \leq 1$ for all t. One has

$$\phi_i'(t) = 2\pi i \left(a_i dq \beta_d (qt+z)^{d-1} + \lambda_i \theta q \alpha_\theta (qt+z)^{\theta-1} \right) \phi_i(t).$$

Hence, for any $t \in I$ one has

$$|\phi_i'(t)| \ll q|\beta_d|P^{d-1} + q|\alpha_\theta|P^{\theta-1}.$$

Therefore for $(\alpha_d, \alpha_\theta) \in \mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q, a) \times \mathfrak{M}$ and since $\xi < \delta_0$, the preceding estimate now delivers

$$\left|\sum_{A < y \le B} \phi_i(y) - \int_A^B \phi_i(t) \mathrm{d}t\right| \ll P^{\delta_0}.$$
(3.7.2)

We put $qt + z = \gamma$ and make a change of variables. Then one has

$$\int_{A}^{B} \phi_{i}(t) \mathrm{d}t = \frac{1}{q} \int_{\frac{1}{2}x_{i}^{*}P}^{2x_{i}^{*}P} e(a_{i}\beta_{d}\gamma^{d} + \lambda_{i}\alpha_{\theta}\gamma^{\theta}) \mathrm{d}\gamma = \frac{1}{q} \upsilon_{f,i}(\beta),$$

where bear in mind that $\beta = (\beta_d, \alpha_\theta) = (\alpha_d - a/q, \alpha_\theta)$. Putting together (3.7.1) and (3.7.2) yields

$$\begin{split} f_i(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) &= \sum_{z=1}^q e\left(a_i a z^d / q\right) \left(\int_A^B \phi(t) \mathrm{d}t + P^{\delta_0}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{q} \sum_{z=1}^q e\left(a_i a z^d / q\right) \upsilon_{f,i}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) + O\left(P^{\delta_0 + \xi}\right), \end{split}$$

where in the last step we used the fact that $1 \le q \le P^{\xi}$. The proof is now complete.

By Lemma 3.7.2 and using a standard telescoping identity one has that

$$\mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) - \mathcal{F}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \ll P^{s-1} \left(|f_i - f_i^{\star}| + |g_j - g_j^{\star}| + |h_k - h_k^{\star}| \right)$$
$$\ll P^{s-1+\delta_0+\xi}.$$

Moreover one has

$$\operatorname{meas}\left(\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q,a)\times\mathfrak{M}\right)\asymp P^{-d+\xi}\cdot P^{-\theta+\delta_{0}}=P^{-(\theta+d)+\delta_{0}+\xi}$$

Next, note that one has $\mathcal{F}^{\star}(\beta) = V(\beta)T(q, a)$. Integrating over the set $\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q, a) \times \mathfrak{M}$ against the measure $K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta})d\alpha$ and taking into account the preceding observations reveals

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} \int_{\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q,a)} \mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\alpha} = T(q,a) \int_{\mathfrak{M}} \int_{\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}(q,a)} V(\boldsymbol{\beta}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\beta} + E,$$

where

$$E = O\left(P^{s - (\theta + d) - 1 + 2(\delta_0 + \xi)}\right).$$

One can now sum over $1 \leq q \leq P^{\xi}$ and $1 \leq r \leq q$ to conclude that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}} \int_{\mathfrak{N}_{\xi}} \mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \mathfrak{S}(P^{\xi}) \mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi}, P^{\delta_{0}}) + O\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)-1+2\delta_{0}+4\xi}\right).$$

Recall from (3.2.7) that $\delta_0 = 2^{1-2\theta}$ and from (3.2.8) that $0 < \xi \le \delta_0/8$. Recall that we assume $\theta > d+1 \ge 3$. Hence, for the error term in the above asymptotic formula one has

$$P^{s-(\theta+d)-1+2\delta_0+4\xi} \ll P^{s-(\theta+d)-1+\frac{5}{2}\delta_0} = o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right).$$

By Lemma 3.6.7 and Lemma 3.6.9 one has

$$\mathfrak{S}(P^{\xi})\mathfrak{J}^{\pm}(P^{\xi},P^{\delta_0}) = 2\tau\mathfrak{J}_0\mathfrak{S}P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right)$$

Thus we conclude that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{P}} \mathcal{F}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) K_{\pm}(\alpha_{\theta}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = 2\tau \mathfrak{J}_0 \mathfrak{S} P^{s-(\theta+d)} + o\left(P^{s-(\theta+d)}\right)$$

where recall that $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{N}_{\xi} \times \mathfrak{M}$. Upon invoking (3.2.10) and taking into account Lemma 3.4.11 and Lemma 3.5.1, the proof of Theorem 3.1.2 is complete.

Appendix A

"Orthogonality " for inequalities

In this appendix we give a variant of Lemma 2.3.2 for a more general case that might be of some interest and usage in problems of counting solutions of inequalities in terms of mean values.

Let $R \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose that

$$\boldsymbol{\phi} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^K \quad x \mapsto \boldsymbol{\phi}(x) = (\phi_1(x), \dots, \phi_K(x))$$

is a \mathbb{R}^R -valued function of the real variable x. Furthermore, let $\delta_j > 0$ $(1 \le j \le R)$ be positive real numbers. We aim to count the number of integer solutions \mathbf{x} of the simultaneous inequalities

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(\phi_j(x_i) - \phi_j(x_{s+i})\right)\right| < \delta_j \quad (1 \le j \le R).$$
(A.1)

Suppose that $I_1, I_2 \subset (0, \infty)$ are two bounded intervals. Fix a natural number $n \leq s$. Suppose that $S \subset (0, \infty)^{2n}$ is a bounded set of lattice points. We write $V_s(I_1, I_2; \phi, \delta)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the simultaneous inequalities (A.1) with $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_1$ $(1 \leq i \leq n)$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_2$ $(n+1 \leq i \leq s)$. Similarly, we write $V_s(S, I_2; \phi, \delta)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the simultaneous inequalities (A.1) with $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, x_{s+1}, \ldots, x_{s+n}) \in S$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_2$ $(n+1 \leq i \leq s)$. For ease of notation we set

$$\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} (\phi_j(x_i) - \phi_j(x_{s+i})) \qquad (1 \le j \le R).$$

For any $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}^R$ we define the exponential sums $H_i(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = H\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; I_i; \boldsymbol{\phi}\right)$ via

$$H(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; I_i; \boldsymbol{\phi}) = \sum_{x \in I_i} e\left(\alpha_1 \phi_1(x) + \dots + \alpha_K \phi_K(x)\right) \qquad (i = 1, 2).$$

Moreover, for $oldsymbol{lpha} \in \mathbb{R}^R$ we put

$$H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{S}} e\left(\alpha_1\left(\phi_1(x_1) - \phi_1(x_{s+1})\right) + \dots + \alpha_R\left(\phi_R(x_n) - \phi_R(x_{s+n})\right)\right)$$

where the summation is over tuples $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) \in S$. Finally, we define the numbers Δ_j via the relation $2\delta_j \Delta_j = 1$ $(1 \le j \le R)$. With this notation, we may now state the following lemma which is a variant of Lemma 2.3.2 in a more general form.

Lemma A.1. One has

(i)

$$V_s\left(\mathcal{S}, I_2; oldsymbol{\phi}, oldsymbol{\delta}
ight) \ll \delta_1 \cdots \delta_R \int_{-\Delta_R}^{\Delta_R} \cdots \int_{-\Delta_1}^{\Delta_1} \left| H_{\mathcal{S}}(oldsymbol{lpha}) H_2(oldsymbol{lpha})^{2s-2n}
ight| \, \mathrm{d}oldsymbol{lpha};$$

(ii)

$$V_s\left(I_1,I_2;oldsymbol{\phi},oldsymbol{\delta}
ight) symp \delta_1\cdots\delta_R\int_{-\Delta_R}^{\Delta_R}\cdots\int_{-\Delta_1}^{\Delta_1}\left|H_1(oldsymbol{lpha})^{2n}H_2(oldsymbol{lpha})^{2s-2n}
ight|\mathrm{d}oldsymbol{lpha}$$

The implicit constants in the above estimates are independent of I_1, I_2, S, δ and ϕ .

The proof makes use of the following pair of functions. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we define the functions

$$\operatorname{sinc}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{\sin(\pi x)}{\pi x}, & \text{ when } x \neq 0, \\ 1, & \text{ when } x = 0, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\Lambda(x) = \max\{0, 1 - |x|\}.$$

Moreover, we set $K(x) = \operatorname{sinc}^2(x)$. It is well known, see for example [29, Lemma 20.1] that these two functions are the Fourier transform of each other. Namely, for $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$K(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(-x\xi)\Lambda(x)dx \text{ and } \Lambda(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(x\xi)K(\xi)d\xi.$$
 (A.2)

Moreover, we make use of Jordan's inequality which states that for $0 < x \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$ one has

$$\frac{2}{\pi} \le \frac{\sin x}{x} < 1,\tag{A.3}$$

where the equality holds if and only if $x = \frac{\pi}{2}$. A proof of this inequality can be bound in [48, p. 33].

Proof of Lemma A.1. (*i*). By (A.3) one has for $|x| < \frac{1}{2}$ that

$$K(x) > \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^2.$$

For ease of notation we put

$$\xi_j = \frac{1}{2\delta_j} \sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x}) \qquad (1 \le j \le R).$$

Let **x** be a solution of the simultaneous inequalities (A.1) counted by $V_s(S, I_2; \phi, \delta)$. Then for each index $1 \le j \le R$ one has

$$\frac{\pi^2}{4}K\left(\xi_j\right) > 1.$$

Hence, by summing over tuples **x** with $(x_i, x_{s+i}) \in S$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_2$ $(n+1 \le i \le n)$

 $i \leq s)$ one has that

$$V_{s}\left(\mathcal{S}, I_{2}; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\delta}\right) \leq \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \prod_{j=1}^{R} \frac{\pi^{2}}{4} K\left(\xi_{j}\right)$$

$$= \left(\frac{\pi^{2}}{4}\right)^{R} \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \prod_{j=1}^{R} K\left(\xi_{j}\right).$$
(A.4)

Then, by invoking (A.2) we infer that for each $1 \leq j \leq R$ one has

$$K(\xi_j) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(-u\xi_j)\Lambda(u) \mathrm{d}u = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(u\xi_j)\Lambda(-u) \mathrm{d}u.$$

So, by making the change of variables $u_j = 2\delta_j \alpha_j \ (1 \le j \le R)$ we deduce that

$$\prod_{j=1}^{R} K(\xi_j) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(u_1\xi_1)\Lambda(-u_1)\cdots e(u_R\xi_R)\Lambda(-u_R)d\mathbf{u}$$
$$= 2^R \delta_1 \cdots \delta_R \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(\alpha_1 \sigma_{s,1}(\mathbf{x}) + \cdots + \alpha_R \sigma_{s,R}(\mathbf{x}))\Lambda(-2\delta_1 \alpha_1)\cdots \Lambda(-2\delta_R \alpha_R) d\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$

For each index $1 \le i \le 2s$ we write $\alpha \cdot \phi(x_i)$ to denote the standard dot product in the space \mathbb{R}^R , namely

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_i) = \alpha_1 \phi_1(x_i) + \dots + \alpha_K \phi_k(x_i).$$

With this notation one has

$$e\left(\alpha_{1}\sigma_{s,1}(\mathbf{x})+\cdots+\alpha_{R}\sigma_{s,R}(\mathbf{x})\right)=e\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{1})+\cdots-\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{2s})\right).$$

So we infer that $\prod_{j=1}^R K(\xi_j)$ is equal to

$$2^{R}\delta_{1}\cdots\delta_{R}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\cdots\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}e\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{1})+\cdots-\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{2s})\right)\Lambda\left(-2\delta_{1}\alpha_{1}\right)\cdots\Lambda\left(-2\delta_{R}\alpha_{R}\right)\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$

One can now sum over tuples $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_{2s})$ with $(x_1, \dots, x_n, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) \in S$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_2$ $(n+1 \le i \le s)$. Since the integrals are absolutely convergent one can interchange the order of integration with the finite sums. Note here that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{x}} e\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_1) + \dots - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{2s})\right) = H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) H_2(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n}$$

Furthermore, note that for $|\alpha_j| > \Delta_j = 2\delta_j^{-1}$ one has $\Lambda(-2\delta_j\alpha_j) = 0$ and for all α one has

$$|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})H_2(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n}| \geq 0.$$

Keep in mind that for any x one has $0 \leq \Lambda(x) \leq 1.$ Hence by (A.4) and the triangle inequality

we deduce that

$$\begin{split} V_{s}\left(\mathcal{S}, I_{2}; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\delta}\right) &= \left(\frac{\pi^{2}}{2}\right)^{R} \delta_{1} \cdots \delta_{R} \times \\ &\times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) H_{2}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n} \Lambda\left(-2\delta_{1}\alpha_{1}\right) \cdots \Lambda\left(-2\delta_{R}\alpha_{R}\right) d\boldsymbol{\alpha} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{\pi^{2}}{2}\right)^{R} \delta_{1} \cdots \delta_{R} \times \\ &\times \int_{-\Delta_{R}}^{\Delta_{R}} \cdots \int_{-\Delta_{1}}^{\Delta_{1}} \left|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) H_{2}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n}\right| \Lambda\left(-2\delta_{1}\alpha_{1}\right) \cdots \Lambda\left(-2\delta_{R}\alpha_{R}\right) d\boldsymbol{\alpha} \\ &\ll \delta_{1} \cdots \delta_{R} \int_{-\Delta_{R}}^{\Delta_{R}} \cdots \int_{-\Delta_{1}}^{\Delta_{1}} \left|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) H_{2}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n}\right| d\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \end{split}$$

which establishes the upper bound.

We now prove (ii). For the upper bound we argue in a similar fashion as in (i), whereas now we use the product $H_1(\alpha)^{2n}H_2(\alpha)^{2s-2n}$. So we focus on proving the lower bound. Let **x** be a tuple counted by $V_s(I_1, I_2; \phi, \delta)$. Then by the definition of the function $x \mapsto \Lambda(x)$, one has for each index $1 \le j \le R$ that

$$0 < \Lambda \left(2\xi_j \right) < 1.$$

One can now sum over tuples **x** with $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_1$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I_2$ $(n+1 \le i \le s)$ to obtain

$$V_s(I_1, I_2; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\delta}) \ge \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \prod_{j=1}^R \Lambda(2\xi_j).$$
(A.5)

Invoking (A.2) we infer for each index $1 \leq j \leq R$ that

$$\Lambda(2\xi_j) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e(2u\xi_j) K(u) \mathrm{d} u.$$

As before, one may now sum over the $x_i \in I_i$ and interchange the order of summation and integration to get by (A.5) that $V_s(I_1, I_2; \phi, \delta)$ equals to

$$\delta_1 \cdots \delta_R \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{x}} e\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_1) + \cdots - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{2s}) \right) K(\delta_1 \alpha_1) \cdots K(\delta_R \alpha_R) d\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$

Since we assume that x_i and x_{s+i} belong to the same interval I_1 for each $1 \le i \le n$, one has that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{x}} e\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_1) + \dots - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\phi}(x_{2s})\right) = \left| H_1(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2n} H_2(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n} \right|$$

By (A.3) one has for $|\alpha_j| < (2\delta_j)^{-1} = \Delta_j$ that $K(\delta_j \alpha_j) < 4/\pi^2$. Therefore, we deduce that

$$V_s(I_1, I_2; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\delta}) \gg \delta_1 \cdots \delta_R \int_{-\Delta_R}^{\Delta_R} \cdots \int_{-\Delta_1}^{\Delta_1} \left| H_1(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2n} H_2(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2n} \right|$$

The proof is now complete.

We give a variant of Lemma A.1. Let $\mathcal{I} = \{I_1, \dots, I_{2s}\}$ be a collection of bounded intervals $I_i \subset (0, \infty)$ for all i. We aim to count the number of integer solutions \mathbf{x} with $x_i \in I_i$ $(1 \leq i \leq 2s)$, of the simultaneous inequalities (A.1). We denote the number of such solutions by $V_s(\mathcal{I}; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\delta})$. For any $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}^K$ we define the exponential sums $H_i(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = H(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; I_i; \boldsymbol{\phi})$ via

$$H(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; I_i; \boldsymbol{\phi}) = \sum_{x \in I_i} e\left(\alpha_1 \phi_1(x) + \dots + \alpha_K \phi_K(x)\right) \quad (1 \le i \le 2s).$$

Moreover, we define the mean value

$$\mathfrak{J}_s\left(\mathcal{I}; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\Delta}
ight) = \int_{-\Delta_K}^{\Delta_K} \cdots \int_{-\Delta_1}^{\Delta_1} \left|H_1(\boldsymbol{lpha}) \cdots H_{2s}(\boldsymbol{lpha})\right| \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{lpha},$$

where the numbers Δ_j are defined via the relation $2\delta_j\Delta_j = 1$ $(1 \le j \le K)$. With this notation, we may now state the following lemma which is a variant of Lemma A.1 and one may prove arguing in a similar fashion.

Lemma A.2. One has

$$V_s(\mathcal{I};\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\delta}) \ll \delta_1 \cdots \delta_K \mathfrak{J}_s(\mathcal{I};\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\Delta}).$$

Moreover, if $I_i = I_{s+i}$ for $1 \le i \le s$, then one has

$$\delta_1 \cdots \delta_K \mathfrak{J}_s (\mathcal{I}; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\Delta}) \ll V_s (\mathcal{I}; \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\delta}).$$

The implicit constants in the above estimates are independent of \mathcal{I}, ϕ , and δ .

Appendix B

The mean value estimate for the complete exponential sum

This appendix contains the details required if one wishes to obtain a mean value estimate as in Theorem 2.1.4 for the exponential sum

$$f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) = \sum_{P < x \le 2P} e\left(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_n x^n + \alpha_\theta x^\theta\right),$$

where $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. For technical reasons we assume that the exponential sum f is defined over a dyadic interval (P, 2P]. If the exponential sum f is defined over an interval of the shape [1, P], then by making abuse of notation one may split this into $O(\log P)$ dyadic intervals of the shape (P, 2P]. The log P-loss is absorbed into the ϵ -loss P^{ϵ} . We demonstrate the following.

Theorem B.1. Suppose that $\theta > 2$ is real and non-integral and write $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. Let $\kappa \ge 1$ be a real number. Suppose further that $s \ge \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ is a natural number. Then for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ one has

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[0,1)^n} \left| f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}; P) \right|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll \kappa P^{2s - \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) - \theta + \epsilon}$$

The implicit constant in the above estimate may depend on ϵ, θ , and s, but not on κ and P. Furthermore, for $s > \frac{1}{2} (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1) (\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 2)$ one can take $\epsilon = 0$.

First we need a replacement of Lemma 2.3.2. From now on we set $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$. For each index j with $n + 1 \le j \le k$ we define the binomial coefficients

$$b_j = \begin{pmatrix} \theta \\ j \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\theta(\theta-1)\cdots(\theta-j+1)}{j!}.$$

For fixed θ one may treat the b_j as being of size O(1). For a tuple $\mathbf{h} = (h_{n+1}, \dots, h_k)$ we write $\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h}) = \mathcal{H}(h_{n+1}, \dots, h_k)$ to denote the expression

$$\mathcal{H}(h_{n+1},\dots,h_k) = b_{n+1}P^{\theta - (n+1)}h_{n+1} + \dots + b_k P^{\theta - k}h_k.$$
(B.1)

Lemma B.2. Let L be a given positive real number, and t be a given natural number. We write

T(P) to denote the number of integer solutions of the inequality

$$|\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h})| \le L$$

in the variables h_j satisfying $|h_j| \le tP^{j/2}$ $(n+1 \le j \le k)$. Then one has

$$T(P) \ll P^{\frac{k(k+1)}{4} - \frac{n(n+1)}{4} - \theta + \frac{1}{2}},$$

where the implicit constant depends on L, t and θ .

Proof. The proof is similar to [1, Lemma 1]. One may rewrite the inequality under investigation, in the shape

$$b_{n+1}P^{\theta-(n+1)}h_{n+1} + \dots + b_k P^{\theta-k}h_k = L\gamma,$$
 (B.2)

for some γ satisfying $|\gamma| \leq 1.$ From this equation we get that

$$h_{n+1} = -b_{n+1}^{-1} P^{n+1-\theta} \sum_{\ell=n+2}^{k} b_{\ell} P^{\theta-\ell} h_{\ell} + L\gamma b_{n+1}^{-1} P^{n+1-\theta}.$$
 (B.3)

By our hypothesis one has $|h_\ell| \ll P^{\frac{\ell}{2}}$ for all $n+1 \le \ell \le k$. Hence, the first term appearing on the right hand side of (B.3) is bounded above by

$$\ll P^{n+1-\theta} \sum_{\ell=n+2}^{k} |h_{\ell}| P^{\theta-\ell} \ll P^{n+1} \sum_{\ell=n+2}^{k} \frac{1}{P^{\frac{\ell}{2}}} \ll P^{n+1-\frac{n+2}{2}} \ll P^{\frac{n}{2}}.$$

Recall now that $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor \ge 2$. So one has $n + 1 - \theta < \frac{n}{2}$. Hence, the second term on the right hand side of (B.3) is $\ll P^{\frac{n}{2}}$. Thus, we deduce

$$|h_{n+1}| \ll P^{\frac{n}{2}}.$$

So, the unknown h_{n+1} assumes at most $O\left(P^{\frac{n}{2}}\right)$ possible values.

Fix now an index j_0 with $n+2 \leq j_0 \leq k.$ Then, the equation (B.2) can be equivalently written as

$$h_{j_0} + b_{j_0}^{-1} P^{j_0 - \theta} \sum_{\ell=n+1}^{j_0 - 1} b_\ell P^{\theta - \ell} h_\ell = -b_{j_0}^{-1} P^{j_0 - \theta} \sum_{\ell=j_0 + 1}^k b_\ell P^{\theta - \ell} h_\ell + L\gamma b_{j_0}^{-1} P^{j_0 - \theta}.$$
 (B.4)

We put

$$A_{j_0} = b_{j_0}^{-1} P^{j_0 - \theta} \sum_{\ell=n+1}^{j_0 - 1} b_{\ell} P^{\theta - \ell} h_{\ell},$$

and

$$B_{j_0} = -b_{j_0}^{-1} P^{j_0-\theta} \sum_{\ell=j_0+1}^k b_\ell P^{\theta-\ell} h_\ell + L\gamma b_{j_0}^{-1} P^{j_0-\theta}.$$

Then, by (B.4) we obtain that

$$|h_{j_0} + A_{j_0}| \le |B_{j_0}|. \tag{B.5}$$

By the definition of the expression B_{j_0} we have that

$$|B_{j_0}| \le |b_{j_0}^{-1}| \left(P^{j_0-\theta} \sum_{\ell=j_0+1}^k |b_\ell| P^{\theta-\ell} |h_\ell| + L|\gamma| P^{j_0-\theta} \right).$$

We now bound the expression lying in the parentheses on right hand side of the above inequality. Using again our assumption that $|h_\ell| \ll P^{\ell/2}$ one has

$$\begin{split} P^{j_0-\theta} \sum_{\ell=j_0+1}^m |b_\ell| \, P^{\theta-\ell} |h_\ell| + L |\gamma| P^{j_0-\theta} &= P^{j_0} \sum_{\ell=j_0+1}^k |b_\ell| P^{-\ell} |h_\ell| + L |\gamma| P^{j_0-\theta} \\ &\ll P^{j_0} \sum_{\ell=j_0+1}^k \frac{1}{P^{\ell/2}} + P^{j_0-\theta} \\ &\ll P^{\frac{j_0-1}{2}} + P^{j_0-\theta}. \end{split}$$

So one has

$$|B_{j_0}| \ll P^{\frac{j_0-1}{2}} + P^{j_0-\theta}.$$

Thus by (B.5) we infer that

$$|h_{j_0} + A_{j_0}| \ll P^{\frac{j_0 - 1}{2}} + P^{j_0 - \theta}$$

Hence, by the triangle inequality we deduce that for each fixed index j_0 with $n + 2 \le j_0 \le k$ one has

$$|h_{j_0}| \le |h_{j_0} + A_{j_0}| + |A_{j_0}| \ll P^{\frac{j_0 - 1}{2}} + P^{j_0 - \theta} + |A_{j_0}|.$$
(B.6)

Let us now fix a value for h_{n+1} . As we proved in the beginning, the variable h_{n+1} can assume at most $O\left(P^{\frac{n}{2}}\right)$ values. For the variables h_j $(n+2 \le j \le k-2)$ one can argue inductively as follows. Let j_0 be such an index and suppose that the variables h_j with $n+1 \le j < j_0$ have been fixed. In such a case, by the definition of A_{j_0} one has that

$$|A_{j_0}| \ll P^{j_0} \sum_{\ell=n+1}^{j_0-1} \frac{1}{P^{\ell}} \ll P^{j_0-(n+1)} \ll P^{\frac{j_0-1}{2}}.$$

Appealing to (B.6) we get that

$$|h_{j_0}| \ll P^{\frac{j_0-1}{2}} + P^{j_0-\theta} \ll P^{\frac{j_0-1}{2}},$$

where in the second inequality we used the fact that $j_0 \le k - 2 = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor$. Therefore, we deduce that the unknowns h_j $(n + 2 \le j \le k - 2)$ assume at most $O\left(P^{\frac{j-1}{2}}\right)$ values.

We are now left to deal with the last two variables, namely with h_{k-1} and h_k . Assuming that the variables h_j $(n+1 \le j \le k-2)$ have been fixed and recalling that $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$ one has by the definition of A_{j_0} with $j_0 = k - 1$ that

$$|A_{k-1}| \ll P^{k-1} \sum_{\ell=n+1}^{k-2} \frac{1}{P^{\ell}} \ll P^{(k-1)-(n+1)} \ll P^{(k-1)-\theta}.$$

Note here that

$$k-1-\theta = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor - \theta > \frac{\lfloor 2\theta \rfloor - 1}{2} = \frac{k-2}{2}.$$

Hence, appealing to (B.6) we now infer that

$$|h_{k-1}| \ll P^{\frac{(k-1)-1}{2}} + P^{(k-1)-\theta} + P^{(k-1)-\theta} \ll P^{(k-1)-\theta}.$$

Thus, the unknown h_{k-1} assumes at most $O\left(P^{(k-1)-\theta}\right)$ possible values. Finally, again by our initial assumption, we know that the variable h_k assumes at most $O\left(P^{\frac{k}{2}}\right)$ values.

Summarising the above we have showed the following.

- The unknown variable h_{n+1} can assume $O\left(P^{\frac{n}{2}}\right)$ values.
- The unknown variables $h_j \ (n+2 \le j \le k-2)$ can assume $O\left(P^{rac{j-1}{2}}
 ight)$ values.
- The unknown variable h_{k-1} can assume $O\left(P^{(k-1)- heta}
 ight)$ values.
- The unknown variable h_k can assume $O\left(P^{rac{k}{2}}
 ight)$ values.

Collecting together the above conclusions, we can now deduce that

$$T(P) \ll P^{\frac{n}{2}} \cdot P^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \cdots P^{\frac{k-3}{2}} \cdot P^{(k-1)-\theta} \cdot P^{\frac{k}{2}}$$
$$\ll P^{\frac{1}{4}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{4}n(n+1) - \theta + \frac{n+1}{2}}.$$

since one can easily verify that

$$\frac{n}{2} + \frac{n+1}{2} + \dots + \frac{k-3}{2} + (k-1) - \theta + \frac{k}{2} = \frac{1}{4}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{4}n(n-1) - \theta + \frac{1}{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{4}n(n+1) - \theta + \frac{n+1}{2}.$$

The proof of the lemma is now complete.

Next, we fix some notation for the rest of this section. From now on when applying Lemma A.1 we take

$$R = n + 1, \quad \phi = (x, \dots, x^n, x^\theta).$$

Furthermore, recall that $k = \lfloor 2\theta \rfloor + 1$ and $n = \lfloor \theta \rfloor$. For each $j \in \{1, \ldots, n, \theta\}$ we set

$$\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right)$$
(B.7)

Moreover, we write $f(\alpha; P) = f(\alpha)$. We now embark to the proof of Theorem B.1.

Proof of Theorem B.1. We split the proof into several steps for a better presentation. From now on we set I = (P, 2P].

Step 1: The underlying Diophantine system. Set $\delta_1=\left(rac{1}{2},\ldots,rac{1}{2\kappa}
ight)$. We apply Lemma

A.1 with $I_1=I_2=I$ and $oldsymbol{\delta}=oldsymbol{\delta}_1.$ So, one has

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[-1,1]^n} \left| f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \mathrm{d}\alpha_{\theta} \ll V_s\left(I; \boldsymbol{\delta}_1\right), \tag{B.8}$$

where $d\hat{\alpha} d\alpha_{\theta}$ stands for $d\alpha_1 \cdots d\alpha_n d\alpha_{\theta}$ and $V_s(I; \delta_1)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} |\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2} & (1 \le j \le n) \\ |\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2\kappa}, \end{cases}$$

with $P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2P$, where recall from (B.7) the definition of $\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x})$.

Set $\delta_2 = \left(rac{1}{2}, \dots, rac{1}{2}, rac{1}{2}
ight)$. Since $\kappa \geq 1$ we plainly have that

$$V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_1) \leq V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_2),$$

where $V_s(I; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} |\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2} & (1 \le j \le n) \\ \\ |\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2}, \end{cases}$$

with $P < \mathbf{x} \leq 2P$. By the estimate (B.8) we infer that

$$\int_{-\kappa}^{\kappa} \int_{[-1,1]^n} \left| f(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \mathrm{d}\alpha_{\theta} \ll \kappa V_s\left(I; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right). \tag{B.9}$$

In view of (B.9) we are now aiming to bound from above the counting function $V_s\left(\mathcal{I}; \pmb{\delta}_2
ight)$.

From now on, the mean values we encounter are independent of κ . For this reason, and for ease of the notation, we use the symbol \oint to denote integration over the (n+1)-cube $[-1,1]^{n+1}$. We define the interval

$$\widetilde{I} = \left(P, P + \left(\lfloor\sqrt{P}\rfloor + 1\right)\sqrt{P}\right],$$

and note that $I \subset \widetilde{I}$. Moreover, we define the exponential sum

$$\widetilde{f}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{x \in \widetilde{I}} e\left(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_n x^n + \alpha_\theta x^\theta\right).$$

Since $I\subset \widetilde{I}$ one has that

$$V_s\left(\mathcal{I}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right) \leq V_s\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right),$$

where $V_s\left(I^{(n+1)},\widetilde{I};oldsymbol{\delta}_2
ight)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \\ \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \end{cases} \quad (1 \le j \le n)$$

with $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I$ $(1 \le i \le n+1)$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in \widetilde{I}$ $(n+2 \le i \le t)$. Applying again Lemma A.1 with $\delta = \delta_2$ we obtain that

$$V_s\left(I^{(n+1)},\widetilde{I};oldsymbol{\delta}_2
ight)\ll \oint \left|f(oldsymbol{lpha})
ight|^{2(n+1)}|\widetilde{f}(oldsymbol{lpha})|^{2s-2(n+1)}{
m d}oldsymbol{lpha}.$$

Combining the above we infer that

$$V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_2) \ll \oint |f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2(n+1)} |\widetilde{f}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2s-2(n+1)} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}. \tag{B.10}$$

Step 2: Breaking the interval \widetilde{I} into short intervals. For a natural number $\ell \geq 1$ we write

$$P_{\ell} = P + (\ell - 1)\sqrt{P},$$
 (B.11)

and set $\tilde{I}_{\ell} = (P_{\ell}, P_{\ell+1}]$. Note that \tilde{I}_{ℓ} forms a cover of the interval \tilde{I} , consisting of subintervals of length \sqrt{P} . We record this in the following inclusion

$$I \subset \widetilde{I} \subset \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1} \widetilde{I}_{\ell}.$$
(B.12)

We write $\widetilde{f}_\ell({\boldsymbol \alpha})$ to denote the exponential sum given by

$$\widetilde{f}_{\ell}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{x \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell}} e(\alpha_1 x + \dots + \alpha_n x^n + \alpha_{\theta} x^{\theta}).$$
(B.13)

Incorporating the exponential sum $\widetilde{f}_{\ell}(\alpha)$ we deduce by the triangle inequality followed by an application of Hölder's inequality that

$$egin{aligned} &\oint \left|f(oldsymbollpha)
ight|^{2(n+1)}\left|\widetilde{f}(oldsymbollpha)
ight|^{2s-2(n+1)}\mathrm{d}oldsymbollpha \ &\leq \oint |f(oldsymbollpha)|^{2(n+1)}\left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{\lfloor\sqrt{P}
ight|+1}\left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell}(oldsymbollpha)
ight|
ight)^{2s-2(n+1)-1}\mathrm{d}oldsymbollpha \ &\leq \left(\lfloor\sqrt{P}
floor+1
ight)^{2s-2(n+1)-1}\sum_{\ell=1}^{\lfloor\sqrt{P}
floor+1}\oint |f(oldsymbollpha)|^{2(n+1)}\left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell}(oldsymbollpha)
ight|^{2s-2(n+1)}\mathrm{d}oldsymbollpha \end{aligned}$$

Thus, for some ℓ_0 with $1 \leq \ell_0 \leq \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1$ one has

$$\begin{split} \oint \left|f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\right|^{2(n+1)} \left|\widetilde{f}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\right|^{2s-2(n+1)} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \\ \ll \left(\left\lfloor\sqrt{P}\right\rfloor + 1\right)^{2s-2(n+1)} \oint \left|f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\right|^{2(n+1)} \left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell_0}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\right|^{2s-2(n+1)} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \end{split}$$

Combining now the above with (B.10) we deduce that

$$V_{s}\left(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_{2}\right) \ll \left(\left\lfloor\sqrt{P}\right\rfloor+1\right)^{2s-2(n+1)} \oint |f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2(n+1)} \left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{0}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\right|^{2s-2(n+1)} d\boldsymbol{\alpha}$$

$$\ll P^{s-(n+1)} \oint |f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2(n+1)} \left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{0}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\right|^{2s-2(n+1)} d\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$
(B.14)

Now we apply Lemma A.1 with $I_1=I, \ I_2=\widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}$ and $oldsymbol{\delta}=oldsymbol{\delta}_2.$ So one has

$$\oint |f(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|^{2(n+1)} \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_0}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s-2(n+1)} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \ll V_s\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2 \right), \tag{B.15}$$

where we write $V_s\left(I^{(n+1)},\widetilde{I}_{\ell_0};oldsymbol{\delta}_2
ight)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \\ \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \\ (B.16)$$

with $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I$ $(1 \le i \le n+1)$ and $x_i, x_{s+i} \in \tilde{I}_{\ell_0}$ $(n+2 \le i \le s)$. Putting together (B.14) and (B.15) we deduce that

$$V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_2) \ll P^{s-(n+1)} V_s\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right).$$
(B.17)

Step 3: A diminishing ranges type argument. Recall that $\tilde{I}_{\ell_0} = (P_{\ell_0}, 2P_{\ell_0}]$, where we write $P_{\ell_0} = P + (\ell_0 - 1)\sqrt{P}$. We now set

$$y_i = x_i - P_{\ell_0} \qquad (n+2 \le i \le s).$$

Clearly one has $0 < y_i \le \sqrt{P}$. Invoking the Binomial theorem, we see that a 2s tuple **x** satisfies system the (B.16), if and only if it satisfies the system

$$\begin{cases}
\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_{i}^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta}\right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(\left(y_{i} + P_{\ell_{0}}\right)^{\theta} - \left(y_{s+i} + P_{\ell_{0}}\right)^{\theta}\right)\right| < \frac{1}{2} \\
\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_{i}^{j} - x_{s+i}^{j}\right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(y_{i}^{j} - y_{s+i}^{j}\right)\right| < \frac{1}{2} \quad (1 \le j \le n).
\end{cases}$$
(B.18)

For the sake of clarity, we note here that in the above system one has

$$P < x_i, x_{s+i} \le 2P \quad (1 \le i \le n+1) \quad \text{and} \quad 0 < y_i, y_{s+i} \le \sqrt{P} \quad (n+2 \le i \le s).$$

We now focus on the inequality of degree θ of the system (B.18). Since $P \gg P_{\ell_0} \gg \sqrt{P}$, an application of the mean value theorem of differential calculus yields for each index $n+2 \le i \le s$ that

$$\left| (y_i + P_{\ell_0})^{\theta} - (y_{s+i} + P_{\ell_0})^{\theta} \right| \approx P_{\ell_0}^{\theta - 1} |y_i - y_{s+1}| \ll P^{\theta - 1/2}$$

Hence we obtain that

$$\sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left((y_i + P_{\ell_0})^{\theta} - (y_{s+i} + P_{\ell_0})^{\theta} \right) \bigg| \ll P^{\theta - 1/2}.$$

Returning now to the system (B.18) one has

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) \bigg| \ll P^{\theta - 1/2}, \tag{B.19}$$

where $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I$. For $x \in I = (P, 2P]$ and using the mean value theorem of the differential calculus one has

$$|x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta}| \asymp P^{\theta-1} |x_i - x_{s+i}| \qquad (1 \le i \le n+1).$$

Hence, by (B.19) we infer that

$$\left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (x_i - x_{s+i}) \right| \ll P^{1/2}.$$

In other words, there exists a positive real number C>0 depending at most on s and $\theta,$ such that

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (x_i - x_{s+i})\right| \le CP^{1/2}$$

Summarizing, we have showed that

$$V_s\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right) \ll V_s^{\bigstar}\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right), \tag{B.20}$$

where $V_s^{\bigstar}\left(I^{(n+1)},\widetilde{I}_{\ell_0};oldsymbol{\delta}_2
ight)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(x_i^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \\ \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) + \sum_{i=n+2}^{s} \left(x_i^j - x_{s+i}^j \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \quad (1 \le j \le n), \end{cases}$$
(B.21)

with

$$\begin{cases} x_i, x_{s+i} \in I & (1 \le i \le n+1), \\ \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (x_i - x_{s+i}) \right| \le CP^{1/2}, \\ x_i, x_{s+i} \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0} & (n+2 \le i \le s). \end{cases}$$
(B.22)

Invoking (B.12) one has that for the points $x_i, x_{s+i} \in I$ there are indices ℓ_i, ℓ_{s+i} for which

$$P_{\ell_i} < x_i \le P_{\ell_i+1}$$
 and $P_{\ell_{s+i}} < x_{s+i} \le P_{\ell_{s+i}+1}$ $(1 \le i \le n+1).$ (B.23)

Combining (B.22) together with the definition (B.11) of P_{ℓ} and using the fact that for each index ℓ we have $P_{\ell+1} - P_{\ell} = P^{1/2}$, one can deduce that

$$CP^{1/2} \ge \left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (x_i - x_{s+i})\right| \ge \left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (P_{\ell_i} - P_{\ell_{s+i}})\right| - (n+1)P^{1/2}$$
$$\ge \left(\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (\ell_i - \ell_{s+i})\right| - (n+1)\right)P^{1/2}.$$

From the above computation we deduce that

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(\ell_i - \ell_{s+i}\right)\right| \le C + (n+1) =: C'.$$
(B.24)

Return now to the problem of counting the number of solutions of the system (B.21) subject to the restrictions given in (B.22). To do so, we use appropriate generating functions. We write $S \subset I^{2(n+1)}$ to denote the set of lattice points which satisfy the first two restrictions given in (B.22). By Lemma A.1 with such S and $I_2 = \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}$, $\delta = \delta_2$ one has

$$V_{s}^{\bigstar}\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_{0}}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_{2}\right) \ll \oint \left|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{0}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})^{2s-2(n+1)}\right| \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \tag{B.25}$$

where the exponential sum $H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})$ is given by

$$H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{S}} e\left(\alpha_1(x_1 - x_{s+1}) + \dots + \alpha_n(x_n^n - x_{s+n}^n) + \alpha_\theta(x_{n+1}^\theta - x_{s+n+1}^\theta)\right),$$

where $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_{n+1}, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n+1})$. One can tile S by invoking the cover $(\widetilde{I}_\ell)_\ell$. Taking into account (B.24) we infer that

$$|H_{\mathcal{S}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})| \ll \sum_{\ell_{1}=1}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor+1} \cdots \sum_{\substack{\ell_{s+n+1}=1\\|\sum_{i=1}^{n+1}(\ell_{i}-\ell_{s+i})| \leq C'}}^{\lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor+1} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} |\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{s+i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|$$
$$\ll P^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} |\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\widetilde{f}_{\ell_{s+i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})|.$$

One can bound above the right hand side of (B.25) to obtain

$$V_{s}^{\bigstar}\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_{0}}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_{2}\right) \ll P^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \oint \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_{i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right| \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_{s+i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right| \right) \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_{0}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s-2(n+1)} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$
(B.26)

Recall the elementary inequality $|z_1 \cdots z_n| \ll |z_1|^n + \cdots + |z_n|^n$, which is valid for all complex numbers z_i . Using this inequality we obtain that

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_i}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right| \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_{s+i}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right| \right) \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_0}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s-2(n+1)} \ll \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_1}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s} + \dots + \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_{s+n+1}}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s} + \left| \widetilde{f}_{\ell_0}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s}.$$

Hence, by (B.26) we infer that

$$V_s^{\bigstar}\left(I^{(n+1)}, \widetilde{I}_{\ell_0}; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2
ight) \ll P^{rac{n+1}{2}} \oint \left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell}(\boldsymbol{lpha})
ight|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{lpha},$$

where ℓ is one of the indices $\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_{s+n+1}, \ell_0$. Combining the above estimate with (B.20) and invoking (B.17) we deduce that

$$V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_2) \ll P^{s-\frac{n+1}{2}} \oint \left| \tilde{f}_{\ell}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \right|^{2s} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$
(B.27)

Appealing once more to Lemma A.1 with $I_1=I_2=\widetilde{I}_\ell$ and $oldsymbol{\delta}=oldsymbol{\delta}_2$ we see that

$$\oint \left|\widetilde{f}_{\ell}(oldsymbollpha)
ight|^{2s}\mathrm{d}oldsymbollpha\ll V_s\left(\widetilde{I}_{\ell};oldsymbol\delta_2
ight),$$

where $V_s\left(\widetilde{I}_\ell;oldsymbol{\delta}_2
ight)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} |\sigma_{s,\theta}(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2} \\ |\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x})| < \frac{1}{2} \end{cases} \quad (1 \le j \le n), \end{cases}$$
(B.28)

with $x_i, x_{s+i} \in \widetilde{I}_\ell \ (1 \leq i \leq s).$ Therefore, the estimate (B.27) now delivers

$$V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_2) \ll P^{s-\frac{n+1}{2}} V_s\left(\widetilde{I}_{\ell};\boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right).$$
(B.29)

We emphasise here, that our choice of $1 \leq \ell \leq \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1$ is now fixed.

Step4: Taylor series expansion. It is apparent that system (B.28) is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(x_{i}^{\theta} - x_{s+i}^{\theta} \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(x_{i}^{j} - x_{s+i}^{j} \right) = 0 \qquad (1 \le j \le n). \end{cases}$$
(B.30)

We substitute $y_i = x_i - Q_\ell$ $(1 \le i \le 2s)$, where $Q_\ell = \lfloor P_\ell \rfloor$ and the y_i satisfies the relation $0 < y_i < \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor + 1$. By the Binomial theorem, we see that a tuple **x** satisfies (B.30) if and only if it satisfies the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left((y_i + Q_\ell)^{\theta} - (y_{s+i} + Q_\ell)^{\theta} \right) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(y_i^j - y_{s+i}^j \right) = 0 \qquad (1 \le j \le n). \end{cases}$$

One can now apply the argument presented in Theorem 2.3.4 to deal with the inequality. So, we deduce that

$$V_{s}\left(\widetilde{I}_{\ell};\boldsymbol{\delta}_{2}\right) \ll Z_{s,k,n}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right),\tag{B.31}$$

where $Z_{s,k,n}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right)$ denotes the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \left| b_1 Q_{\ell}^{\theta-1} h_1 + \dots + b_k Q_{\ell}^{\theta-k} h_k \right| < 1 \\ \sum_{i=1}^s \left(y_i^j - y_{s+i}^j \right) = h_j \quad (1 \le j \le k) \\ \sum_{i=1}^s \left(y_i^j - y_{s+i}^j \right) = 0 \quad (1 \le j \le n). \end{cases}$$

with $0 < y_i \leq Y$ $(1 \leq i \leq 2s)$ where $Y = 1 + \lfloor P^{\frac{1}{2}} \rfloor$. Note that the integers h_j satisfy the relation $|h_j| \leq sY^j$ $(1 \leq j \leq k)$.

Step5: Invoking VMVT. From now on we write

$$\mathbf{h} = (h_1, \dots, h_n, h_{n+1}, \dots, h_k) = (\mathbf{h}_1, \mathbf{h}_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}^{k-n}$$

We write $W_{s,k,n}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right)$ to denote the number of integer solutions of the system

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(y_{i}^{j} - y_{s+i}^{j} \right) = h_{j} & (1 \le j \le k) \\ \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left(y_{i}^{j} - y_{s+i}^{j} \right) = 0 & (1 \le j \le n), \end{cases}$$
(B.32)

with $0 < y_i \leq Y$. Moreover, and following the notation of Lemma B.2, we put

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h}_2) = b_{n+1} Q_{\ell}^{\theta - (n+1)} h_{n+1} + \dots + b_k Q_{\ell}^{\theta - k} h_k.$$

It is apparent that one has $h_j = 0$ for $1 \le j \le n$. So we obtain

$$Z_{s,k,n}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right) = \sum_{\substack{|\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{h}_{2})| < 1\\ |h_{j}| \leq sY^{j}\\ n+1 \leq j \leq k}} W_{s,k,n}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right).$$
(B.33)

Our aim now is to find an upper bound for the quantity $W_{s,k,n}(Y; \mathbf{h})$. We extend the notation $\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x})$ from (B.7) to all indices j with $1 \leq j \leq k$. As we already mentioned, by the shape of the system (B.32), one has that each h_j $(1 \leq j \leq n)$ assumes only one value, namely the zero value. Thus, one has

$$W_{s,k,n}(Y;\mathbf{h}) \ll \sum_{\substack{|h_{n+1}| \le sY^{n+1} \\ h_{n+1} = \sigma_{s,n+1}(\mathbf{x})}} \cdots \sum_{\substack{|h_k| \le sY^k \\ h_k = \sigma_{s,k}(\mathbf{x})}} 1$$

$$\ll Y^{-\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)} \sum_{\substack{|h_j| \le sY^j \\ h_j = \sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x}) \\ 1 \le j \le k}} 1.$$
(B.34)

The sum appearing in the right hand side of (B.34) counts the number of integer solutions of

the system

$$\sigma_{s,j}(\mathbf{x}) = h_j \qquad (1 \le j \le k),$$

with $0 < y_i \leq Y.$ We denote this number by $J_{s,k}\left(Y;\mathbf{h}\right)$. By orthogonality one has

$$J_{s,k}(Y;\mathbf{h}) = \int_{[0,1)^k} \left| \sum_{0 < y_i \leq Y} e\left(\alpha_1 y + \dots + \alpha_k y^k\right) \right|^{2s} e(-\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{h}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\alpha},$$

where $\alpha \cdot \mathbf{h}$ stands for the standard dot product in \mathbb{R}^k . So by the triangle inequality and in view of Theorem 2.3.1 one has for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ that

$$J_{s,k}(Y;\mathbf{h}) \le J_{s,k}(Y) \ll Y^{2s - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \epsilon}.$$

Using the above estimate to bound the right hand of (B.34) yields,

$$W_{s,k,n}(Y;\mathbf{h}) \ll Y^{2s - \frac{1}{2}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) + \epsilon}.$$
(B.35)

Putting together (B.33), (B.35), Lemma B.2 and recalling that $Y = 1 + \lfloor \sqrt{P} \rfloor \ll \sqrt{P}$, we deduce that

$$Z_{s,k,n}(Y;\mathbf{h}) \ll P^{\frac{1}{4}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{4}n(n+1) - \theta + \frac{n+1}{2}} \cdot P^{s - \frac{1}{4}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{4}n(n+1) + \epsilon}$$
$$\ll P^{s - \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) - \theta + \frac{n+1}{2} + \epsilon},$$

which when incorporated into (B.31) delivers

$$V_s\left(\widetilde{I}_\ell; \boldsymbol{\delta}_2\right) \ll P^{s - \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) - \theta + \frac{n+1}{2} + \epsilon}.$$
(B.36)

Finally, combining (B.36) with (B.29) yields

$$V_s(I;\boldsymbol{\delta}_2) \ll P^{2s-\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)-\theta+\epsilon},$$

which in view of (B.9) completes the proof.

Bibliography

- G. I. Arkhipov and A. N. Zhitkov. Waring's problem with nonintegral exponent. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat.* 48 (1984), no. 6, 1138–1150.
- [2] R. C. Baker. *Diophantine inequalities*. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1986.
- [3] R. C. Baker, J. Brüdern, and T. D. Wooley. Cubic Diophantine inequalities. *Mathematika* 42 (1995), no. 2, 264–277.
- [4] V. Bentkus and F. Götze. Lattice point problems and distribution of values of quadratic forms. Ann. of Math. (2) 150 (1999), no. 3, 977–1027.
- [5] K. D. Biggs. On the asymptotic formula in Waring's problem with shifts. J. Number Theory 89 (2018), 353–379.
- [6] B. J. Birch. Forms in many variables. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 265 (1961/1962), 245–263.
- [7] B. J. Birch and H. Davenport. Indefinite quadratic forms in many variables. *Mathematika* 5 (1958), 8–12.
- [8] J. Bourgain. Fourier transform restriction phenomena for certain lattice subsets and applications to nonlinear evolution equations. I. Schrödinger equations. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 3 (1993), no. 2, 107–156.
- [9] J. Bourgain. Fourier transform restriction phenomena for certain lattice subsets and applications to nonlinear evolution equations. II. The KdV-equation. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 3 (1993), no. 3, 209–262.
- [10] J. Bourgain and C. Demeter. The proof of the l^2 decoupling conjecture. Ann. of Math. (2) **182** (2015), no. 1, 351–389.
- [11] J. Bourgain, C. Demeter, and L. Guth. Proof of the main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem for degrees higher than three. *Ann. of Math.* (2) **184** (2016), no. 2, 633–682.
- [12] J. Brandes and S. T. Parsell. Simultaneous additive equations: repeated and differing degrees. *Canad. J. Math.* 69 (2017), no. 2, 258–283.
- [13] J. Brüdern. Additive Diophantine inequalities with mixed powers. I, II. Mathematika 34 (1987), no. 2, 124–130, 131–140.

- [14] J. Brüdern. Cubic Diophantine inequalities. *Mathematika* **35** (1988), no. 1, 51–58.
- [15] J. Brüdern. Additive Diophantine inequalities with mixed powers. III. J. Number Theory 37 (1991), no. 2, 199–210.
- [16] J. Brüdern. Cubic Diophantine inequalities. II. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 53 (1996), no. 1, 1–18.
- [17] J. Brüdern. Cubic Diophantine inequalities. III. Period. Math. Hungar. 42 (2001), no. 1–2.
- [18] J. Brüdern and R. J. Cook. On pairs of cubic Diophantine inequalities. Mathematika 38 (1991), no. 2, 250–263.
- [19] J. Brüdern and R. J. Cook. On simultaneous diagonal equations and inequalities. Acta Arith.
 62 (1992), no. 2, 125–149.
- [20] J. Brüdern and R. Dietmann. Random Diophantine inequalities of additive type. *Adv. Math.* 229 (2012), no. 6, 3079–3095.
- [21] J. Brüdern, K. Kawada, and T. Wooley. Annexe to the gallery: an addendum to "Additive representation in thin sequences, VIII: Diophantine inequalities in review. In Number theory—arithmetic in Shangri-La. Ser. Number Theory Appl. 8, 77–82. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2013.
- [22] J. Brüdern, K. Kawada, and T. D. Wooley. Additive representation in thin sequences, VIII Diophantine inequalities in review. In Number theory—arithmetic in Shangri-La. Ser. Number Theory Appl. 8, 17–76. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2013.
- [23] S. Chow. Sums of cubes with shifts. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 91 (2015), no. 2, 343–366.
- [24] S. Chow. Waring's problem with shifts. Mathematika 62 (2016), no. 1, 13-46.
- [25] S. Chow. Birch's theorem with shifts. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 17 (2017), no. 2, 449–483.
- [26] R. J. Cook. Simultaneous quadratic inequalities. Acta Arith. 25 (1974), 337–346.
- [27] H. Davenport. Indefinite quadratic forms in many variables. *Mathematika* 3 (1956), 81–101.
- [28] H. Davenport. Indefinite quadratic forms in many variables II. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3)
 8 (1958), 109–126.
- [29] H. Davenport. Analytic methods for Diophantine equations and Diophantine inequalities. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2005.
- [30] H. Davenport and H. Heilbronn. On indefinite quadratic forms in five variables. J. London Math. Soc. 21 (1946), 185–193.
- [31] H. Davenport and D. J. Lewis. Homogeneous additive equations. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 274 (1963), 443–460.
- [32] H. Davenport and D. J. Lewis. Simultaneous equations of additive type. *Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A* 264 (1969), 557–595.

- [33] H. Davenport and D. Ridout. Indefinite quadratic forms. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 9 (1959), 544–555.
- [34] H. Davenport and K. F. Roth. The solubility of certain Diophantine inequalities. Mathematika 2 (1955), 81–96.
- [35] C. Demeter. Fourier restriction, decoupling, and applications, volume 184 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2020.
- [36] D. E. Freeman. Asymptotic lower bounds for Diophantine inequalities. *Mathematika* 47 (2000), no. 1-2, 127–159.
- [37] D. E. Freeman. One cubic Diophantine inequality. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 61 (2000), no. 1, 25–35.
- [38] D. E. Freeman. Quadratic Diophantine inequalities. J. Number Theory 89 (2001), no. 2, 268–307.
- [39] D. E. Freeman. Asymptotic lower bounds and formulas for Diophantine inequalities. In Number theory for the millennium, II (Urbana, IL, 2000), 57–74. A K Peters, Natick, MA, 2002.
- [40] D. E. Freeman. Additive inhomogeneous Diophantine inequalities. Acta Arith. 107 (2003), no. 3, 209–244.
- [41] D. E. Freeman. Systems of diagonal Diophantine inequalities. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 355 (2003), no. 7, 2675–2713.
- [42] D. E. Freeman. Systems of cubic Diophantine inequalities. J. Reine Angew. Math. 570 (2004), 1–46.
- [43] S. W. Graham. and G. Kolesnik. van der Corput's method of exponential sums, volume 126 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [44] G. H. Hardy and E. M. Wright. *An introduction to the theory of numbers*. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, fifth edition, 1979.
- [45] L. K. Hua. On Waring's problem. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. 9 (1938), 199 202.
- [46] G. A. Margulis. Discrete subgroups and ergodic theory. In Number theory, trace formulas and discrete groups (Oslo, 1987), 377–398. Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1989.
- [47] A. Meyer. Mathematische mittheilungen. Vierteljahrschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich 29 (1884), 209 –222.
- [48] D. S. Mitrinović. *Analytic inequalities*. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1970. In cooperation with P. M. Vasić. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 165.
- [49] S. L. R. Myerson. Quadratic forms and systems of forms in many variables. *Invent. Math.* 213 (2018), no. 1, 205–235.
- [50] S. L. R. Myerson. Systems of cubic forms in many variables. J. Reine Angew. Math. 757 (2019), 309–328.

- [51] T. Nadesalingam and J. Pitman. Simultaneous diagonal inequalities of odd degree. J. Reine Angew. Math. 394 (1989), 118–158.
- [52] A. Oppenheim. The minima of indefinite quaternary quadratic forms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 15 (1929), no. 9, 724 – 727.
- [53] A. Oppenheim. Values of quadratic forms. I. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 4 (1953), 54–59.
- [54] A. Oppenheim. Values of quadratic forms. II. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 4 (1953), 60 – 66.
- [55] A. Oppenheim. Values of quadratic forms. III. Monatsh. Math. 57 (1953), 97 101.
- [56] S. T. Parsell. On simultaneous diagonal inequalities. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 60 (1999), no. 3, 659–676.
- [57] S. T. Parsell. On simultaneous diagonal inequalities II. Mathematika 48 (2001), no. 1–2, 191–202.
- [58] S. T. Parsell. Irrational linear forms in prime variables. J. Number Theory 97 (2002), no. 1, 144–156.
- [59] S. T. Parsell. On simultaneous diagonal inequalities III. Q. J. Math. 53 (2002), no. 3, 347– 363.
- [60] L. B. Pierce. The Vinogradov mean value theorem [after Wooley, and Bourgain, Demeter and Guth. 407, Exp. No. 1134, 479–564. 2019. Séminaire Bourbaki. Vol. 2016/2017. Exposés 1120–1135.
- [61] J. Pitman. Cubic inequalities. J. London Math. Soc. 43 (1968), 119–126.
- [62] J. Pitman. Pairs of diagonal inequalities. In *Recent progress in analytic number theory, Vol.* 2 (Durham, 1979), 183–215. Academic Press, London-New York, 1981.
- [63] J. Pitman and D. Ridout. Diagonal cubic equations and inequalities. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 297 (1967), 476–502.
- [64] C. Poulias. Diophantine inequalities of fractional degree. Submitted .
- [65] C. Poulias. Simultaneous equations and inequalities. Forthcoming .
- [66] D. Ridout. Indefinite quadratic forms. Mathematika 5 (1958), 122–124.
- [67] W. M. Schmidt. Diophantine inequalities for forms of odd degree. Adv. in Math. 38 (1980), no. 2, 128–151.
- [68] W. M. Schmidt. Simultaneous rational zeros of quadratic forms. In Seminar on Number Theory, Paris, 1980-81, Progress in Mathematics, 22, pp. 281–307. Birkhäuser, Boston, MA., 1982.
- [69] B. I. Segal. Sur la distribution des valeurs d'une certaine fonction. Travaux Inst. Physico-Math. Stekloff, Acad. Sci. USSR 4 (1933), 37–48.
- [70] B. I. Segal. Sur un théorème générate de la théorie additive des nombres. Travaux Inst. Physico-Math. Stekloff, Acad. Sci. USSR 4 (1933), 49–62.

- [71] B. I. Segal. Warings theorem for degrees with fractional and irrational exponents. *Travaux Inst. Physico-Math. Stekloff, Acad. Sci. USSR* 5 (1934), 73–86.
- [72] B. I. Segal. On some problems of the additive theory of numbers. Ann. of Math. (2) 36 (1935), no. 2, 507–520.
- [73] E. M. Stein. Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals. With the assistance of Timothy S. Murphy, Monographs in Harmonic Analysis, III, Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 43. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993.
- [74] E. C. Titchmarsh. The theory of the Riemann zeta-function. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, second edition, 1986.
- [75] J. G. van der Corput. Verschärfung der Abschätzung beim Teilerproblem. Math. Ann. 87 (1922), no. 1– 2, 39 – 65.
- [76] J. G. van der Corput. Zur Methode der stationären Phase. Erste Mitteilung, Einfache Integrale. Compositio Math. 1 (1935), 15–38.
- [77] R. C. Vaughan. On Waring's problem for smaller exponents. II. *Mathematika* **33** (1986), no. 1, 6 22.
- [78] R. C. Vaughan. The Hardy-Littlewood method. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1997.
- [79] I. M. Vinogradov. New estimates for Weyl sums. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 8 (1935), 195–198.
- [80] I. M. Vinogradov. The method of trigonometrical sums in the theory of numbers. *Trav. Inst. Math. Stekloff* 23 (1947), 109 pp.
- [81] N. Watt. Exponential sums and the Riemann zeta-function. II. J. London Math. Soc. 39 (1989), no. 3, 385–404.
- [82] H. Weyl. Über die Gleichverteilung von Zahlen mod. Eins. Math. Ann. 77 (1916), no. 3, 313–352.
- [83] T. D. Wooley. On simultaneous additive equations II. J. Reine Angew. Math. 419 (1991), 141 – 198.
- [84] T. D. Wooley. On exponential sums over smooth numbers. J. Reine Angew. Math. 488 (1997), 79 – 140.
- [85] T. D. Wooley. On simultaneous additive equations. IV. Mathematika 45 (1998), no. 2, 319– 335.
- [86] T. D. Wooley. On Diophantine inequalities: Freeman's asymptotic formulae. In Proceedings of the Session in Analytic Number Theory and Diophantine Equations, volume 360 Bonner Math. Schriften. 2003.
- [87] T. D. Wooley. The asymptotic formula in Waring's problem. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2012), no. 7, 1485–1504.
- [88] T. D. Wooley. Vinogradov's mean value theorem via efficient congruencing. *Ann. of Math.* (2) 175 (2012), no. 3, 1575–1627.

- [89] T. D. Wooley. Vinogradov's mean value theorem via efficient congruencing II. *Duke Math. J.* 162 (2013), no. 4, 673–730.
- [90] T. D. Wooley. Translation invariance, exponential sums, and Waring's problem. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians—Seoul 2014. Vol. II. Kyung Moon Sa, Seoul, 2014 505–529.
- [91] T. D. Wooley. Rational solutions of pairs of diagonal equations, one cubic and one quadratic. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 110 (2015), no. 2, 325–356.
- [92] T. D. Wooley. The cubic case of the main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem. Adv. Math. 294 (2016), 532–561.
- [93] T. D. Wooley. On Waring's problem for intermediate powers. Acta Arith. 176 (2016), no. 3, 241–247.
- [94] T. D. Wooley. Discrete Fourier restriction via efficient congruencing. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2017), no. 5, 1342–1389.
- [95] T. D. Wooley. Nested efficient congruencing and relatives of Vinogradov's mean value theorem. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3)* **118** (2019), no. 4, 942–1016.
- [96] A. Zygmund. On Fourier coefficients and transforms of functions of two variables. *Studia Math.* 50 (1974), 189–201.